The Role of Radiation Therapy in Generating Effective Anti-Tumor CD8+ T Cell Responses

by

Lauren Katherine Zebertavage

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Molecular Microbiology & Immunology and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

March 2020

Table of Contents

Li	List of Figuresv				
Li	List of Abbreviationsvi				
Ac	cknowledgements	x			
Ak	ostract	xii			
1	Introduction	1			
	1.1 Cancer and Adaptive Immunity	1			
	1.1.1 CD8+ T cells as Effectors of Anti-Tumor Immunity	5			
	1.1.2 Therapeutic Interventions to Enhance Anti-Tumor T Cell Responses	10			
	1.1.2.1 Cancer Vaccines	11			
	1.1.2.2 Checkpoint Inhibitors	13			
	1.1.2.3 Radiotherapy	15			
	1.2 Radiation as Cancer Therapy	18			
	1.2.1 Radiation and the DNA Damage Repair Response	19			
	1.2.2 Lethal Radiation and the Induction of Cell Death	24			
	1.2.3 The Rs of Radiotherapy	26			
	1.2.4 Sublethal Radiation and the Induction of Anti-Tumor Immunity	31			
	1.2.4.1 Activation of cGAS-STING	32			
	1.2.4.2 Vaccination in situ	34			
	1.2.4.3 Augmentation of Tumor Susceptibility to Control by T Cells	35			
	1.3 Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I (MHC-I)	37			
	1.3.1 Antigen Processing and Presentation on MHC-I	37			
	1.3.1.1 MHC-I Structure	38			
	1.3.1.2 Antigen Presentation Pathways	38			
	1.3.1.2.1 Generation, Presentation and Recognition of Antigens	39			
	1.3.1.2.2 Cross Presentation	42			
	1.3.2 Genetic Regulation of MHC-I	43			
	1.3.3 Tumor Suppression of MHC-I as a Mechanism of Immune Evasion	46			
	1.3.4 MHC-I Upregulation on Cancer Cells by Radiation	47			
2	Establishment of the significance of <i>in</i> situ vaccination by radiation	49			
	2.1 Abstract	50			
	2.2 Introduction	51			
	2.3 Materials and Methods	53			

	2.4 Results	59
	2.4.1 Radiation acts as an <i>in situ</i> cancer vaccine	59
	2.4.2 Tumors are poorly controlled by therapeutic vaccination	61
	2.4.3 Model antigen specific CD8+ T cells are necessary but not sufficient for therapeutic efficacy of combination radiation and checkpoint blockade	64
	2.4.4 Tumors are resistant to tumor-specific CD8+ T cells generated by vaccination	66
	2.4.5 Cancer cells are intrinsically resistant to killing but can be modified to increase susceptibility to control by CD8+ T cells	70
	2.5 Discussion	72
3 me	Induction of NLRC5 and upregulation of MHC-I by radiation as a key echanism driving CD8+ T cell responses	74
	3.1 Abstract	75
	3.2 Introduction	76
	3.3 Materials and Methods	78
	3.4 Results	83
	3.4.1 Radiation improves the susceptibility of cancer to control by antigen- specific CD8+ T cells	83
	3.4.2 Radiation increases cancer cell expression of MHC-I	85
	3.4.3 Upregulation of MHC-I on cancer cells by radiation is independent of STING and IFNAR signaling	87
	3.4.4 NLRC5 expression correlates with MHC-I expression in murine pancreat cancer cell lines	ic 91
	3.4.5 Cancer cell expression of NLRC5 is sufficient to enhance MHC-I expression and control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells	94
	3.5 Discussion	97
4	Concluding Remarks	100
	4.1 Summary and Conclusions	100
	4.2 Future Directions	104
Ар	pendix A: Radiation and Vaccine Combination Therapy	109
Ар	pendix B: Enhancement of T Cell Trafficking by Tumor Irradiation	115
Ар	pendix C: NLRC5 Correlates in Human Pancreatic Tumors	122
Re	ferences	127

List of Figures

1-1	The cell cycle and DNA double-strand break (DSB) repair pathways	23
1-2	Antigen processing and presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I)	41
2-1	Radiation increases tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells in circulation	59
2-2	Listeria vaccines can protect against tumor establishment but are poorly effective therapeutically	62
2-3	Model antigen specific CD8+ T cells are necessary but not sufficient for therapeutic efficacy of combination radiation and checkpoint blockade	64
2-4	<i>Listeria</i> -induced T cells are cytotoxic <i>in vivo</i> and traffic to tumors despite being unable to control tumor growth	67
2-5	Cancer cells can be modified by cytokines to increase susceptibility to killing by <i>Listeria</i> -induced CD8+ T cells	70
3-1	Radiation enhances the ability of CD8+ T cells to control Panc02SIY100	83
3-2	Radiation and IFN γ stimulation upregulate MHC-I on cancer cells	85
3-3	Pancreatic cancer cell lines unable to respond to exogenous STING ligand are able to upregulate MHC-I in response to radiation	88
3-4	Upregulation of MHC-I by radiation on pancreatic cancer cells does not require IFN-I signaling	89
3-5	NLRC5 expression correlates with MHC-I expression in murine pancreatic cancer cell lines	91
3-6	NLRC5 expression by pancreatic cancer cells is sufficient to enhance control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells	95
4-1	Radiation-mediated induction of NLRC5 in cancer cells as a mechanism to enhance control by CD8+ T cells	102
A-1	Radiation efficacy does not improve when combined with antigen- matched <i>Listeria</i> vaccination	110
B-1	Radiation does not improve antigen-specific CD8+ T cell trafficking into SIYRYYGL-expressing tumors	116
C-1	Correlation of NLRC5 gene expression with antigen presentation machinery in human pancreatic tumors	125
C-2	High expression of NLRC5 does not correlate with increased patient survival	126

List of Abbreviations

APCAntigen Presenting CellATMAtaxia-Telangiectasia Mutated proteinATPAdenosine-5'-TriphosphateATRATM- and Rad3- related kinaseATRATR-Interacting ProteinB2Mβ2M geneBati3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD41Cluster of Differentiation 40CD42Cluster of Differentiation 40, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD8Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD8Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD7CD8Cluster OI for MP SynthaseCGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITACustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRCarleticulinCTLA-4Cytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4<
ATMAtaxia-Telangiectasia Mutated proteinATPAdenosine-5'-TriphosphateATRATM- and Rad3- related kinaseATRATM- and Rad3- related kinaseATRIATR-Interacting ProteinB2Mβ2M geneBati3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 42, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40 (20154)CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 (20154)CD45Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7Complementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCTACluster degularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDA
ATPAdenosine-5-TriphosphateATRATM- and Rad3- related kinaseATRIPATR-Interacting ProteinB2Mg2M geneBatf3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD41Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD7CD8Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD8Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD8CD87Cyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class II Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCTL-44Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTL-44Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDA83,3'-Diaminobenzidine
ATRATM- and Rad3- related kinaseATRIPATR-Interacting ProteinB2Mβ2M geneBatf3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7Cordic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTL-44Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3.3-Diaminobenzidine
ATRIPATR-Interacting ProteinB2Mβ2M geneBatf3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD41Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD87CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CCRCD8Celler-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell ceckpoint kinaseCITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4<
B2Mβ2M geneBatf3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD46Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD7CD8CD8Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD8Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD8Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD7Complementarity-Determining RegioncGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPCH4MHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte
Batif3Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD25Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD41Cluster of Differentiation 86, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCarlerticulinCTLCytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXN
BCGBacillus Calmette-GuerinBcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD55Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD4Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD401Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD70Coluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD80Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD71CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD72Colic GMP-AMP synthaseCGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXLC-X-C chemokine Ligand
Bcl-2B-cell lymphoma 2 proteinBEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD4CD4+ T cellCD4Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD401Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD87CD7Called MP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMP synthaseCH4Cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRSPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
BEDBiologic Equivalent DoseBLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD8CD8+ T cellCD205Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD4Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD41Cluster of Differentiation 40, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD7Complementarity-Determining RegioncGA8cyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTL-4Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte
BLSBare Lymphocyte SyndromeBRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD25Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 40, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD86Cluster of Differentiation 40, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD7CD7CD7Complementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCR1CalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
BRCA1Breast Cancer type 1 susceptibility proteinBRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 40, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-2CD77CD78CD78Complementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPCH4Cell cycle checkpoint kinaseCITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-LymphocyteCXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
BRCA2Breast Cancer type 2 susceptibility proteinCCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD5Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD25Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD41Cluster of Differentiation 40CD425Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CCRC-C chemokine ReceptorCDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD8CD8+ T cellCD25Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 40, cD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CD77CD78CD78Complementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCITTAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CDCluster of DifferentiationCD4CD4+ T cellCD8CD8+ T cellCD25Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD401Cluster of Differentiation 40CD45Cluster of Differentiation 40, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class I TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD4CD4+ T cellCD8CD8+ T cellCD25Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD86Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD8CD8+ T cellCD25Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD25Cluster of Differentiation 25, interleukin-2 receptor alpha chainCD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD28Cluster of Differentiation 28, receptor for B7-1 and B7-2CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD40Cluster of Differentiation 40CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T -Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD40LCluster of Differentiation 40 Ligand, CD154CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD45Cluster of Differentiation 45, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type CCD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD80Cluster of Differentiation 80, B7-1CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CD86Cluster of Differentiation 86, B7-2CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CDRComplementarity-Determining RegioncGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
cGAScyclic GMP-AMP synthasecGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
cGAMPcyclic GMP-AMPChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
ChkCell cycle checkpoint kinaseCIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CIITAMHC Class II TransactivatorCITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CITAMHC Class I Transactivator, NLRC5CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CPCatalytic ParticleCRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CRISPRClustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic RepeatsCRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CRTCalreticulinCTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CTLCytotoxic T LymphocyteCTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CTLA-4Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated protein 4CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CXCLC-X-C chemokine LigandCXNCalnexinDAB3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
CXN Calnexin DAB 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DAB 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DAMP Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern
DC Dendritic Cell
DC1 DC type 1, conventional dendritic cells
DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DNA-PK DNA-dependent protein kinase
DNA-PKcs DNA-PK catalytic subunit
DNA pol DNA polymerase

dsDNA	double-stranded DNA
EF-1α	Eukaryotic translation Elongation Factor 1 alpha
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EGFRvIII	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor variant III
FR	Endoplasmic Reticulum
FRAAP	ER-Associated Aminopentidase
	ER Adapter Protein
	ED protoin 57
	Con 4
	Gap 1
G ₂	Gap 2
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GITR	Glucocorticoid-Induced Tumor necrosis factor Receptor
GMP	Guanosine Monophosphate
GTP	Guanosine-5'-Triphosphate
Gy	Gray: SI unit of radiation defined as absorption of one joule of radiation
5	energy per kilogram of matter
HC	Heavy Chain
HepB	Henatitis B virus
н д	Human Leukocyte Antigen, analogous to H-2 in mice
HMCB1	High Mobility Group Box protein 1
	Human Bapilloma Virus
	Homologous Decembination
ГГИР	Interreron-beta
ΙΕΝΥ	Interferon-gamma
IFN-I	lype I Interferon
IFNγR	Interferon-gamma Receptor
IFNAR	Interferon-alpha/beta Receptor
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IP-10	Interferon gamma-induced protein 10, CXCL10
IRF	Interferon Regulatory Factor
ISG	Interferon-Stimulated Gene
ISRE	Interferon-Stimulated Regulatory Element
JAK	Janus Kinase
Lag-3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3, CD223
Lck	Lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine Kinase
	Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus
	Laboratory of Cenetics and Physiology 2 protein RIG-L-like recentor 3
	Listoria monocutogonos
	Listena monocytogenes
LmOva	Lm vaccine expressing SINFERL peptide
LMSIY	Lm vaccine expressing SIYRYYGL peptide
LMP2	Low-molecular Mass Protein-2, B1
LMP7	Low-molecular Mass Protein-7, β5i
LRR	Leucine-Rich Repeat
M phase	Mitotic phase
MCA	Methylcholanthrene
MDA5	Melanoma Differentiation-Associated protein 5
Mdm2	Mouse double minute 2 homolog
MDSC	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell
MECL-1	Multicatalytic Endopeptidase Complex subunit 1, β2i

MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MHC-I	Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I
MHC-II	Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II
Mre11	Meiotic Recombination 11 homolog
MRN	Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex
mTOR	Mechanistic Target of Ranamycin
	Nucleotide Binding Domain
	Niphin Neg Hawala waya End Jainia a
NHEJ	Non-Homologous End Joining
NK	Natural Killer
NLRC5	NOD-Like Receptor family member CARD domain containing 5
NOD	Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain
NSCLC	Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma
NT	Not Treated
Nur77	Nuclear receptor subfamily 4 group A member 1
Ova	Ovalbumin
OX40	Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 4 TNFRSF4 CD134
PA28	Proteasome Activator protein 28
	nolv(ADP-riboso) polymoraso
	Dragrammed cell Death receptor 1, CD270
	Programmed cell Death receptor 1, CD279
PD-L1	Programmed cell Death receptor ligand 1, B7-H1, CD274
PD-L2	Programmed cell Death receptor ligand 2, B7-DC, CD273
Pdcd1	PD-1 gene
PIKK	Phosphoinositide-3-Kinase-related protein Kinase
PLC	Peptide Loading Complex
pMHC	peptide-MHC complex
RAG	Recombination Activating Gene
RFX	Regulatory Factor X
RIG-I	Retinoic Acid-Inducible Gene I
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RPA	Replication Protein A
DT	Padiation Therapy, radiotherapy
N I	Nation merapy, radionerapy
5 phase	DNA Synthesis phase
SBRI	Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy
SCCVII	murine cell line Squamous Cell Carcinoma VII
SHP-2	Src-homology 2 domain containing protein
SL8	SIINFEKL peptide, component of ovalbumin protein
SSB	Single-strand break
ssDNA	single-stranded DNA
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
STING	Stimulator of Interferon Genes
TAP	Transporter associated with Antigen Processing
TBK1	TANK-Binding Kinase 1
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TCP	T Coll Pocontor
	Tumor Draining Lymph Noda
	Tailling Lymph Node
	T cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and this domains
TIM-3	i -ceii immunogiobulin- and iviucin- domain containing 3
	I oll-Like Receptor
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TopBP1	DNA Topoisomerase-Binding Protein 1

TP53	p53 gene
Tpn	Tapasin
Treg	T regulatory cell
Ub	Ubiquitin
UV	Ultraviolent
V(D)J	Variable (Diversity) Joining
WT	Wild-Type
XCR1	X-C motif Chemokine Receptor 1
XLF	XRCC4-Like Factor
XRCC4	X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 4
αPD-L1	PD-L1 blocking antibody
αβ T cell	T cell expressing TCR α and TCR β subunits
β2m	beta-2 Microglobulin
γδ T cell	T cell expressing TCR γ and TCR δ subunits

Acknowledgements

The completion of this thesis leaves me with an overwhelming sense of gratitude for the experiences I have had as a graduate student. It has been the most difficult and rewarding experience of my life so far and I look forward with optimism to the next stage of my career and beyond, knowing that I have been challenged and found capable.

The first debt of thanks goes to my mentor, Michael Gough. Without you, this thesis would not exist. I am grateful every day for the opportunities you have given me, the time you have taken to teach me, and the environment you and Marka have built to nurture young scientists, their careers, and their work. Your enthusiasm for science is infectious and your dedication to work/life balances is confounding. Maybe after this, I'll learn how to take a vacation without feeling guilty.

Thank you to my thesis committee members: Ann Hill, David Jacoby, Evan Lind, and Amanda Lund. I cannot accurately express how grateful I am to you for the time you have spent shaping me into a competent scientist, for honest critiques, and for independent meetings. Thank you to William Redmond for agreeing to join the committee at its end stage and for kind words along the way. Thank you all for making this thesis, and me, better.

I have been extremely lucky to have a kind and supportive work-family who have taken the time to read and edit a seemingly endless stream of drafts, answer questions about scientific concepts and techniques, and commiserate with me when things inevitably got very hard. The list is extensive but includes Marka Crittenden, Alejandro Alice, Terry Medler, Shelley Bambina, Kristina Young, Andrew Gunderson, Miranda Gilchrist, Michael Afentoulis, Carmen Ballesteros-Merino, Traci Hilton, Christopher Paustian, and Michael Coleman. This process would have been considerably more

Х

difficult without the company of other graduate students and friends going through similar experiences, including Timothy Butler, Anthony Castanza, David Messenheimer, Tyler Hulett, Mohammad Farhad Amani, Tiffany Blair, and Dana Emerson. This work came to fruition in no small part thanks to all of you.

The experiences of the last few years have given me an ever-growing appreciation for the love and support of family. My parents, Randy and Isabela, have made it clear that I will always have a place to call home even if this whole "scientist" thing doesn't work out. My extended family, including Sally, Jack, and Nuala, have been kindly supportive throughout the journey. My sister, Emily, has kept me grounded with reminiscences of shared experiences. I have also been graciously included in families I joined not by blood but by genuine affection: the Ogiers, who have kindly treated me as their own for nearly 20 years, and the Zebertavages, who are among the most sincerely kind and generous people I have ever met. Thank you for your implicit support; you are the foundation upon which I have been able to build the best parts of my life.

Finally, infinite thanks go to my partner, Devin Zebertavage. Thank you for sharing your name, your family, and your life with me. Your presence gives me the stability and sense of safety I need to make everything else work. Thank you for working with me and supporting me throughout this unfamiliar and difficult journey. Thank you for your flexibility and kindness. Cheers to the next step.

xi

Abstract

Effective treatments for cancer have traditionally been divided into three separate arms: surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy. Recently, however, a fourth arm, known as cancer immunotherapy, has been incorporated into treatment regimens and clinical trials with remarkable efficacy. These immunotherapies, designed to generate anticancer immune responses, have emphasized the importance of the immune system in controlling cancer and have placed greater focus on the the immune consequences of more traditional therapies. In this thesis, we have attempted to elucidate the way that radiotherapy can stimulate the interactions between the immune system, specifically CD8+ T cells, and cancer cells to induce lasting clearance of tumors.

In the field of radioimmunology, it is commonly thought that radiotherapy may work in part by functioning as an *in situ* vaccine, boosting CD8+ T cell numbers in circulation and generating systemic anti-tumor immunity. This model is supported in part by observations of abscopal effects, where localized irradiation of cancer can stimulate immune-mediated regression of tumors outside of the treatment field. In order to test the hypothesis that radiation can induce regression of tumors by acting as a vaccine, we modeled radiation-induced vaccination with a live-attenuated *Listeria monocytogenes* vaccine capable of generating order-of-magnitude higher numbers of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. We demonstrated that vaccine-induced T cells have cytotoxic capacity and effectively traffic to tumors; however, we found that vaccination alone or in combination with PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade was insufficient to replicate the efficacy of radiation. Significantly, we observed that while cancer cells were resistant to killing by CD8+ T cells, antigen-specific T cell responses could be enhanced by pretreatment of cancer cells with cytokine stimulation or irradiation. These results

xii

suggest that vaccination by radiation is not sufficient to explain enhanced CD8+ T cellmediated control, but that radiation can augment the susceptibility of cancer cells to killing by T cells.

While the traditional aim of radiotherapy is to directly kill cancer cells, sublethal doses of radiation can trigger phenotypic alterations in these cells; among the most compelling of these potential alterations for the enhanced response of T cells in irradiated tumors is the augmentation of antigen presentation on MHC-I molecules, due to the integral role of antigen presentation in permitting recognition by CD8+ T cells. In order to determine whether enhanced antigen presentation by radiation was sufficient to generate effective anti-tumor T cell responses, we attempted to determine the mechanism by which radiation upregulates MHC-I on cancer cells. Contrary to previous reports, we found that MHC-I induction in our model was not dependent on signaling through STING or IFNAR, but instead found that radiation was able to induce expression of the MHC-I transactivator, NLRC5, independently of these pathways. Significantly, we found that increased expression of NLRC5 was sufficient to enhance MHC-I expression on cancer cells. Finally, we demonstrated that while NLRC5 upregulation by cancer cells did not improve CD8+ T cell recognition of cancer cells, T cells were better able to control NLRC5^{hi} cancer cells than NLRC5^{lo} controls. Together, these results support a model where radiation permits CD8+ T cell mediated control by upregulation of MHC-I via NLRC5.

xiii

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Cancer and Adaptive Immunity

Cancer is a disease that provides a set of unique challenges for its control and eradication. Tumors generally form from healthy tissues that have been transformed through the acquisition of somatic mutations, which arise through assaults to DNA by exposure to carcinogens, UV radiation, or through the normal stress of repeated cell divisions that occur as a body ages. The transformation of a single healthy cell to a progenitor of millions of malignant cells proliferating at the cost of the organism as a whole has been studied extensively (1). Very broadly, oncogenic transformation requires activating mutations in tumor promoting oncogenes (hastening the rate at which cells replicate) and deactivating/suppressive mutations in tumor suppressor genes (preventing recognition of, or response to, deregulated cell growth). Collectively, the mutations that confer selective advantages to the growth of cancer cells are called *driver mutations*.

Comprehension of cancer biology requires an extension of our understanding of normal tissue biology under intense Darwinian selection. Early in their development, cancer cells look very similar to healthy cells in their tissue of origin. The 2000 seminal article by Douglas Hanahan and Robert Weinberg, "The Hallmarks of Cancer," listed six key acquired characteristics of cancer, differentiating it from cells at the origin: limitless replicative potential, self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, sustained angiogenesis, tissue invasion and metastasis, and evasion of apoptosis (2). The most self-evident of these features is the enhancement of replicative potential since cancer is, above all, an abnormal accumulation of cells forming a tumor. Hanahan and

Weinberg expanded on the six original Hallmarks with the addition of two "emerging" Hallmarks in 2011: deregulation of cellular energetics (metabolism) and, significantly for this thesis, evasion of immune destruction (3).

The first line of defense against malignant transformation requires cell-intrinsic sensing of significant alterations to DNA sequences and/or structure or its consequence: changes in the shape or abundance of proteins produced; the mechanisms and outcomes these processes will be discussed further in this chapter. Cellular sensing of alterations to DNA trigger pauses in cell division at set checkpoints in the cell cycle and activation of DNA repair pathways; if the damage is too severe to be repaired the cell signals to itself to begin the process of *apoptosis*, or cell suicide. Key for the development of cancer are disruptions in the ability of cells to sense or respond to DNA damage; accordingly, the vast majority of human cancers lose function in one or more of these pathways, allowing for continued proliferation and accumulation of pro-tumorigenic mutations.

A second major line of defense in higher organisms is extrinsic to transformed cells: the immune system. It is now known that the immune system heavily shapes the progression of cancer, in ways that are both advantageous and disadvantageous to the body. In the early 1900s, Paul Ehrlich proposed that the precursors to cancer were likely generated at some frequency throughout the lifespan of an individual, but that most of these cells were eradicated early on in development by immune cells (4). Ehrlich's proposal was an extension of his work on organ transplantation where it was known that despite gross anatomical similarities, the immune system was able to recognize differences between the graft and host tissue: because transplantation is an artificial condition that does not exist in nature it is otherwise perplexing that such a violent inflammatory response should be inbuilt against seemingly subtle differences derived

from the host source of transplanted tissues. Many of the immunological barriers to organ transplantation appear to be symptoms of protective immunity against malignant transformation including recognition of altered major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expression, which will be discussed further in this work. More than fifty years later, the description of this process of was expanded on independently by Lewis Thomas and Frank Macfarlane Burnet and termed *cancer immunosurveillance* (5-7).

Cancer immunosurveillance is in large part conducted by T cells, a member of the adaptive immune system, but other members of that system, B cells and NK cells, and members of the innate immune system can also play roles in the body's response to carcinogenesis (8-11). Cells of the adaptive immune system differentiate themselves from innate immune cells in their ability to clonally respond to a specific antigen and to confer lifetime immunity to that specific signal. For example, each T cell generates by genetic recombination a unique T cell receptor sequence that is able to bind to recognize specific peptide structures in the context of MHC molecules. When a naïve T cell meets a cognate peptide-MHC complex (pMHC) in the appropriate context it becomes activated, proliferates, and eventually forms an expanded clonal population of memory cells that persist throughout the life of the organism and are capable of rapidly responding to the signal should it appear again. By contrast, cells of the innate immune system do not undergo genetic recombination, respond to a range of broad stimuli such as bacterial cell wall components and cytosolic DNA, and typically favor more rapid responses (12).

Early experiments attempting to link T cells and resistance to cancer overall failed to prove a definitive connection. Logically, if components of the immune system were able to control tumorigenesis, then hosts with impaired immunity would exhibit increased incidences of induced carcinogenesis by viral infection, exposure to

carcinogens, or in animals with genetic dispositions to developing spontaneous tumors. Studies in nude mice, conducted by Osías Stutman and others, which fail to develop functional thymuses key to the development of T cells, overwhelmingly demonstrated no significant differences in the development of carcinogen methylcholanthrene (MCA) induced tumors between nude and immunocompetent animals. In retrospect, these findings are more likely due to incomplete understanding of degree of immunocompetence of the model (nude mice have detectable numbers of functional αβ T cells, some intact subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and NK cells, which can facilitate anti-tumor immunity but do not require the thymus for development) and susceptibility to MCAinduced tumorigenesis (CBA/H nude mice express an enzyme that rapidly activates the drug's carcinogenic capacity, potentially overwhelming the ability of the immune system to control transformed cells) than to logical failure of the immunosurveillance hypothesis (13, 14). However, among the most significant findings from this period were that mice with induced immune deficiencies were highly susceptible to lymphomas and virallyinduced carcinomas, although these were generally explained by attenuated responses to viral pathogens and chronic activation and exhaustion of lymphocytes, resulting in cancer (13).

In the 1990s, studies by Robert Schreiber and others demonstrated clear links between the ability of host lymphocytes to exert functional control by T cells or NK cells secreting interferon-gamma (IFNγ) and perforin and the susceptibility of animal models to develop tumors (15-17). The key role of T cells in cancer immunosurveillance was revealed when the Rag2^{-/-} model was developed, wherein mice completely lack mature T and B cells due to their inability to perform V(D)J recombination; in this setting, mice are far more sensitive to the development of MCA-induced tumors with this effect being exacerbated when they are also unable to produce interferons (Rag2^{-/-}STAT1^{-/-}) (8).

Together with studies deciphering the roles of other adaptive lymphocytes such as NKT and $\gamma\delta$ T cells and innate subsets such as NK cells, Schreiber proposed a model incorporating immune surveillance of carcinogenesis: *The Three Es of Cancer Immunoediting* (13, 18). The Three Es describe a process in which immune cells *eliminate* potentially carcinogenic cells by the process of immune surveillance as proposed by Burnet and Macfarlane. In circumstances where cancerous cells evade early immune screening and form stable masses, the immune system later can form an *equilibrium* within the tumor maintaining the size or severity of disease, but effectively selects for cancer cells capable of further evasion: cells which are capable of this evasion can then *escape* the equilibrium stage and overwhelm the immune system, leading to disease progression and potentially death of the host.

The *Three Es of Cancer Immunoediting* describe a Darwinian interplay between the developing tumor and the host immune system wherein the host eliminates cells capable of easy immune control and thus selects for cells better able to evade detection. As evidence of this, it was observed that implanted MCA-induced tumors developed in both RAG2^{-/-} and immune competent control mice shared similar growth kinetics in RAG2^{-/-} mice; however, when implanted in immune competent hosts, a portion of the tumors derived in RAG2^{-/-} mice established but were then rejected, indicating that tumors arising in the absence of immune-mediated selective pressures are more immunogenic (8). This study highlighted the ability of tumors to adapt immune evasion strategies as they develop under the selective pressure of the immune system; some of these mechanisms will be elaborated upon throughout this chapter.

1.1.1 CD8+ T cells as Effectors of Anti-Tumor Immunity

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (also known as CTLs, CD8+ T cells, CD8s, or cytotoxic T cells) are among the most therapeutically relevant effector cells in the adaptive immune system in controlling transformed cells (19-21). T cells are defined by their expression of the protein complex known as the T cell receptor (TCR), which contains a randomly-generated binding sequence capable of recognizing a specific shape and affinity of antigen, generally bound to a specific major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecule; the requirement for T cell antigens to be bound to MHC molecules in order to be recognized is termed *MHC restriction*¹ (22-24). CD8+ T cells are defined by their expression of the CD8 co-receptor, which binds MHC class I (MHC-I), whereas another major population of T lymphocytes, CD4+ T cells (also known as CD4s or helper T cells), use the CD4 co-receptor to bind MHC class II (MHC-II) (22). The binding of these coreceptors facilitates localization of signaling molecules to the intracellular domain of the TCR and enhances signaling (22, 25). Cytotoxic CD8+ T cells are able to directly induce cell death in target cells presenting the cognate pMHC through the ligation of death receptors (Fas-FasL) (26), release of inflammatory cytokines (interferon-gamma, IFNy, and tumor necrosis factor alpha, $TNF\alpha$) (27), and transfer of cytotoxic granules (serine proteases known as granzymes) via perforin-lined pores generated in the target cell membrane (22). Together these abilities allow CD8+ T cells to selectively target tumor cells expressing mutated protein antigens (tumor-associated antigens or neoantigens) with relatively little damage to normal tissue.

Humans begin to develop T cells very early in life as lymphoid progenitor cells leave the bone marrow and traffic to the thymus where interactions with the stroma

¹ Broadly, T cells with TCRs containing α and β subunits ($\alpha\beta$ T cells) require their cognate antigen to be presented on an appropriate MHC molecule in order for it to be recognized. However, certain minority T cell subjects, for example those with TCRs containing γ and δ subunits ($\gamma\delta$ T cells) can recognize antigens resulting in activation outside of the context of MHC restriction (Janeway 2012).

trigger differentiation into T cell subsets, the majority of which will go on to become $\alpha\beta$ T cells, expressing TCR α and TCR β subunits. As these precursor cells develop in the thymus, they upregulate RAG1 and RAG2 genes to allow genetic rearrangement of the TCR β locus followed by rearrangement of the TCR α locus in a process termed V(D)J recombination; simultaneously, expression of both CD8 and CD4 are upregulated. The process of rearrangement generates a vast array of unique TCR binding sequences that enable recognition of a wide range of antigens. Once the rearrangement process has produced a stable mature TCR, cells undergo *positive selection* in which their ability to bind MHC-I (with CD8) or MHC-II (with CD4) is determined and expression of the extraneous co-receptor is downregulated. These single-positive cells then move into the thymic medulla where *negative selection* occurs, the process by which cells that bind high-affinity self-peptides expressed by medullary thymic epithelial cells are triggered to activate apoptotic signaling (28). This process of eliminating self-reactive T cell clones results in *central tolerance*, reducing the risk of developing autoimmune diseases. Notably, an exception to the process of negative selection allows the generation of a population of CD4+ T cells which differentiate into T regulatory cells (Tregs) that are able to produce immune suppressive signals in the peripheral tissue, contributing to peripheral tolerance and further reducing the risk of developing autoimmune disease (29). By the end of thymic development only about 2% of the initial input of progenitor cells have passed selection and are exported from the thymus to form the peripheral T cell repertoire (22).

Outside of the thymus, CD8+ T cells exist in various stages of activation throughout the body and can differentiate into many subtypes depending on timing and location. The initial output of CD8+ T cells from the thymus are termed *naïve CD8+ T cells* as they have not yet met their cognate antigen and patrol the body by circulating

throughout the blood, lymphatics, and lymphoid organs. In order to enact their immune functions, CD8+ T cells must undergo the multistep process of activation. Once activated, CD8+ T cells proliferate over the course of several days in a process of clonal expansion, expanding the number of cells capable of responding to that antigen by many thousands, and differentiating into a population of *effector CD8+ T cells* which only require pMHC ligation in order to exercise cytotoxic functions on presenting target cells (22). These effector cells are relatively short-lived, with cell numbers peaking 5-7 days after acute stimulation and sharply declining in the absence of sustained or repeated antigen exposure. Appropriately activated CD8+ T cells can also differentiate into *memory T cell* populations which are maintained throughout the lifespan of the individual and are able to respond more quickly and strongly to repeated antigen exposure due to 100-1000-fold increased frequency above naïve T cell levels, increased sensitivity for pMHC:TCR signaling, increased capacity for expansion, and increased capacity for production of effector molecules (22, 30-33).

The activation of CD8+ T cells is a tightly regulated process requiring multiple positive signals (referred to here as Signal 1, Signal 2, and Signal 3) although the strength of each of these signals necessary for activation and differentiation of T cells depends on the type of T cell and the presence of negative signals. Briefly, Signal 1 refers to the ligation of the TCR with its cognate pMHC complex. All nucleated cells in the body express MHC-I molecules, presenting peptides derived from cytosolic proteins: this continuous process allows circulating CD8+ T cells to patrol for mutated (potentially cancer-derived), viral, bacterial or parasitic proteins; however, the amount of MHC-I expressed can vary, depending in part on inflammatory context and viral or oncogenic transformation. As mentioned previously, T cells are broadly restricted by MHC, meaning that they respond not only to the structure of the antigen but the structure of the MHC

molecule presenting the antigen; variability in T cell responses between individuals due to MHC haplotypes can thus be wider in humans, which are often heterozygous for these alleles, compared to laboratory mice which are commonly homozygous. Antigen presentation on MHC-I will be discussed further later in this chapter.

In order for CD8+ T cells to become appropriately activated by antigen recognition they must also receive *costimulation* by mature dendritic cells (DCs) (Signal 2). Although nearly all cells present self-derived peptides on MHC-I molecules, only DCs are capable of presenting exogenously-derived antigen on the cell surface to stimulate CD8+ T cell immunity, known as cross-presentation (34, 35). Among professional phagocytes, which also include macrophages and neutrophils, dendritic cells are specialized in their ability to preserve antigen structure by reduced proteolytic degradation (36, 37): this, combined with their ability to shuttle protein from the extracellular space into phagolysosomes and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to allow presentation on MHC-I, allows DCs to efficiently cross present MHC-I antigens that are not self-derived along with the exogenous MHC-II antigens which are common to professional antigen presenting cells (APCs) (38). Following activation in peripheral tissue by microbial contact or inflammatory cytokine, DCs halt antigen uptake, undergo maturation and migrate to the draining lymph node in a CCR7-dependent manner (39, 40). Once in the lymph node, mature DCs presenting antigens on MHC-II molecules will undergo licensing through CD40-CD40L interactions (L denotes the canonical ligand for the receptor) with helper CD4+ T cells (41-43) and upregulate costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 for CD8+ T cell activation: the interaction between CD28 on CD8+ T cells and CD80/CD86 on DCs represents the dominant costimulatory Signal 2 for naïve T cells (44).

While mature DCs may activate CD8+ T cells in the absence of CD4+ T cell help, the threshold for activation is high and requires strong adjuvant signals (45) and evidence suggests that CD4+ T cell help is required for the generation of effective longterm memory responses (22, 46-49). Notably, an absence of any costimulation by mature DCs appears to result in CD8+ T cell tolerance where T cells, despite receiving Signal 1, are not able to enact cytotoxic functions (50), demonstrating the essential role for Signal 2 in activating effective T cell responses.

Following activation by Signal 1 and Signal 2, T cells upregulate the α chain of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor (CD25) to allow high-affinity binding of the Signal 3 molecule IL-2 to drive proliferation and differentiation (51); simultaneously, activated T cells produce and secrete IL-2 and thus form a feedback loop (52). In addition to IL-2, other proinflammatory cytokines (including type I interferons and interleukin-12) may act as Signal 3 molecules, enhancing the proliferation and memory formation of activated CD8+ T cells (53-55). Having received all three activation signals, T cells can divide 2-3 times a day for several days peaking in number around seven days following acute stimulation (12). The duration of T cell expansion is affected by the duration of antigen exposure as well as the persistence of adjuvant signals providing inflammatory context.

1.1.2 Therapeutic Interventions to Enhance Anti-Tumor T Cell Responses

Despite the ability of CD8+ T cells to mount potent and effective responses against cancer, there are significant barriers to T cell-mediated tumor killing. Studies have demonstrated that the presence of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells is associated with improved prognosis (56, 57); however, these patients still have cancer despite the presence of these cells and require treatment in order to survive. These circumstances

raise important questions: how can we ensure that patients have sufficient CD8+ T cells capable of responding to tumor antigens and, in patients with sufficient T cells, how can we ensure that the T cells are able to kill the cancer? Some of the barriers to T cellmediated treatment and ongoing efforts to subvert them are described below, but due to the recent explosion in research many strategies currently under exploration will not be addressed. As a whole, therapies such as these, aimed at stimulating immune responses against cancer, fall within the field of *cancer immunotherapy*.

1.1.2.1 Cancer Vaccines

The most successful vaccine used in the treatment of cancer is Bacillus *Calmette-Guerin* (BCG), which was developed more than 100 years ago to protect against tuberculosis infection and is still used for that effect. A connection between cancer survivors and cleared or active tuberculosis infections was observed in the 1920s but interest in using BCG to combat cancer waned when safety concerns arose regarding preparations of the vaccine (58). It wasn't until a 1959 study by Lloyd Old and others, demonstrating intravenous injection of BCG enhanced resistance of mice to the establishment of model tumors, that interest was renewed (59). Further studies demonstrated that BCG protects against tumors by activating macrophages and promoting local delayed hypersensitivity to induce clearance of cancer cells, thus requiring close contact between cancer cells and in location of inoculation (58). BCG vaccination is therefore in the same treatment category as Coley's vaccine, a preparation of killed Strepococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens, which was successfully used in the localized treatment of cancer in the late 19th century due to its adjuvant quality (60). These "vaccines" are powerfully inflammatory but function primarily to activate innate immunity rather than target adaptive immunity to specific targets and thus broadly fail to generate lasting immunological memory (61). As a result, over the

last 40 years BCG has been primarily successful in bladder cancer where cystoscopic injection of the vaccine engages inflammatory responses in the thin tissue of the organ and promotes local tumor eradication (58).

A second category of cancer vaccines, which prophylactically target oncogenic viruses, have also been successful. Prophylactic vaccination targeting Hepatitis B (HepB) was added to the routine vaccine schedule for infants in the mid-1990s and is about 70% effective in preventing the development of hepatocellular carcinomas (62). More recently, vaccination against human papilloma virus (HPV) has been recommended to be given to children ages 11 and 12 and is largely effective in preventing HPV-linked head and neck, cervical, penile, vulvar, and anal cancers (63). These vaccines confer lifelong protective immunity by activating adaptive immune subsets against virus-specific peptides: in the case of HPV vaccination the exterior of viral particles (L1 major capsid protein) is targeted to allow early clearance of an infection. Notably, successful vaccination strategies have only been developed to protect against establishing infection; clearing viral infections once they have been established has proved to be a far more difficult task (64).

Therapeutic vaccination strategies against established cancer, similarly, have largely proved ineffective in patients. It is clear that many tumor types express antigens that may, in theory, be sufficient to stimulate potent anti-cancer adaptive immune responses; regardless, targeting proteins overexpressed by cancer cells or mutated versions of proteins exclusively expressed by cancer cells (*neoantigens*) have failed to elicit tumor regression once the disease has established in the majority of patients treated (65). Many of these vaccines generate large populations of cells with cytotoxic capacity; however, by necessity tumors develop effective immune evasion strategies early in their development including: downregulation of tumor antigen presentation by

decreasing TAP1, β2M and MHC-I expression (8, 66), establishment of hypoxia and acidity affecting T cell metabolism (67), and upregulation of inhibitory immune checkpoints on tumor cells and infiltrating innate immune cells (68); as a result, theoretically tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells are often rapidly or chronically *tolerized* to tumor proteins. Many of these evasion strategies mean that vaccination to generate large populations of tumor-reactive cells will be ineffective because the T cells will not be able to "see" the cancer cell targets or be able to react appropriately due to immunological context.

1.1.2.2 Checkpoint Inhibitors

Perhaps the most significant breakthrough in cancer immunotherapy came in the form of checkpoint inhibitor therapy, developed based on increased understanding of how the immune system dampens self-destructive autoimmune responses and the ways in which tumors can hijack these processes. As described above, T cell responses can be potently effective at eliminating transformed or virus-infected cells, but particularly in cases of incomplete tolerance where self-reactive T cells survive thymic selection, T cells can be detrimental in the destruction of normal tissue. In order to protect against these unfavorable responses, along with the complement of proteins T cells express to enhance cytotoxic abilities, T cells express a number of self-inhibitory receptors which, when ligated, increase the downstream signaling threshold required to exert cytotoxic function. Additionally, tissue infiltrating immune cells such as regulatory T cells (Tregs) express protein receptors on their surfaces which can inhibit the ability of surrounding T cells to function providing an additional mechanism of peripheral T cell tolerance.

The first major therapeutic breakthrough in checkpoint inhibitors came with the blockade of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) (69, 70). Throughout the 1990s, James Allison and colleagues published work characterizing the function of

this newly-discovered protein expressed on the surface of CD4+ T cells, originally described as a murine homolog to human CD28 (71-74); however, further exploration demonstrated that CTLA-4 and CD28 have opposing effects in the response to T cells to antigen stimulation (75). Mice lacking CTLA-4 develop a severe lymphoproliferative and autoimmune condition which leads to death 2-3 weeks after birth (76, 77). Part of the immune suppressive capability of CTLA-4 is a result of its rapid and relatively higher avidity binding to the costimulatory molecules CD80/CD86 with comparably higher avidity than CD28 (78, 79); this results in effective sequestering of costimulatory signal and dampened T cell effector responses. Allison's group observed that blockade of CTLA-4 was able to enhance anti-tumor immunity in mouse models, later finding that this effect was due to relatively high expression of CTLA-4 on Tregs allowing for selective depletion of Tregs *in vivo* (80, 81). In humans, however, there is little evidence to suggest that the depletion of Tregs observed in mice is the primary mechanism of efficacy for therapeutic CTLA-4 blockade (82); instead, signaling through the Fc domain of CTLA-4 blocking antibodies appears to be relevant (83).

A second major breakthrough in checkpoint inhibition came with the development of programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1) blockade. Tasuku Honjo and colleagues discovered PD-1 while exploring mechanisms of T cell death (84); however, the function of the protein as a T cell inhibitory receptor was not elucidated until the generation of PD-1 deficient mice (Pdcd1^{-/-}) which develop lupus-like autoimmune disorders, indicating a functional role in the development of peripheral tolerance (85, 86). PD-1 expression is low on naïve T cells but is upregulated in response to antigen stimulation; as a result, T cells that have been chronically exposed to their cognate antigen without eliminating the source of exposure, as in the case of chronic viral infection or within tumors, have characteristically high expression of PD-1 (87, 88). Ligation of PD-1 with its canonical

ligands PD-L1 or PD-L2, expressed on tumor infiltrating immune cells or on tumor cells (68, 89-92), results in suppression of intracellular signaling downstream of costimulatory CD28 (93, 94) and increases the threshold of activation for T cells to exert cytotoxic capacity. In human patients, tumor expression of PD-L1 can correlate with decreased functioning of T cells and negative prognosis (85, 95, 96); antibody-mediated blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis has led to remarkable improvements in the treatment of many types of cancer including: melanoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), renal cell carcinoma, urothelial cancer, and head and neck cancers (97, 98).

While checkpoint blockade with CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors have had unprecedented clinical successes, there are lingering questions regarding why some cancers still evade control by immunotherapy and what interventions can turn nonresponders into responders. Additional checkpoint inhibiting agents including those targeting Lag-3, Tim-3 and TIGIT (99) are being explored, while another class of therapeutic antibodies targeting activating costimulatory receptors such as OX40, GITR, and 4-1BB (100) aim to increase positive signaling rather than alleviate negative signaling to overcome immune suppression; some of these newer checkpoint inhibitors have indeed been shown to combine with CTLA-4 or PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in preclinical models (101-103). Importantly, traditional cancer therapies such as radiotherapy also appear to be able to alleviate checkpoint blockade resistance in mouse models and in patients (102, 104-113); the immune modulatory effects of radiation therapy and how they may synergize with checkpoint inhibition are discussed below.

1.1.2.3 Radiotherapy

In cancer therapy, radiotherapy (RT) is primarily used to initiate localized death of cancer cells by targeted administration of beams of radiation (typically x-rays or y-rays)

to tumors with the goal of reducing tumor burden at that location. Approximately 50% of cancer patients undergo RT at some point during their course of treatment in part because RT can be administered with either palliative or curative intent. RT is uniquely attractive in patients with inoperable tumors or incompletely resected tumors, although treatment doses are limited by the sensitivity of normal tissue to radiation and associated toxicities (114, 115).

In order to limit toxicity in healthy tissue and enhance efficacy in tumor tissue, radiation doses are often fractioned into many smaller doses, as will be discussed later on in this chapter in the context of the Four Rs of Radiobiology (116). Today, a standard conventional course of radiation therapy consists of daily fractions of 1.8-2 Gy over the course of 6-7 weeks, resulting in a cumulative dose of 50-70 Gy administered to the tumor (114, 117). This contrasts with experimental *accelerated* or *hyper- fractionated* courses, which may consist of yet smaller doses of radiation, administered more than five times weekly or 2-3 times daily (discussed further in a following section). More recently, however, *hypofractionated* regimes, with fewer doses administered on the order of 8-30 Gy per dose, have become accepted and in some cases the standard of care for cancers, particularly NSCLC (118-121).

One compelling argument for the utilization of hypo-, rather than hyper- or conventionally, fractionated radiation is that lymphocytes are particularly sensitive to cell death induced by radiation and thus any immune responses initiated to the tumor by radiation may be ablated before becoming effective (21, 116). Indeed, in mice it has been observed that following a high-dose of radiation with a series of smaller doses is actually less effective at inducing tumor clearance than the single high-dose alone, correlating with a decrease in radiosensitive CD8+ T cells and increase in more radioresistant myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (20).

It has long been established that lymphocytes accumulate around regressing tumors following irradiation (122), and radiotherapy is often poorly effective in nonimmune competent mouse models (123). There is a growing body of evidence supporting the conclusion that many radiation responses are dependent on antigenspecific adaptive immunity (21, 124-128). In the following section we discuss the role of radiation in unleashing anti-tumor immunity as well as some of the established mechanisms of immune-related protection of tumors enhanced by radiation.

1.2 Radiation as Cancer Therapy

Radiotherapy (RT) has been used to control the growth of tumors for well over 100 years following observations by Pierre Curie, Antoine Becquerel and others that prolonged exposure to radioactive materials produced lesions that required weeks to heal (129). It was not until much later, however, that the mechanism of radiation-induced tumor regression was discovered. *Radiation* refers to the emission of energy in the form of waves or particles, and the type of radiation used to treat tumors in patients is termed *ionizing radiation*, denoting its ability to excite electrons in atoms to higher energy states. When atoms in cells are exposed to ionizing radiation, some high-valence electrons are ejected from the outer shell and react non-discriminately to induce damage to protein and DNA, followed by damage repair responses and potentially cell death.

Approximately half of the damage caused to cells by ionizing radiation is generated by water radicals (reactive oxygen species (ROS): OH·, H· and e_{aq}) that rapidly react to disrupt protein structures and damage DNA (indirect effects), while the other half of damage is induced by direct ionization of non-water molecules such as protein and DNA (direct effects)² (129-131). Disruption of proteins following irradiation can initiate damage response pathways (132, 133) and may be responsible for a portion of post-RT cell death; however, protein degradation occurs naturally and frequently during the lifespan of a cell and damaged proteins may be turned over without lasting effects, while alterations to DNA have the potential to be passed on through cell divisions and cause lasting damage to the organism. Thus, there is strong evidence that damage to DNA is the primary mediator of RT-induced therapeutic responses (129, 134)

² Although water comprises about 80% of cells, the role of water radicals in initiating damage after irradiation is dampened by the presence of natural ROS scavengers (Sevilla 2016)

and mammalian cells have multiple, overlapping pathways designed to maintain the integrity of DNA sequences.

1.2.1 Radiation and the DNA Damage Repair Response

For mammalian cells, a relatively small dose of ionizing radiation (1-2 Gy) can trigger the formation of thousands of DNA lesions, primarily in the form of base damage or single-strand breaks (SSBs) which can be rapidly repaired using the corresponding DNA strand as a template (129). Double-strand breaks (DSBs) occur less frequently but form when SSBs occur within 10-20 base pairs of each other on opposite strands and can lead to chromatin cleaving into two fragments (135), and this type of lesion is considered to be the most significant DNA lesion in inducing cancer cell death following radiotherapy. Both normal and cancer cells undergo sensing and repair pathways for DSBs which can result in downstream signaling responsible for delaying or stopping cell division and inducing senescence, mitotic catastrophe and/or cell death.

In mammalian cells, DSBs are sensed shortly after irradiation and most lesions are repaired by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) within two hours. DSBs cause relaxation in the chromatin fiber and post-translational modification of histones (e.g. acetylation) (134) and allow the initial direct sensors of double-stranded breaks, Ku70/80 heterodimers, to bind the blunt end of the DNA phosphate backbone (136). Bound Ku complexes recruit the DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) catalytic subunit (DNA-PKcs), which auto-phosphorylates and recruits DNA polymerase (DNA pol μ and pol λ), nuclease (Artemis), and ligase (DNA ligase IV, XRCC4, and XLF) subunits to fill in overhang regions, clip away residual or damaged single-stranded DNA bases and ligate the previously broken ends together (137, 138). Notably, although NHEJ is the preferred

method of mammalian cells to repair damage throughout the cell cycle (139, 140), the process is more prone to inserting or deleting bases in the repaired strand than homologous recombination, discussed below, and may result in significantly altered transcript structure or function. This potential disadvantage is counterbalanced, however, by the relative speed with which DNA-PK-dependent NHEJ resolves DSBs meaning that this method of repair does not have a clear role in slowing cancer cell cycle progression (141, 142).

While NHEJ occurs most commonly when DSBs occur during the majority of the cell cycle, its high-fidelity counterpart homologous recombination (HR) occurs mainly during late S/G_2 phase, after the chromatids have been replicated and joined by a centromere (139). HR is less error-prone than NHEJ due to the presence of the duplicate sister chromatid as a template for repair (143). The precise mechanism for the recruitment and activity of HR machinery is still under investigation, but it appears that after Ku proteins bind to DSBs, if NHEJ fails, the cell attempts to repair the damage through HR (144-146). Components of the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) complex bind to homoduplex DNA, scan past nucleosomes to locate free DNA ends, remove Ku heterodimers, and allow loading of the DNA exonuclease Exo1 to initiate single-stranded DNA resection (147, 148). Activation of the MRN complex requires the recruitment of Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated kinase (ATM) dimers to the c-terminus of Nbs1, where the kinase is converted to the activated monomer form through an unknown mechanism (148, 149). ATM/MRN complex signaling triggers a complex cascade of recruitment and activation of proteins facilitating homologous recombination, including Rad51 and BRCA2, which are responsible for DNA end resection, invasion of the template strand by free DNA ends, synthesis of new DNA using the template, and reconstitution of DNA on the previously damaged chromosome (145, 148, 150). ATM is abundant in cells but is

rapidly inhibited by DNA-PKcs when NHEJ, not HR, is underway (151). In patients with ataxia-telangiectasia, the namesake condition describing mutational inactivation of the ATM kinase, cells are extremely sensitive to radiation-induced damage, to the point where radiotherapy can be lethal (152).

An alternate pathway of DSB repair by homologous recombination following irradiation occurs solely during S phase (interphase) while chromosomes are duplicated into sister chromatids. As the template helix is unwound at the replication fork, DNA lesions can cause stalling of DNA-synthesizing polymerases triggering extension of long stretches of single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) or collapse of the replication fork resulting in single-ended double-stranded breaks on one side of the fork (153). In these cases, ssDNA is rapidly coated by replication protein A (RPA) complexes and the ATM- and Rad3- related kinase (ATR) localizes to the lesion via its necessary binding partner ATR-interacting protein (ATRIP) (154). Once bound to the lesion, ATR is activated primarily by DNA topoisomerase II binding protein 1 (TopBP1) and initiates Rad17-dependent homologous recombination, similar to that mediated by ATM (143, 155).

The apical kinases of these DNA DSB repair pathways, DNA-PKcs, ATM and ATR, are members of the phosphoinositide-3-kinase-related protein kinase (PIKK) family and share sequence homology and activity (143), although the pathways of activation are distinct as described above. These kinases have numerous roles in a vast array of activities coordinating DNA repair, cell cycle progression, senescence, apoptotic signaling and more, and significant interplay exists between the kinases (143, 156). Inhibition of cell cycle progression is a significant consequence of activation of DSB repair pathways, particularly ATM- and ATR- dependent mechanisms which are implicated in the phosphorylation of over 900 sites on over 700 proteins (157). Both ATR, via phosphorylation of Chk1, and ATM, via phosphorylation of Chk2, halt cell cycle

progression during S/G_2 phase to allow for repair prior to mitotic progression (158, 159). Activation of cell cycle checkpoints allows time for the cell to repair DNA damage but in cases where the damage is too significant to be repaired cell death may occur.



Fig. 1-1 The cell cycle and DNA double-strand break (DSB) repair pathways. Cell division occurs over the course of four phases: G₁ (gap 1), S (synthesis), G₂ (gap 2), and M (mitosis), while cells not actively undergoing cell division reside in G₀ phase. The replicative cell cycle begins in G₁, where cells increase in size and prepare for DNA synthesis in S phase, where DNA condenses and is replicated to form pairs of sister chromatids. In G₂, cells continue to grow and produce machinery required for the completion of mitosis. During M phase (divided further into prophase, metaphase, anaphase, and telophase), sister chromatids bind to spindles, line up at the metaphase plate, and are pulled to opposite poles before the cell divides into two daughters in a processes depending on the cell cycle phase. During the majority of the cycle, DSB repair is completed rapidly by DNA-PK-dependent non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). While DNA is being replicated in early S phase, ATR-dependent homologous recombination can occur.

1.2.2 Lethal Radiation and the Induction of Cell Death

A major target of ATM/ATR activation is the phosphorylation of the protein p53 at serine-20 and serine-15, respectively, allowing for the stabilization and conversion into the tetrameric transcription factor form. Ionizing radiation is a well-established initiator of p53 activity, both through activation of the protein directly and the inhibition of its inhibitors, including Mdm2 (160). P53 has been extensively studied due to its role as a key tumor suppressor; indeed its gene, *TP53*, is one of the most commonly mutated genes in human cancers, demonstrating the selective advantage cancer cells have in the absence of regulation by p53 (161). The protein has many overlapping roles in basic cellular pathways including in DNA damage repair, cell cycle progression, apoptosis, senescence, angiogenesis and metastasis (162, 163). How p53 switches between functions is not yet clear but appears to involve epigenetic modification to the protein following stabilization to trigger arrest and repair or initiate activation of cell death pathways (164, 165).

Studies in wild-type and p53-deficient murine thymocytes demonstrated that p53dependent mechanisms are key in the induction of apoptosis following cell irradiation (166, 167). Following cellular irradiation, apoptosis can occur within several hours as the transcription factor p53 activates pro-apoptotic genes, including those of the Bcl-2 family, which play a role in permeablizing the outer membrane of mitochondria allowing for formation of the apoptosome. This complex, activated by cytosolic cytochrome c, mediates activation of caspase-9, allowing for cleavage and activation of the effector caspases 3, 6 and 7 (168). Caspase-dependent apoptosis results in degradation of chromosomal DNA, degradation of nuclear and cytoskeletal proteins, nuclear fragmentation, formation of apoptotic bodies and ultimately cell death (169). p53 also initiates cell-extrinsic pathways through the upregulation and export of death receptors,
which are also mediated by caspases 3, 6 and 7 (168) and will be discussed briefly in the section below on sublethal radiation and induction of anti-tumor immunity.

Lymphoid and myeloid lineage cells are among the most radiosensitive populations, where apoptosis appears to be the main form of cell death initiated by radiation. It seems, however, that apoptosis is less significant in cells of epithelial origin, from which many solid tumors are derived (168). Additionally, many cancer cells harbor inactivating mutations in p53-dependent pathways and are dysfunctional in normal apoptotic signaling. In these cases, cell death by p53-independent mitotic catastrophe is more likely to occur (170).

Mitotic catastrophe is considered to be the major pathway of cell death following radiation in tumor cells of non-hematopoietic origin. Cells which are undergoing mitotic catastrophe are morphologically distinct from those undergoing apoptosis most notably by their greatly increased size: this process results from aberrant mitosis where cells do not appropriately segregate chromosomes and is characterized by the formation of multiple nuclei, abnormally structured nuclei, and/or micronuclei: small extra-nuclear structures containing fragments of DNA (some of the immunological consequences of micronucleus formation are discussed in a future section). Mis-segregation of chromosomes leading to micronuclei formation frequently occurs as a result of misrepair or incomplete repair of chromosomes following DSB induction by radiation resulting in lagging chromosomes or chromosome fragments during anaphase separation (171), but may also be triggered by overduplication of centrosomes generating division of chromosomes over more than two poles (172).

Mitotic catastrophe appears to be initiated in part by uneven condensation of chromatin around nucleosomes, characteristic of premature entry into mitosis prior to completion of S/G₂ as a result of faulty cell cycle checkpoint signaling (172). Following

irradiation, this may occur as a result of incomplete cell signaling where, for example, a deficiency in p53 results in premature entry into M phase past a dysregulated G_2/M checkpoint (168). Mitosis will then progress but halt at the spindle assembly checkpoint, also known as the mitotic checkpoint, prior to anaphase; in part because many normal cell processes are paused during mitosis, this delay can lead to apoptotic signaling in competent cells and be fatal (173, 174). However, transformed cells are often able to adapt to and progress past the mitotic checkpoint to complete M phase, but fail to undergo cytokinesis and enter subsequent the G_1 phase with tetraploid or greater chromosomes (168). Therefore, aberrant cells which will undergo death by mitotic catastrophe may complete one or more division cycles prior to cell death, which may occur as a delayed response 2-6 days following the initiation of radiotherapy.

1.2.3 The Rs of Radiotherapy

As mentioned previously, radiotherapy has been used for the treatment of cancer for more than a century with great debate about the most effective way to administer radiation treatments. Initial treatments of patients mostly utilized what is now called *hypofractionated* radiation with single or very few treatment doses administered but with very little control or quantification regarding the dose. By 1910, radium-contact therapy, where a radioactive source was placed near the tumor for 24 hours at a time repeated at an interval of six weeks, was popular and was still in use by 1951 when it was famously used in the treatment of cervical cancer in Henrietta Lacks, from whom the cell line HeLa was derived (175).

Very gradually, sentiments shifted away from single-, high-dose radiotherapy. At the turn of the 20th century, Claudius Regaud began experiments in rodent testes where it was first observed that undifferentiated cells and those undergoing mitosis were more

sensitive to cell death by irradiation (175). He expanded on these results in the 1920s with the observation that while a single dose exposure of ram's testes was sufficient to induce severe skin injury, it did not cause sterilization; however, breaking that dose into fractions did sterilize the animal (176). By the late 1920s and early 1930s, studies primarily in head and neck cancer patients using fractionated regimes presented by Henri Coutard generated interest in dose fractionation over periods longer than forty days with significantly improved results in patients (175, 177, 178). Dose fractionation has become the standard of care for the majority of malignancies in the time since Coutard's seminars following these observations and studies describing the sparing effect of dose fractionation on normal tissue.

In 1975 H. Rodney Withers published the foundational article "The Four R's of Radiotherapy" upon which many students of radiobiology base their mechanistic understanding of how fractionated radiation influences treatment outcomes (116). The four Rs are, briefly described, as follows:

1. Repair: Damage to cells following irradiation is distributed randomly and thus the probability of inducing cell death is equal for all cells in the treatment field receiving the same dose. In the examples provided, and in accordance with the findings of others (179), cells irradiated *ex vivo* have similar sensitivity to radiation-induced death based on the tissue of origin rather than malignant status; that is, cancer cells are not more sensitive to radiation than normal cells. All cells, if unable to sufficiently repair the initial injury, are more sensitive to the induction of cell death following subsequent doses of radiation due to the accumulation of "sublethal (multihit) events." Repair of sublethal injury to DNA, which has been discussed above, is dysregulated in cancer cells as a necessary component of the Hallmarks of Cancer in the evasion of cell death (2, 3) and thus multiple hits to key genes may be required

before the damage is catastrophic enough to induce cell death. Cells in normal tissues are unable to complete mitosis without repairing damage and thus are less susceptible to the accumulation of sublethal hits.

2. Reoxygenation: It has been observed since the 1950s that hypoxia enhances the ability of cancer cells to evade cell death following irradiation (180). This effect is predominantly due to the chemical reactions resulting in DSBs: radicalized DNA (DNA-) generated by ionization or reaction with free radical molecules derived from water (131) generates lesions at the deoxyribose sugar moieties that are only fixed in the presence of oxygen (O₂); however, under reducing conditions DNA radicals are repaired by siphoning hydrogen from sulfhydryl (SH) groups present in nearby proteins (181, 182). It is estimated that in order to affect the same degree of DNA damage in a hypoxic environment as an aerobic environment, 2-3 times the dose of radiation is required (116, 181). In dose fractionation schemes, however, incremental reoxygenation of the tumor occurs as cells die (reducing O₂ consumption) and the mass is revascularized (116). This mechanism appears to be key to the efficacy of fractionated radiotherapy, gradually reducing the dose required for therapeutic efficacy.

3. Redistribution: One of the founding principles of radiobiology, the "Law of Bergonié and Tribondeau," was proposed in 1906, stating: "X-rays act on cells inasmuch efficiently as cells have a greater reproductive activity, their karyokinetic fate is longer, their morphology and function are at least definitively fixed. Hence from this law it is easy to understand that roentgenisation [radiation] destroys tumors without destroying healthy tissues..." (179). This broad statement that rapidly proliferating cells, with longer mitotic phases and less well-differentiated statuses, may be in part mechanistically explained by the third R: *redistribution*. As Withers describes, some stages of the mitotic cycle confer greater radiosensitivity to dividing cells than others:

cells in G₁, G₂ and M phases are more radiosensitive than those in late S phase. When a non-synchronized pool of cells is irradiated (as in a tumor), those cells in more sensitive phases are more readily eliminated causing redistribution (synchronization) of the remaining cells into radioresistant portions of the cell cycle. When subsequent doses of radiation are administered, cells that were previously resistant will have progressed into more-sensitive phases as the population regenerates. Accordingly, cells which are rapidly dividing, as cancer cells, are more radiosensitive than slowly dividing cells or those that are terminally differentiated (non-dividing) (175) due to the enhanced frequency with which they reach mitosis, triggering the potential for mitotic catastrophe and checkpoint-mediated apoptosis in the induction of cell death by irradiation.

4. Regeneration/Repopulation: Within the field of radiation, both normal cells and cancer cells receive equivalent doses of radiation damage in a somewhat random distribution. As stated previously, cells that are rapidly dividing are more prone to dying in response to that damage and because of that, ideally, cancer cells die in greater proportions than normal cells following irradiation. Unfortunately, rapidly proliferating cells can also *repopulate* much faster than normal cells, outpacing the intervals at which fractionated radiation is administered. In some cases, tumor masses continue to grow despite radiation treatment and radiation may be given more frequently (termed accelerated fractionation or hyperfractionation³) in order to

³ In a 1983 follow-up paper, H Rodney Withers and others (Thames 1983) defined *accelerated fractionation* as "overall time shorter than conventional, achieved by giving 2 or 3 doses daily; total dose and fraction size similar to conventional" and *hyperfractionation* as "fractional doses smaller than conventional, given 2 or 3 times daily to achieve an increase in the total dose given in the same overall time as conventional." Both accelerated and hyper-fractionated radiation are administered more than five times weekly but the doses given in hyperfractionated regimes are also smaller than conventional regimes; thus, accelerated regimes take the least amount of time to achieve a fixed dose while hyperfractionated and conventional regimes can take similar amounts of time.

attempt to control cancer cell repopulation (183). Ultimately, the principle of *repopulation* guides the design of radiation therapy toward timing doses to reduce as much as possible the number of surviving clonogenic cancer cells which may ultimately lead to recurrence of disease, with the understanding that early-responding normal tissue may be increasingly damaged as treatment is accelerated⁴. As a result, fractions are typically administered no fewer than six hours apart in order to allow for the repair of sublethal hits in normal tissue which are estimated to resolve within that time period (184).

The "Rs of radiotherapy" have now been expanded to include *radiosensitivity*, describing the intrinsic difference in cell-type specific responses to radiation defined by the steepness of a curve mapping the radiation dose versus the surviving fraction of cells (185). Calculating the dose response of irradiated tissue is notoriously complex, making comparison of treatments across tumor types particularly difficult. It is well established in radiobiology, for example, that dose fractionation effects are not linear; that is, fifteen doses of 2 Gy is not equivalent to one dose of 30 Gy. An approximation of dose equivalence is represented by the *biologic equivalent dose* (BED), which is based on a combination of linear and quadratic modeling:

 $BED = (total dose) \times (relative effectiveness)$

$$BED = (nd) \times (1 + \frac{d}{\alpha/\beta})$$

⁴ The terms *early responding tissue* and *late responding tissue* refer to the time it takes for normal tissue to demonstrate radiation-induced toxicities (e.g. loss of function, death). Early responding tissues (skin, mucosa, intestinal lining) express peak injury 2-3 weeks after completion of standard radiotherapy regimes; late responding tissues (spinal cord, kidney, lung) may take months or years to express peak injury. (Hall 2012)

where n is the number of fractions, d is the dose per fraction, α describes the linear component of the curve (reflecting death induced by a single lethal hit) and β describes the quadratic component (reflecting death resulting from multiple sublethal hits) (129, 186). The α/β component is used to define the intrinsic radiosensitivity of affected tissue types, where early-responding tissues such as skin and mucosa have α/β ratio estimated around 10 Gy and slow-proliferating late-responding tissues such as the spinal cord are estimated to have a ratio around 2-3 Gy; this value corresponds to the dose at which single- and multiple- hit killing is approximately equal. Notably, this modeling is more accurate at conventionally low doses of radiation where normal cells are able to repair damage in between dose administrations; at higher doses (as used in hypofractionated regimes such as SBRT), the killing of non-cancer components of the tumor such as endothelium can enhance the destruction of tumor architecture (187).

Together, these five principles help to mechanistically describe how fractionated radiotherapy takes advantage of differential responses of normal and cancerous tissues to maximize radiation-induced cell death. However, as described briefly above, immunity plays a significant role in the control of cancers following radiotherapy *in vivo* and immunological factors help to explain why in some cases administering more radiation does not necessarily mean more effective tumor killing.

1.2.4 Sublethal Radiation and the Induction of Anti-Tumor Immunity

Models of radiotherapy traditionally focus on maximizing lethal radiation: that is, how radiation can be administered in order to directly kill as many cancer cells as possible while keeping normal tissue toxicity at a manageable level. However, as the field of radiobiology builds a greater understanding of how the immune system interacts

with tumor cells a greater appreciation for the role of sublethal radiation is developing. While the direct induction of cancer cell death and reduction of tumor burden undoubtedly plays a very significant role in eradication of disease following administration of radiation therapy, it cannot be ignored that almost inevitably some cancer cells will remain viable after treatment.

It is tempting to introduce a sixth R of radiobiology into the discussion of appropriate dose fractionation to enhance the tumor killing: for example *reactivation* of anti-tumor immune responses as proposed by Boustani et al (188). Total-body irradiation, as is used in preparation for organ transplantation, has clearly suppressive effects to the degree that about 3.5-4.5 Gy can inhibit the body response to new antigens by ablating lymphocyte populations (129). However, in localized therapy tumor irradiation can set the stage for an influx of potent immune cells able to take advantage of the newly altered environment.

1.2.4.1 Activation of cGAS-STING

As mentioned previously, radiation responses frequently depend on the ability of the host to form a CD8+ T cell response to tumor antigens (21, 124-128, 189-191); a key driver of this response is intratumoral secretion of type I interferon (IFN-I) following activation of the cGAS-STING pathway.

In eukaryotic cells, DNA is typically restricted to the cell nucleus and nucleic acid sequences are transmitted through the cytosol with messenger RNA transcripts; DNA in the cytoplasm is therefore sensed as pathogen invasion or host damage. In the cytosol, nucleic acids may be sensed through retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptor family members including RIG-I, MDA5 and LGP2 (192), ERAdP (193), and in the case of double-stranded DNA cGAMP synthase (cGAS) (194, 195) upstream of the secondary

messenger receptor STING (196). The cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS, upon ligation with double-stranded DNA, produces from GTP and ATP the secondary messenger molecule [G(2'-5')pA(3'-5')p] (cGAMP), a non-canonical cyclic dinucleotide (197). Cyclic dinucleotides, either 2'3'-cGAMP from cGAS or cyclic di-GMP or 3'3'-cGAMP secreted by intracellular bacteria, trigger conformation changes in the ER resident protein STING (198), which in turn activates the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) through the protein kinase TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) (196, 199). Most notably, activation of STING and IRF3 lead to production and secretion of IFN-I, namely IFNβ (200).

Activation of ISGs through STING leads to the production and secretion of proinflammatory type I IFNs α and β and binding of IFNs to the interferon-alpha/beta receptor (IFNAR) on the cell surface. For cells secreting IFN-I or bystander cells, ligation of IFNAR can trigger upregulation of antigen processing and presentation on major histocompatibility complexes (MHC-I and MHC-II) (201-204), can enhance T cell proliferation and activation by providing additional Signal 3-type signaling (54), and for dendritic cells specifically can enhance maturation signals and expression of CD40, CD80, and CD86 (205, 206). IFNAR/IFN-I signaling is critically important for regulation of the immune response to pathogen invaders, playing additional roles in the production of anti-pathogenic effector molecules and chemokines (207-209), and has been demonstrated to play an equally essential role in the efficacy of some anti-cancer therapies including radiotherapy (125). This may be in part due to the enhancement of T cell recruitment to interferon-inflamed tumors via production of CXCR3 ligands including IP-10 (CXCL10) (128). T cell activation frequently occurs in secondary lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes rather than at the site of infection or within tumors: this process, termed cross presentation, is described further in a later section. In order for activated T

cells to exact cytotoxic function they must then traffic from the lymphoid organ into the peripheral blood and be actively recruited by chemokines into inflamed tissue. Notably, T cell recruitment is not antigen-specific and following irradiation, TCR diversity has been observed to increase, indicating the recruitment of a wide variety of potentially reactive T cells (210, 211).

Following cell irradiation, as previously described, DSBs form in chromosomal DNA leading to the formation of micronuclei. During subsequent rounds of cell replication, micronucleus membranes are frequently disrupted (212), exposing the DNA content to cytoplasmic sensors. Cancer cells with micronuclei can respond to damaged DNA themselves (194, 195), or they can transfer it to tumor infiltrating phagocytes (213, 214). Significantly, activation of STING following radiotherapy promotes the induction of effective anti-tumor immunity in numerous tumor models (125, 194, 214, 215), demonstrating the key role of cytosolic sensing of damaged DNA downstream of tumor irradiation. The induction of IFN-I in the radiation-induced anti-tumor immune response appears to be essential but its role is unclear and may be multifaceted, from enhancing dendritic cell functions to increasing antigen presentation on cancer cells (discussed further in Chapter 3) (201, 216).

1.2.4.2 Vaccination in situ

Radiation has long been used as a local therapy in the treatment of cancer but observations that radiation can (rarely) contribute tumor regression outside of the field, known as the *abscopal effect*, highlight that irradiation of one site can have systemic effects transmitted by the immune system (217, 218). Leaders in the field of radiation immunology including Sandra Demaria and Silvia Formenti have built a case that radiation-induced vaccine effects *in situ* are a key mediator of tumor clearance *in vivo* (219, 220).

Effective vaccination requires a source of antigen, in the case of T cells necessarily a unique peptide, and an adjuvant to stimulate a pro-inflammatory adaptive immune response rather than a short lived "clean up" response. Thus, radiation-induced vaccination effects are thought to result in part from the generation of danger-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) signals by damaged or dying cells following irradiation, including cell surface exposure of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) resident chaperones calreticulin (CRT) and Erp57, translocation of the nuclear protein HMGB1, and extracellular release of ATP (221-223) which function as immunological adjuvants. Additionally, release of tumor-associated DNA and induction of STING signaling in phagocytes appears to play a significant role in the radiation-induced CD8+ T cell response (125, 214). Along with the uptake of tumor associated antigens, these damage signals may drive dendritic cell maturation, trafficking to tumor draining lymph nodes (TDLNs), and activation of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells (126, 190, 224-226). Following tumor irradiation *in vivo*, the number and proportion of activated tumor-reactive CD8+ T cell increases in the TDLN, indicating the activation of a vaccination response (126, 227).

While radiotherapy is a localized therapy that primarily modulates immunity within the field of radiation, i.e. the tumor, there is some evidence to suggest that sufficient generation of effector T cells downstream of tumor radiation may be able to boost antitumor responses systemically to control metastatic disease (228). At the beginning of this thesis project, radiation-mediated vaccination was the dominant mechanistic rationale for synergy between radiotherapy and the immune system. In Chapter 2, we address the question of whether vaccination effects might be responsible for radiationmediated tumor control by CD8+ T cells in mouse models of cancer.

1.2.4.3 Augmentation of Cancer Cell Susceptibility to Control by T Cells

In addition to generating CD8+ T cells able to respond to tumor-specific neoantigens through *in situ* vaccination effects and enhancing recruitment of these cells to the tumor through the production of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, radiation can alter the susceptibility of tumors to killing by T cells. Among the most compelling models for increased sensitivity of cancer cells to T cell-mediated killing is the upregulation of MHC-I molecules due to the integral role of MHC-I in directing CD8+ T cells. It is clear that radiation increases the expression of MHC-I on cancer cells (201, 229, 230) and specifically presentation of tumor-associated neoantigens (227). Proposed mechanisms of radiation-induced MHC-I upregulation are discussed in the following section and the significance of radiation-induced upregulation of MHC-I is explored in Chapter 3.

1.3 Major Histocompatibility Complex I (MHC-I)

As described previously, CD8+ T cells recognize cognate antigen only when it is bound to MHC-I molecules. This phenomenon, known as *MHC restriction*, was first realized by Rolf Zinkernagel and Peter Doherty when they found immune spleen cells (T cells) could only lyse lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infected cells if the MHC-I haplotype from the source matched (24, 231). CD8+ T cells require antigen sources (proteins or protein fragments) to be processed internally for presentation: typically only a small fragment of the protein, an 8-10 amino acid long peptide chain, is presented on MHC-I. This model of recognition is unique and contrasts, for example, with antigen recognition by B cells, another member of the adaptive immune system, which can bind intact exposed antigen regardless of context (22).

MHC-I molecules are glycoproteins expressed on all nucleated cells in most vertebrates with the essential immune function to present up-to-date samplings of intracellular proteins to CD8+ T cells. The constant cycling of peptides on MHC-I allows the immune system to survey tissue for novel peptides resulting from infection, predominantly from intracellular viruses, and genetic mutations. This process provides the immune system with a mechanism of detection for potentially carcinogenic mutations by allowing recognition of novel peptide sequences resulting from altered gene sequences as neoantigens (genetic mutations are not directly surveilled by immune cells). Thus, antigen presentation on MHC-I plays an essential role in the recognition of cancer cells by the adaptive immune system.

1.3.1 Antigen Processing and Presentation on MHC-I

Antigen presentation on MHC-I is a tightly regulated process that has been progressively described over the more than 80 years since the discovery of the *H-2 antigen* in mice and more than 60 years since the discovery of its equivalent, the *HLA complex*, in humans. The original studies of major histocompatibility molecules described their function first in the context of transplantation, where different MHC alleles caused rejection of a transplanted tumor in mice or febrile response to blood transfusions in humans (232). Since these early discoveries, much has been elucidated about the structure and significance of MHC-I in health and disease.

1.3.1.1 MHC-I Structure

MHC-I molecules are composed of two subunits: the polymorphic heavy chain, known as H2 in mice and HLA in humans, and the monomorphic light chain β 2microglobulin (β 2M) whose structure is also species-specific. The MHC-I heavy chain is composed of a long polypeptide strand with three domains, α 1 and α 2 which compose the antigenic peptide binding superdomain, and c-terminal α 3 which contains the transmembrane domain and β 2M binding domain. The superdomain consists of eight antiparallel β sheets supporting two α helix structures, one contributed by each α 1 and α 2: together, these helix structures form the walls of the peptide binding groove (12). MHC-I complexes present peptides of 8-10 amino acids in length, although 5-10% of bound peptides may exceed this length and extend past the edge of the binding cleft (23). Polymorphism within the superdomain is responsible for variable antigenic peptide binding affinities to different MHC-I haplotypes; this variability is thought to decrease the susceptibility of an entire population to an infectious agent by increasing the chance that some individuals will bind and present immunogenic peptides (12).

1.3.1.2 Antigen Presentation Pathways

Assembly of MHC-I complexes occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) following translation of the MHC-I heavy chain (HC) and β 2M into the ER membrane. Once formed, HC molecules stabilize by associating with the membrane-bound chaperone calnexin (CXN), commonly bound to Erp57. Once bound to β 2M, the HC swaps CXN for the soluble chaperone calreticulin (CRT) bound to Erp57: notably, CXN and CRT are also involved in quality control for the glycosylation of the MHC-I HC (12, 233). Together this complex associates with the peptide loading complex (PLC), described below (12).

1.3.1.2.1 Generation, Presentation, and Recognition of Antigens

In the absence of inflammation, candidate peptides are processed by the constitutively expressed 26S proteasome, a large barrel-shaped proteolytic complex made up a 20S subunit flanked by two 19S subunit "lids." Proteins which are damaged, aged, or misfolded are tagged for degradation by the addition of ubiquitin (Ub) molecules by a cascade of E1, E2, and E3 Ub ligases. PolyUb chains of about four Ub moieties allow binding of the substrate to receptor components of the 19S regulatory particle (RP) subunit known as the proteasome lid; these Ub-tagged proteins are deubiquitinated and unfolded by ATPases by the RP as they pass into the 20S catalytic particle (CP). The CP consists of four stacked rings, two outer α rings and two inner β rings, each made up of seven protein subunits (12, 234, 235). Within the β rings are six catalytic active sites (β 1, β 2, and β 5 on each ring) which cleave peptide bonds to ultimately form polypeptide chains 3-22 residues long: some portion of these peptides go on to become presented at antigens on MHC-I (236, 237).

In the context of inflammatory cytokine stimulation (including by IFN-I, IFNγ, and TNFα), alternate proteasome subunits are produced to favor processing of peptides appropriate for antigen presentation, generating a modified structure is known as the

immunoproteasome (235, 238). Within the 20S proteasome subunit rings β 1, β 2, and β 5 are replaced by β 1i (LMP2), β 2i (MECL-1), and β 5i (LMP7) which associate more rapidly than constitutive 20S components to preferentially assemble the immunoproteasome complex (235). In place of the 19S lid, the IFN γ proteasome activator PA28 can associate with the immunoproteasome to enhance the generation of MHC-I binding peptides; although this subunit is not essential for function it appears to enhance the yield of peptides able to bind MHC-I and may reduce generation of polypeptide chains too short for binding (12, 235, 239). Overall, immunoproteasome subunits demonstrate enhanced cleavage after hydrophobic and basic amino acid resides, favoring generation of peptides with C-terminal residues preferred for binding by many MHC-I alleles (12).

In order to be presented on MHC-I, peptide chains generated by the proteasome/immunoproteasome must first enter the ER through the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), a heterodimeric complex made up of TAP1 and TAP2. TAP transports peptide chains 8-12 amino acids long most efficiently but has been observed to transport chains as long as 40 residues long (12, 240); protein strands which are too long are trimmed once in the endoplasmic reticulum at the N-terminal end to an appropriate length for MHC-I presentation by the ER-associated aminopeptidase (ERAAP) ERAP1. TAP is an essential subunit of the PLC and associates with MHC-I/CRT/Erp57 via binding to tapasin (Tpn). Tpn stabilizes the open peptide-binding groove of MHC-I until a peptide of appropriate affinity binds and initiates the final folding of the ligand-binding groove; this stabilization of the structure releases MHC-I from the PLC and triggers export of the fully assembled complex through the Golgi apparatus to the cell surface for extracellular antigen presentation (12).



Fig. 1-2 Antigen processing and presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I). A) Ribosomes in the cytosol or endoplasmic reticulum (ER) synthesize new proteins, up to 30% of which are considered defective and are tagged with ubiquitin substrates for refolding or degradation. B) Defective ribosomal products, old proteins, and damaged proteins are degraded into polypeptide fragments by the proteasome or, in the context of inflammatory stress, the immunoproteasome. C) Peptide fragments can be further degraded or can be transported in an ATP-dependent manner into the ER for MHC-I presentation through heterodimeric channels made up of TAP1 and TAP2 protein subunits which favor the transport of polypeptides 8-12 amino acids long. D) Peptide fragments within the ER can be further clipped for optimal protein loading by ERAAP. E) Tapasin proteins stabilize the open peptide-binding groove of MHC-I molecules to allow for cycling of polypeptides until one of sufficient affinity stabilizes the complex and initiates dissociation from the peptide loading complex. F) Stable peptide-MHC-I complexes (pMHC) are exported from the ER and presented at the cell surface for recognition by immune cells.

The T cell receptor (TCR) interacts with MHC-I complexes bound to peptide (pMHC) via the variable regions of the subunits TCR α and TCR β , known respectively as V α and V β . At the terminal end of the V α and V β structures are six complementarity-determining regions (CDRs), CDR1, CDR2 and CDR3 for each the α and β chains, forming peptide loops which bind the pMHC; CDR3 contains the greatest polymorphism derived from V(D)J recombination and thus the CDR3 α and CDR3 β loops are responsible for antigen recognition within the MHC peptide binding groove (12, 23, 241).

1.3.1.2.2 Cross Presentation

Among antigen presenting cells, dendritic cells (DCs) have the unusual ability to present exogeneously-derived protein antigens on MHC-I in a process termed *cross presentation*. Cross presentation allows DCs to be *licensed* by CD4+ T helper cells through ligation of DC-expressed peptide-MHC class II (pMHC-II) complexes, resulting in upregulation of costimulatory (Signal 2) molecules, and to prime naïve CD8+ T cells via ligation of cross-presented pMHC-I. Notably, some subsets of DCs are better able to cross present than others, the most efficient of which appears to be Batf3-dependent CD8+ XCR1+ DCs also known as inflammatory DCs or DC1s (242, 243).

DCs sample their surroundings through a process of phagocytosis, engulfing extracellular fragments in a membrane-bound vesicle called the phagosome. Typically, phagosomes undergo a process of acidification through fusion with lysosomes called maturation, leading to the destruction of microbial contents; however, in the presence of immune adjuvants such as TLR ligands, DCs slow the process of acidification to favor preservation of antigen structure (37). Upon receiving adjuvant signals, DCs undergo a process of *maturation*, downregulating phagocytosis and presentation of activation receptors while upregulating expression of costimulatory molecules (CD80/86) and

chemokine receptors responsible for lymph node trafficking (244). Significantly, T cells stimulation by DCs in the steady state (i.e. DCs not stimulated by inflammatory signals) results in T cell tolerance (12, 245).

Protein antigens preserved from the phagosome can enter the ER for protein loading through either of two pathways, the first of which is the vacuolar pathway. In the vacuolar pathway, peptides degraded within acidified phagosomes are loaded onto post-Golgi MHC-I molecules in a TAP-independent manner. This process requires phagosome-derived peptides to outcompete peptides loading through the classical TAPdependent pathway and occurs most efficiently in TAP-expressing cells (242). In the second pathway for ER trafficking, the cytosolic pathway, protein fragments are exported from the phagosome into the cytosol either through an unknown transport channel protein or through disruption of the phagosomal membrane (242). Once in the cytosol, exogenously-derived proteins are processed through the classical proteasome- and TAP- dependent antigen processing pathway and are loaded onto MHC-I as described previously (246).

Significantly, antigen presentation on APCs is essential for priming optimal CD8+ T cell responses but antigen presented in the context of a DC does not guarantee elimination/killing of the original source of the antigenic protein. This means that even in cases where a vaccine generates a potent CD8+ T cell response through presentation of tumor antigens on cross presenting DCs, cancer cells can still evade immune detection through downregulation of MHC-I antigen presentation pathways. Known mechanisms of MHC-I evasion are discussed further in this section.

1.3.2 Genetic Regulation of MHC-I

MHC-I presentation requires the simultaneous expression of multiple genes in the same cells with many of these genes clustered together in the *Mhc* locus. In humans, the *Mhc* gene region is located on the short arm of chromosome 6 and is subdivided into the MHC-II region, MHC-III region, and MHC-I region; the MHC-I region contains genes coding for classical HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C heavy chain molecules as well as non-canonical HLA heavy chains. In mice, the *Mhc* gene region is located on chromosome 17 and is similarly divided into regions by MHC class; however, in rodents a portion of the MHC-I region has been translocated so from the centromere the gene regions order: MHC-I, MHC-II, MHC-III, and MHC-I. In mice, the classical heavy chain molecules are H-2D, H-2K, and H-2L. For both mice and humans, non-MHC genes which are integral to antigen presentation on MHC-I are also contained within the *Mhc* region, including the genes for tapasin, TAP1, TAP2, and LMP7; however, in both humans and mice the gene for β 2m is located on a separate chromosome (chromosome 15 and 2, respectively) (12).

Expression of classical MHC-I elements is mediated by three major regulatory elements: enhancer A, IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE), and the SXY module. Within MHC-I promoters, enhancer A elements are bound by NF-κB/rel family members and ISRE elements are bound by interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) including IRF1; these transcription factors notably mediate transcription of MHC-I proteins downstream of IFNγ and TNFα stimulation (247-249). The SXY module, comprised of S/W, X1, X2 and Y boxes, binds a number of nuclear factors including RFX (comprised of RFX5, RFXAP, and RFXANK/B), CREB/ATF, and NF-Y, which require a transcriptional regulator, either the Class I Transactivator (CITA, or NLRC5) or the Class II Transactivator (CITA), to coordinate enhanceosome assembly (247, 250, 251).

NLRC5 and CIITA are NOD-like receptor (NLR) family members, a group of proteins characterized by common structural elements including central nucleotide binding domains (NBD, a component of a NACHT domain) and C-terminal leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domains (252). While the majority of research on NLRs has focused on those with pattern recognition or inflammasome activities in the cytosol, NLRC5 and CIITA primary target the nucleus and are known as master transcriptional regulators of MHC-I and MHC-II, respectively. Notably, NLRC5 and CIITA lack DNA-binding protein domains and can only exert coactivating function through binding to DNA-binding adaptor proteins (253).

CIITA was first described as a key MHC-I transactivating element in the early 1990s after being found defective in a form of MHC-II deficiency known as Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome (BLS) (254), a rare and heterogeneous condition grouping mutations in CIITA and members of the RFX protein complex. The role of CIITA in controlling MHC-I expression was less clear, however, and complicated by the overlapping adaptor proteins utilized by both the CIITA and NLRC5 enhanceosomes: in human patients with BLS, MHC-I expression may also be significantly reduced (255-257). CIITA was found to contribute to transcription of β2M and MHC-I heavy chains but not TAP1 or LMP2 (253, 257) and is not critical for MHC-I expression in the same way it is for MHC-II (258, 259).

After the discovery of NLRC5 as a regulator of MHC-I in cell lines (259), the relative contributions of NLRC5 and CIITA to MHC-I expression were best elucidated in genetic knockout mouse models. In these models, the contribution of NLRC5 or CIITA to MHC-I expression depends predominantly on cell type, where cells with high basal CIITA expression (APCs, including DCs and macrophages) are more resistant to MHC-I abrogation by NRLC5 deficiency than cells with low basal CIITA expression

(lymphocytes, including B cells and T cells) (250, 258, 260). Notably, expression of NLRC5 can be induced by IFNγ and, accordingly, NLRC5 deficiency reduces IFNγmediated induction of MHC-I; however, it does not abrogate it (261), demonstrating regulation of MHC-I expression is layered with partially overlapping mechanisms.

1.3.3 Tumor Suppression of MHC-I as a Mechanism of Immune Evasion

Tumor evolution is shaped by positive selection of genes advantageous to tumor growth and negative selection of genes inhibiting growth or enhancing immune-mediated control; due to the potency of adaptive immunity in detecting and controlling tumors, downregulation of antigen presentation on MHC-I is a common immune evasion mechanism employed by tumors (9). While decreased antigen presentation is a common feature of cancer, total loss of MHC-I expression (i.e. biallelic loss of B2M) is less common (262), likely due to selective pressure from natural killer cells whose cytotoxic function is inhibited by the presence of MHC-I. Antigen presentation on MHC molecules can be reduced without total ablation by epigenetic suppression or genetic loss of factors regulating MHC-I expression (e.g. NLRC5) (263-265), downregulation of molecules involved in peptide loading onto MHC-I (266-268), loss of specific HLA alleles (269), or suppression of cytokine-activated pathways for augmenting MHC-I expression (e.g. loss of IFNYR/IFNAR or downstream JAK/STAT molecules) (270-272).

Significantly, reduction of cognate pMHC expression on target cell surfaces can affect the magnitude and efficacy of CD8+ T cell responses (273); thus, rescue of MHC-I expression is a significant target for cancer immunotherapy. In cases where total genetic loss of B2M prevents augmentation of MHC-I expression, T cell enhancing therapies are

unlikely to effective and use of immunotherapy must be tailored to take this into account (270, 271).

1.3.4 MHC-I Upreguation on Cancer Cells by Radiation

Due to the common immune evasion tactic of cancer cells to downregulate antigen presentation on MHC-I, it is appealing to explore cancer therapies able to enhance visibility of these cells to tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells. As discussed previously, irradiation of cancer cells can increase their susceptibility to T cell-mediated control, including by upregulation of MHC-I expression. Multiple mechanisms have been proposed for MHC-I induction following radiation which may occur simultaneously.

In 2006, Eric Reits and colleagues proposed that MHC-I expression after radiation is enhanced due to increased availability of intracellular peptides available for loading (229). In their model, damage sustained by irradiation triggered activation of the key metabolic kinase mTOR and increased transcription of genes related to the damage response, including DNA repair genes. The increase in bulk transcription following a spike in damaged proteins generated by irradiation triggered an increase in proteins processed through the proteasome/immunoproteasome and thus higher concentrations of peptides available for TAP-dependent ER transport and loading onto MHC-I molecules.

An alternate mechanism of MHC-I induction by cancer cell irradiation is dependent on activation of the cGAS/STING and IFN-I pathways. As described previously, cancer cell irradiation triggers the release of dsDNA into the cytosol, triggering activation of the cGAS/STING pathway and triggering extracellular release of IFN-I including IFNβ (194). Ligation of IFNAR with IFN-I triggers downstream signaling

via STAT1, STAT2 and IRF9 and leads to transcription of ISGs including MHC-I related proteins (201, 274); in some cases, upregulation of MHC-I may be entirely dependent on IFN signaling (275).

The significance of radiation-induced upregulation of MHC-I on MHC-I^{Io} cancer cells is unclear, although augmentation of MHC molecules has been used as justification for studies of cancer immunotherapy (276, 277). In Chapter 3, I explore mechanisms of radiation-induced upregulation of MHC-I and the significance of MHC modulation on cancer cells to CD8+ T cell responses.

Chapter 2: Establishment of the significance of *in situ*

vaccination by radiation

Lauren K. Zebertavage^{1,2}, Alejandro Alice², Shelly Bambina², Marka R. Crittenden^{2,3}, Michael J. Gough²

1 Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239

2 Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Portland, OR 97213

3 The Oregon Clinic, Portland, OR 97220

2.1 Abstract

It has been established in numerous cancer models that radiation-driven tumor clearance requires the presence of CD8+ T cells, but how radiation drives these T cell responses is unclear. In these studies, we built on previous work in our lab examining the role of radiation as an *in situ* T cell vaccine, which found that radiation required the pre-existing tumor immunity generated by tumor inoculation to exert tumor control. Thus, we hypothesized that radiation might function to enhance CD8+ T cell responses by boosting existing T cell numbers. For these experiments a live-attenuated *Listeria monocytogenes* vaccine platform expressing tumor model antigens was used to generate large tumor-reactive CD8+ T cell populations in the absence of tumor irradiation. we demonstrated that while T cells generated by *Listeria* vaccination traffic to tumors, recognize antigen *in situ* and have cytotoxic potential, the generation of antigenreactive CD8+ T cells is not sufficient to replicate the efficacy of radiation in controlling tumors. These experiments suggest that radiation functions poorly as an *in situ* vaccine and that other mechanisms are necessary to explain how radiation improves tumor susceptibility to control by CD8+ T cells.

2.2 Introduction

Vaccines capable of stimulating strong T cell responses require an antigen capable of being recognized by the host's T cells and an adjuvant capable of stimulating antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to take up and present the antigen to antigen's cognate T cells (22). In the field intersecting radiation biology and immunology, the ability of tumor irradiation to stimulate adaptive immunity by T cells is under investigation. It is clear that the irradiation of tumor tissue results in the release of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) and strong inflammatory damage signals (DAMPs) which can act as immunological adjuvants; whether radiation-induced vaccination is necessary or sufficient to immune-mediated tumor clearance is therefore of interest.

Previous work from our lab demonstrated that the efficacy of radiation in combination with checkpoint inhibitors (antibody blockade of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1) requires the initial T cell priming event of tumor inoculation (124): silencing the initial activation of T cells at tumor challenge by CD8+ T cell depletion, blockade of dendritic cell (DC) maturation by αCD40L (278), or blockade of T cell egress through lymphatic vessels by FTY720 (279) resulted in the failure of therapy. Blockade of *de novo* T cell priming at the time of radiation, conversely, does not significantly affect therapeutic responses. From these results, we found that T cell priming resulting from tumor irradiation is not required for tumor clearance by radiation and checkpoint inhibitors.

These studies did not address, however, the significance of radiation-mediated CD8+ T cell *boosting*, and whether this effect might be able to account for the ability of radiation to initiate immune-dependent control of tumors. Efficient priming of CD8+ T cells, as described in Chapter 1, requires the presence of cognate antigen on presented on MHC-I (Signal 1), costimulation by mature dendritic cells (Signal 2), and pro-inflammatory cytokines triggering proliferation (Signal 3). Following an acute priming

event, the effector T cell population contracts and a small population of cells become long-lived memory T cells; this population can then be reactivated, or *boosted*, to reexpand and control the antigen source. It is unclear whether this reactivation of tumorspecific CD8+ T cells might account for the efficacy of T cells in controlling tumors following irradiation.

In order to determine whether radiation-mediated CD8+ T cell boosting can explain immune control of tumors, we modeled radiation-mediated *in situ* vaccination with a liveattenuated *Listeria monocytogenes* vaccine (280) expressing tumor model antigens. This vaccine is capable of generating significantly greater CD8+ T cell numbers than radiation-induced vaccination systemically, but these cells are unable to control tumors. Instead, we found that cancer cells are intrinsically resistant to killing by T cells but that radiation directly improves the susceptibility of cancer cells to immune control. In Chapter 3, I describe experiments exploring how radiation might augment the ability of CD8+ T cells to control cancer.

2.3 Materials and Methods

Animals and Cell Lines

Animal protocols were approved by the Earle A. Chiles Research Institute IACUC (Animal Welfare Assurance No. A3913-01). All experiments were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. 5-8 week old C3H/HeJ mice (Stock #00659) and 5-8 week old C57BL/6 mice (Stock #000664) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) for use in these experiments. Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice were kindly provided by Dr. Weinberg (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Portland, OR)(281). 2C transgenic mice were kindly provided by Dr. Gajewski (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL), bred in-house and crossed with Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice. OT-I transgenic mice were gifted by Dr. Redmond (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute). Pdx-Cre mice (Stock #014647, Jackson Laboratory) were crossed with B6.129S4-Gt(ROSA)26Sor^{tm3(CAG-luc)Tyl}/J (Stock #009044, Jackson Laboratory) to generate animals tolerant to SIYRYYGL peptide. B6.SJL-Ptprc^a Pepc^b/BoyJ mice expressing CD45.1 were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (Stock#002014) for *in vivo* cytoxicity assays. Survival experiments were performed with 3-8 mice per group as noted in figure legends.

Cell lines were cultured in RPMI-1640 (HyClone, Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Cat#10082147, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 2mM L-glutamine (Cat#SH3003401, HyClone, Fisher), 10mM HEPES (Cat#HOL06, Caisson Labs, Smithfield, UT), 100U/mL penicillin-streptomycin (Cat#PSL01, Caisson), 1X non-essential amino acids (Cat#SH3023801, Fisher), 1mM sodium pyruvate (Cat#PYL01, Caisson).

The parental squamous cell carcinoma line SCCVII was kindly provided by Walter T. Lee (Duke Cancer Center Institute, Durham, NC). To generate SCCVII cells expressing EGFRvIII, cancer cells were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 Transfection Reagent (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) with MSCV-loxp-dsRed-loxp-eGFP-Puro-WPRE (Addgene plasmid #32702, gifted from Hans Clevers) and MSCV-XZ066-EGFRvIII (Addgene plasmid #20737, gifted from Alonzo Ross) and sorted on a BD FACSAria II cell sorter (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) for high expression of GFP (SCCVII-EGFRvIII) and RFP (SCCVII-control) as previously described (280). The parental murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line Panc02 was kindly provided by Dr. Woo (Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY). Panc02 expressing the model antigen SIY was kindly provided by Dr. Weishelbaum (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL), as used previously (124), and expresses GFP-SIY in approximately 40% of cells. Panc02SIY100 was derived and expanded from a high GFP expressing single clone within Panc02SIY on a BD FACSAria II cell sorter.

Antibodies and Reagents

Viability staining was performed in PBS using Zombie Aqua Fixable Viability Kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) for 15 minutes prior to staining with fluorescentlyconjugated antibodies for flow cytometry. Monoclonal antibodies were used against: CD3 [17A2], CD4 [RM4-5], CD8α [53-6.7], CD11b [M1/70], CD45.1 [A20], CD45.2 [104], CD69 [H1.2F3], CD90.1 [HIS51], IFNγ [XMG1.2], H-2Kb [AF6-88.5.5.3], and TNFα [MP6-XT22]. Fluorescently-conjugated MHC-multimer complexes were used as follows: tetramer-EEKKGNYV (tEGFRvIII, NIH Tetramer Core, Atlanta, GA), tetramer-SIINFEKL (tOva, NIH Tetramer Core), and pentamer-SIYRYYGL (pSIY, Prolmmune, Sarasota, FL).

Immunohistochemistry was performed on Zinc-fixed tumors embedded in paraffin preserved as described previously (282). Five micron sections were stained with primary αCD3 (SP7, Cat#ab16669, Abcam, Burlingame, CA) diluted in blocking buffer, secondary goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to HRP (Cat #AP1879, EMD Millipore, Burlingame, MA), and ImmPACT DAB Peroxidase (HRP) Substrate (Cat#SK-4105, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin 7211 (Cat#S7439-1, Cardinal Health, Dublin, OH). CD3 infiltration was quantified using Aperio ImageScope (Aperio, Sausalito, CA).

For *in vitro* stimulation of cell lines, recombinant mouse IFN-gamma protein (Cat#14-8311-63, Thermo Fisher) was used at a final concentration of 20ng/mL.

The *in vivo* cytotoxicity experiment was conducted as described previously(283). Briefly, wild-type mice were vaccinated with *LmSIY* or *LmOva* seven days prior to injection of congenic splenocytes labelled with CFSE (Cat#C34554, Thermo Fisher) and pulsed with peptide (A&A Labs, San Diego, CA). Six hours later, recipient spleens are harvested and analyzed by flow cytometry.

Listeria monocytogenes vaccination

ActA deleted (Δ actA) Listeria monocytogenes (Lm) strains used for vaccination were engineered to express the EGFRvIII peptide EEKKGNYV (LmEGFRvIII) as described previously (280), the ovalbumin peptide SIINFEKL (LmOva), or SIYRYYGL peptide (LmSIY) cloned in-frame with the actA N-terminal fragment. Bacteria were grown in brain-heart infusion broth, washed twice in PBS and administered by retro-orbital injection at a dose of 1 x 10⁵ (C3H mice) or 1 x 10⁷ (C57BL/6 mice) CFU in 100µL total volume. Effective vaccination was confirmed seven days later by MHC-multimer binding of peripheral blood as described above.

Immunotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Tumors

Tumors were inoculated at a dose of 2×10^6 for SCCVII-control and SCCVII-EGFRvIII tumors, 5×10^6 for Panc02SIY tumors and 10×10^6 for Panc02SIY100. Tumor size was determined via caliper measurements of the longest length x the longest perpendicular width. Survival endpoint was defined as tumor size greater than or equal to 150 mm^2 or when the mouse appeared moribund.

For *in vivo* experiments, 12 Gy of CT-guided radiation was administered to tumor isocenters using a Small Animal Research Radiation Platform (SARRP) (Xstrahl, Suwanee, GA) and Murislice software (Xstrahl), 14 days after tumor implantation. 250µg per dose αPD-L1 checkpoint blockade (Cat#BE101, BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH) was administered intraperitoneally at day 7, 14 and 21 post tumor implantation. For vaccine protection studies, *Listeria* vaccines were administered in prime-boost regimes 21 days and 7 days prior to challenge with SCCVII tumor cells; for Panc02 derivative cell lines, vaccines were administered at 3 days post tumor challenge and Panc02 derivative tumors were treated at 6 days post tumor challenge. For studies where therapeutic *Listeria* vaccines were used in comparison with radiation the vaccines were administered at day 14 following tumor challenge to coincide with radiation controls.

Tumor analysis

For flow cytometric analysis of tumor-infiltrating cells, tumors harvested seven days after treatment were chopped into small fragments and dissociated in a solution of 250 U/mL collagenase IV (Worthington Biochemical Corporation, Lakewood, NJ) and 30 U/mL DNase (Millipore Sigma, St Louis, MO) using a GentleMACS tissue dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). After 30 minutes incubation at 37°C, the digest was quenched in

RPMI-1640 (Cat#SH30027LS, Fisher) supplemented with 10% FBS (Cat#16000069, Thermo Fisher) and 2mM EDTA (Cat#324504, Millipore Sigma) and strained through 100µM and 40µM cell strainers. Filtered cells were rinsed in cold PBS twice prior to counting and staining for analysis on a BD LSR II flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson).

In vitro T Cell Coculture Assays

Prior to coculture with cancer cells, donor CD8+ T cells were activated *in vivo* with *Listeria* vaccines. Seven days after vaccination, spleens were harvested and dissociated using a 70 μ M cell strainer and syringe plunger then red blood cells were lysed with ACK Lysing Buffer (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). CD8+ T cells were sorted from splenocytes using a CD8 α + T cell negative isolation kit (Cat#130-104-075, Miltenyi) and counted prior to use *in vivo* or in *in vitro* cell coculture assays.

Cancer cell growth was monitored using an Incucyte (Sartorius, Goettingen, Germany) and Zoom software (Incucyte, Sartorius). Briefly, cancer cells were plated in the presence of cytokines or following *in vitro* irradiation. After 24 hours, adherent cells were rinsed twice in 10% complete RPMI supplemented with βME. Purified CD8+ T cells from *Lm*-vaccinated animals were added to cancer cell cultures at a 25:1, 50:1, and 100:1 effector:target ratios. Non-adherent cells were allowed to settle for 15 minutes at room temperature prior to hourly tracking in the Incucyte, housed at 36.5°C/5%CO₂, until untreated cells reached confluence. In order to isolate cancer cells from T cells for analysis, endogenous green fluorescence was used as a proxy for cell confluence as described in Figure 2-6A.

Statistics

Data was analyzed and graphed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR) and Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Individual data sets were compared using Welch's T

tests. Growth curves and analysis across multiple groups were analyzed using ANOVA (two-way and one-way, respectively). Kaplan Meier survival curves were compared using log-rank tests.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Radiation acts as an *in situ* cancer vaccine

In order to confirm that radiation can act as an *in situ* vaccine and boost systemic T cell responses as has been reported previously (284), C57BI/6 mice were challenged with the murine pancreatic tumor cell line Panc02 expressing the model antigen SIYRYYGL, Panc02SIY. Two weeks following tumor implantation, tumors were irradiated using a CT-guided external beam radiation platform and seven days later peripheral blood was harvested to measure model antigen-reactive CD8+ T cells by fluorescent MHC-multimer binding and flow cytometry (Fig. 2-1Ai). At around 10-14 days, the initial peak in T cell numbers generated by the priming event of tumor cell inoculation has subsided and the resulting memory populations are able to be boosted by subsequent presentation of their cognate antigen. Following irradiation, we observed a significant increase in tumor-reactive CD8+ T cell numbers compared to unirradiated controls, consistent with a boosting effect driven by vaccination (Fig. 2-1Aii). Notably, however, the boosting effect by radiation was small relative to a strong T cell vaccine, Listeria-SIY, administered at a similar time. These results demonstrated that radiation can act as an *in situ* vaccine but that the systemic boost in tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells driven by this vaccination event was modest.



Fig. 2-1 Radiation boots tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells in circulation. A) i) Treatment schematic. C57BI/6 mice were implanted with Panc02SIY tumors and then irradiated (12Gy) or vaccinated with *Listeria-SIY*. Peripheral blood was collected seven days after treatment from mice or matched controls. ii) Pentamer-SIY (pSIY) binding CD8+ T cells of total CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood seven days after treatment or matched in untreated (NT) controls.
2.4.2 Tumors are poorly controlled by therapeutic vaccination

In order to determine whether *Listeria*-induced CD8+ T cells were sufficient to control model-antigen expressing cancers, two subcutaneous murine tumor models were used. The first model, SCCVII-EGFRvIII, was derived from a spontaneously arising squamous cell carcinoma (285) transfected to express a rare constitutively active variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) found primarily in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas and glioblastomas (286, 287). Previously we had identified an H2K^k restricted immunogenic peptide component of EGFRvIII, EEKKGNYV, recognized by CD8+ T cells in C3H mice (280) and transitioned a human version of this vaccine into a phase I clinical trial in patients with astrocytic brain tumors (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01967758).

To determine whether *Listeria-EGFRvIII* (*LmEGFRvIII*)-induced T cells were able to control EGFRvIII-expressing cancer cells, mice were vaccinated with *LmEGFRvIII* prior to cancer cell inoculation and observed a significant increase in survival (Fig. 2-2A), indicating a protective antigen-specific vaccination response. In order to determine whether vaccine-induced protection was specific to SCCVII, we used a methylcholanthrene-induced murine pancreatic cancer model, Panc02 (288), transfected to express the H2K^b-restricted model antigen SIYRYYGL (SIY), Panc02SIY. When mice were similarly vaccinated prior to tumor challenge with *Listeria* expressing SIY (*LmSIY*), there was no significant enhancement in survival (Fig. 2-2B) or reduction in tumor establishment as there had been with the SCCVII-EGFRvIII cell line. In order to determine whether *LmSIY* failed to protect against tumor establishment due to lack of SIY expression by Panc02SIY, we examined cells for expression of the reporter protein GFP fused to the SIY peptide and determined only about 40% of cells in Panc02SIY expressed the model antigen (data not shown). To test whether *LmSIY* protected against

Panc02SIY cells homogenously expressing the model antigen, we derived a new cell line, Panc02SIY100, from a high-SIY-GFP-expressing Panc02SIY clone that was able to maintain SIY-GFP expression over multiple passages. Similarly, however, establishment of Panc02SIY100 tumors was not protected against by *LmSIY* vaccination (Fig. 2-2B), suggesting that some cancer cell lines are intrinsically resistant to control by *Listeria*-induced T cells.

In order to determine whether therapeutic vaccination is sufficient to control growth of model antigen expressing tumors, mice were challenged with SCCVII-EGFRvIII, Panc02SIY, or Panc02SIY100 and vaccinated before the tumors were palpable (Fig. 2-2C and Fig 2-2D). All three tumor types were equivalently controlled by vaccination against model antigens and control peptides. Interestingly, SCCVII-EGFRvIII growth was significantly inhibited by *Listeria* vaccination but was not differentially affected by the antigen, suggesting that SCCVII-EGFRvIII tumors are sensitive to other types of inflammation resulting from the vaccine rather than the antigen-specific T cells induced by it. Taken together, these experiments demonstrate that the tumors tested are poorly controlled by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells induced systemically by vaccination.



Fig. 2-2 *Listeria* vaccines can protect tumor establishment but are poorly effective therapeutically. A) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice vaccinated with *Listeria-EGFRvIII* or *Listeria-Ova* 21 days and 7 days prior to challenge with SCCVII cancer cells expressing EGFRvIII or control construct. B) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice vaccinated with *Listeria-SIY* or *Listeria-Ova* 7 days prior to challenge with Panc02SIY or Panc02SIY100 cancer cells. C) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice challenged with SCCVII-EGFRvIII cancer cells and treated with saline, *Listeria-EGFRvIII*, or *Listeria-Ova* 3 days after tumor challenge. D) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice challenged with Panc02SIY or Panc02SIY100 cancer cells and treated with saline, *Listeria-SIY* or *Listeria-Ova* 1 days after tumor challenge. Key: **p<0.01; ns = not significant.

2.4.3 Model antigen specific CD8+ T cells are necessary but not sufficient for therapeutic efficacy of combination radiation and checkpoint blockade

Previous studies have demonstrated that CD8+ T cells are required for the efficacy of radiation-induced therapeutic responses(20, 123-125) but sequencing of tumor-infiltrating T cell receptors (TCRs) following radiation has demonstrated an expansion in TCR diversity rather than clonality (210), indicating a broadening of potential tumor-reactive T cell clones and suggesting non-specific T cell recruitment. Thus, it was unclear whether the population of model antigen reactive CD8+ T cells generated by Listeria vaccination were analogous to the key T cell population generated by radiation. In order to determine whether the SIY-reactive CD8+ T cell population was necessary for therapeutic tumor control by radiation, we used PDX-Cre x B6.129S4-Gt(ROSA)26Sor^{tm3(CAG-luc)Tyj}/J mice (PDX-SIY mice) which express the SIY peptide under the PDX (pancreatic) promoter during thymic development and are unable to generate SIY-reactive CD8+ T cells (Fig. 2-3A). When wild-type (WT) and PDX-SIY mice were implanted with Panc02SIY100 tumors and treated with radiation and α PD-L1 checkpoint blockade, PDX-SIY mice were resistant to tumor control by combination therapy (Fig. 2-3B). This result indicates that SIY-reactive CD8+ T cells are necessary for the efficacy of radiation with PD-L1 blockade in this model. In order to determine whether a vaccination effect was sufficient to explain the therapeutic efficacy of radiation with checkpoint blockade, mice were implanted with Panc02SIY100 tumors and treated with radiation and α PD-L1 or *LmSIY* and α PD-L1. While a majority of mice were able to clear tumors with the radiation combination therapy, *LmSIY* and PD-L1 blockade did not perform better than PD-L1 blockade alone. These results suggest that vaccination is not sufficient to explain the ability of radiation to control these tumors in a SIY-reactive T cell dependent mechanism.



Fig. 2-3 Model antigen specific CD8+ T cells are necessary but not sufficient for therapeutic efficacy of combination radiation and checkpoint blockade. A)

Pentamer-SIY binding CD8+ T cells of total CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood of wild type (WT) and PDX-SIY mice seven days after challenge with Panc02SIY cancer cells. B) Tumor growth curves of wild-type (WT) or SIY tolerant (PDX-SIY) mice implanted with Panc02SIY100 cancer cells and given no treatment (NT) or 12 Gy radiation at day 14 and α PD-L1 checkpoint blockade therapy at days 7, 14, and 21. Mice survival without tumors are listed as fractions in the lower right-hand side of each growth chart. C) *Listeria-SIY* does not replicate efficacy of radiation in treatment of Panc02SIY100 in combination therapy with α PD-L1 i) Tumor growth curves of wild-type mice given no treatment (NT), α PD-L1 at days 7, 14, and 21, 12 Gy radiation (RT) at day 14, combination α PD-L1 and RT, *Listeria-SIY* at day 14, or combination α PD-L1 and *Listeria-SIY*. ii) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice treated in ii). Key: *p<0.05; ns = not significant.

2.4.4 Tumors are resistant to tumor-specific CD8+ T cells generated by vaccination

Due to the inability of *LmSIY* to protect against Panc02SIY100 tumor establishment, we aimed to determine whether the inability of LmSIY-induced CD8+ T cells to control SIY-expressing cancer cells was specific to tumors or whether this population of T cells lacked cytotoxic capacity. To determine whether the failure of Listeria-induced CD8+ T cells to cure tumors was due to failure to traffic to tumors, we examined tumors by immunohistochemistry following LmSIY vaccination (Fig. 2-4Ai). Within SIY-expressing tumors, significant increases in T cell numbers compared to tumors from unvaccinated animals were observed (Fig. 2-4Aii) and found that T cells in more recently-vaccinated samples formed distinct clusters, suggestive of *in situ* activation (Fig 2-4Ai). To determine whether CD8+ T cells recognize antigen within tumors following vaccination we used transgenic Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice which rapidly express GFP following of TCR ligation (281). Nur77^{GFP} mice were implanted with SIYexpressing tumors and treated with radiation or Listeria vaccination (Fig. 2-4Bi) and tumors were harvested seven days later for analysis by flow cytometry. Tumors harvested from mice following LmSIY vaccination contained greater proportions of SIYspecific CD8+ T cells compared to vaccine controls (LmOva) and to irradiated tumors (Fig 2-4Biii), demonstrating that *LmSIY*-induced T cells effectively traffic to tumors. Across treatment groups, similar proportions of SIY-reactive CD8+ T cells expressed Nur77^{GFP}, indicating that recognition of tumor antigens was not improved by radiation compared to controls or LmSIY vaccination (Fig 2-4Biii). These results demonstrate that LmSIY-induced CD8+ T cells effective traffic to tumors in abundance and recognize tumor antigen *in situ* despite failure of therapy to reduce tumor burden.

In order to confirm that therapeutic failure of *LmSIY* was not due to the inability of *Listeria*-induced CD8+ T cells to kill antigen-presenting target cells, *in vivo* cytotoxicity was tested using peptide-pulsed, CFSE-labeled congenic splenocytes transferred into vaccinated animals. These transferred cells were found to be selectively depleted based on matched antigen (Fig 2C), indicating that *Listeria* vaccines generated functional antigen-specific CD8+ T cell cytotoxic immunity appropriately for SIYRYYGL- or SIINFEKL- presenting cells depending on vaccine specificity. Together, these results demonstrate that *Listeria* vaccines induce functional, antigen-specific CD8+ T cells that traffic to antigen-expressing tumors and indicate that the failure of *Listeria* vaccination to control antigen-expressing tumors is due to unknown mechanisms of tumor-intrinsic resistance. This suggests that the ability of radiation to potentiate CD8+ T cell responses is not due to its ability to enhance T cell numbers or activation (e.g. vaccination) but its ability to improve the intrinsic susceptibility of tumors to control by T cells.



Fig. 2-4 *Listeria*-induced T cells are cytotoxic *in vivo* and traffic to tumors despite being unable to control tumor growth. A) i) Representative immunohistochemistry images from paraffin-embedded zinc-fixed Panc02SIY tumors harvested from mice treated with *Listeria-SIY* at indicated times following tumor challenge or given no treatment (NT). Tumors were harvested at 27 days following tumor challenge. 5μM tissue sections were stained with CD3-DAB (brown) and counterstained with hematoxylin and eosin ii) Quantification of images represented in i) where each dot represents a representative section from an individual animal. B) i) Treatment schematic. Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice were challenged with Panc02SIY tumors followed by treatment

with *Listeria-SIY*, *Listeria-Ova*, 12 Gy radiation (RT), or no treatment (NT). Tumors were harvested seven days after treatment and processed for analysis of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. ii) Representative flow cytometry dot plots of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells described in i), quantification of iii) MHC-multimer binding or iv) Nur77-GFP expression of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells. C) *in vivo* cytotoxicity of *Listeria*-induced CD8+ T cells. Briefly, CD45.2⁺ mice were vaccinated with *Listeria-Ova* or *Listeria-SIY* and seven days later given CFSE-labelled, peptide-pulsed splenocytes from CD45.1⁺ SJL mice i) representative dot plot of splenocytes harvested six hours after donor splenocyte challenge, ii) representative histograms of CFSE-labeled CD45.1⁺ cells from unvaccinated, *Listeria-Ova* (*LmOva*) vaccinated or *Listeria-SIY* (*LmSIY*) vaccinated mice, iii) quantification of percent specific lysis in untreated (NT), *Listeria-Ova* (*LmOva*) vaccinated, or *Listeria-SIY* (*LmSIY*) vaccinated mice. Key: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; p<0.0001; ns = not significant.

2.4.5 Cancer cells are intrinsically resistant to killing but can be modified to increase susceptibility to control by CD8+ T cells

The ability of cancer cells to evade detection by the immune system is a hallmark of cancer (3) and has been discussed to some extent in chapter one of this thesis. Likewise, the ability of cancer therapies to disrupt cancer resistance to immunity is of significant interest to the field. To test whether Panc02SIY100 could be modified to improve susceptibility to control by LmSIY-induced CD8+ T cells, we developed an assay using an Incucyte (Sartorius) to monitor cancer cell growth microscopically in vitro over a time course (Fig. 2-5A). In order to monitor cancer cells separately from T cells, we used a confluence mask only over the portions of cells expressing GFP (Fig. 2-5Aii versus Fig. 2-5Aiii), which broadly tracked with overall growth confluence (Fig.2-5Aiv). This assay allowed visualization of killing of SIY-expressing cancer cells by T cells in vitro while quantitatively tracking cancer cell growth. To test whether Listeria-induced CD8+ T cells were capable of killing antigen-matched cancer cells and whether T killing could be enhanced by pretreatment of cancer cells with the potent pro-inflammatory cytokine interferon-gamma (IFNy), cancer cells were cocultured with CD8+ T cells harvested from LmSIY- or LmOva- vaccinated mice. Strikingly, LmSIY-induced CD8+ T cells were no better at controlling cancer cells in vitro than control T cells in the absence of cytokine pretreatment (Fig. 2-5Bii). Additionally, incubating cancer cells with IFNy for 24 hours and washing prior to administration of the T cells was sufficient to markedly improve control of tumor cells to control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells (Fig. 2-5Bi and Fig 2-5Bii). Taken together, these results indicate that Panc02SIY100 cancer cells are intrinsically resistant to control by CD8+ T cells but can be modified to improve susceptibility to control. In Chapter 3, we discuss how radiation might drive these alterations to improve therapeutic control of cancer by T cells.



Fig. 2-5 Cancer cells can be modified by cytokines to increase susceptibility to killing by *Listeria*-induced CD8+ T cells. A) Characterization of assay to track *in vitro* cancer cell growth. i) Incucyte image of Panc02SIY100 cells expressing GFP. ii) Incucyte image in i) with confluence mask. iii) Incucyte image in i) with confluence mask only over GFP expression. iv) Quantification of cancer cell growth by phase (as in ii) or GFP (as in iii). B) Panc02SIY100 cell growth in coculture with *Listeria-SIY* induced CD8+ T cells i) Representative Incucyte images from Panc02SIY100 cells untreated (left) or treated with IFNγ (right) prior to addition of T cells at 25:1 effector:target ratio. ii) Panc02SIY100 growth chart following the addition of *Listeria-Ova* (*LmOva*) or *Listeria-SIY* (*LmSIY*) induced CD8+ T cells at 100:1 effector:target ratio.

2.5 Discussion

There are many challenges to creating effective therapeutic cancer vaccines including lack of known antigens, low expression of MHC-I on cancer cells, and failure of T cells in blood to penetrate the tumor (22, 61, 289-292). While there is no shortage of innovation in the field in designing novel vaccine strategies (61, 293), some of these barriers may be overcome by using radiation as an *in situ* vaccine: radiation-mediated vaccination uses dying tumor cells as an antigen source and radiotherapy can modulate the tumor environment to favor antigen presentation and trafficking of CD8+ T cells (127, 128, 229, 294). However, it is unclear whether control of tumors mediated by CD8+ T cells following irradiation is due to these vaccine effects or which other immune modulatory effects might permit T cell control. In this study, we used a live-attenuated *Listeria monocytogenes* vaccine expressing tumor antigen peptides in order to model vaccination in the absence of other radiation-mediated immune modulation and found that vaccination is not sufficient to explain how radiation enhances control of cancer cells.

Listeria-generated CD8+ T cells are capable of cytotoxicity and traffic to antigenexpressing tumors; however, the presence of these cells is not sufficient to control tumors. *In vitro*, we demonstrated that cancer cells are resistant to immune-mediated control, suggesting that the tumor microenvironment was not responsible for suppression of vaccine-generated T cells (Fig. 2-5). We found, however, that modulation of cancer cells using inflammatory cytokine (IFN_Y) was sufficient to permit control by *Listeria*-induced CD8+ T cells (Fig. 2-5). These results suggest that radiation might alter cancer cell phenotypes in order to permit control by antigen-specific T cells.

The findings here concur with prior observations that tumor control by radiotherapy and checkpoint inhibitors depends on pre-existing immune responses rather than by vaccination by tumor irradiation (124). In preclinical models, implantation of cancer cells

can induce CD8+ T cell priming sufficient to establish T cell memory and can cause spontaneous rejection of immunogenic tumors (8, 124, 243, 295, 296); in models were pre-existing anti-tumor immunity is not present, additional vaccination is necessary to permit tumor control by radiation and checkpoint inhibition (297). While vaccination effects by radiation have been observed here and elsewhere (220), these data suggest that this response is inadequate to generate sufficiently effective T cells for tumor control.

While the traditional goal of radiotherapy is to induce cancer cell death, it is well established that sublethal irradiation can alter the ability of T cells to control cancer cells (26, 27, 127, 277, 298). Work by James Hodge and colleagues highlighted the upregulation of MHC-I by radiation as a potential means for augmenting these interactions (229). In this study, the authors proposed that increased MHC-I expression by radiation was due to the upregulation of mTOR and increased intracellular peptide pools resulting in enhanced peptide loading and cell surface expression of pMHC-I complexes; in order to inhibit this pathway, cells were treated with the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin, resulting in decreased MHC-I expression and attenuated control by T cells following radiation. These studies are confused, however, by the multifaceted role of mTOR signaling in both cancer cells and T cells, including regulating proliferation, cell cycle, metabolism, and protein synthesis (299-301). Studies isolating MHC-I modulation as a potential mechanism for enhanced T cell function following cancer irradiation are therefore lacking; we aim to address this deficit in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3: Induction of NLRC5 and upregulation of MHC-I induced by radiation as a key mechanism driving CD8+ T cell responses

Lauren K. Zebertavage^{1,2}, Alejandro Alice², Marka R. Crittenden^{2,3}, Michael J. Gough²

1 Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239

2 Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Portland, OR 97213

3 The Oregon Clinic, Portland, OR 97220

3.1 Abstract

Work by our group and others has demonstrated that cancer cells can be intrinsically resistant to control by CD8+ T cells and that radiation can alleviate some of this suppression. However, due to the broad capacity of radiation to modulate the immune responses, the precise means of how radiation can permit CD8+ T cell killing is unclear. Here, we aimed to explore the role of augmentation of MHC-I expression on cancer cells by radiation in permitting control by T cells. We found that radiation-mediated upregulation of MHC-I on cancer cells was not dependent on the ability of cancer cells to respond to STING ligands or type I interferon but found instead that radiation was able to upregulate the MHC-I transactivator, NLRC5, independent of these pathways. We found that NLRC5 expression correlated with basal MHC-I expression and that upregulation of NLRC5 was sufficient to enhance MHC-I expression on cancer cells. Significantly, we found that while NLRC5 upregulation did not improve CD8+ T cell recognition of MHC-lo cancer cells, antigen-matched T cells were better able to control NLRC5^{hi} cancer cells than NLRC5¹⁰ controls. These results suggest that radiation might enhance the susceptibility of cancer cells to control by CD8+ T cells through upregulation of MHC-I via NLRC5.

3.2 Introduction

Broadly, the ability of the killer cells of the immune system to exert cytotoxic functions requires a signaling threshold within the cell to shift from a state where these functions are inhibited to a state where they are favored (i.e. where positive signaling overcomes negative signaling). For CD8+ T cells, a population of potentially potent cytotoxic cells with the ability to specifically control cancer cells while largely sparing healthy tissue, this threshold of activation has come under increasing scrutiny following the unprecedentedly wide success of checkpoint inhibitor therapies such as antibody blockade of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 as discussed in Chapter 1. Blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 signaling axis in particular directly favors positive signaling through the T cell receptor by alleviating suppressive signaling of CD28 via SHP-2 (94, 302). This understanding highlights our ability to augment T cell efficacy in cancer therapies by inhibiting negative signaling and, potentially, enhancing positive signaling.

The ability of radiation to augment the ability of CD8+ T cells to respond to cancer targets is well-established (229, 298, 303), although the mechanisms by which irradiation effects this change is unclear. Among the most compelling modifications to cancer cells induced by radiation is the upregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules. Work by Eric Reits and James Hodge proposed that radiation increases MHC-I expression on cancer cells by increasing intracellular peptide pools and thus increasing the favorability of peptide binding to MHC-I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum (229), while others have proposed that MHC-I upregulation is mediated by type I interferons (IFN-I) downstream of activation of the cGAS-STING pathway (201). The functional consequences of MHC-I upregulation on target tumor cells is also unclear, given the theoretical ability of activated CD8+ T cells to kill target cells while engaging only 1-3 peptide-MHC-I (pMHC) complexes, although the impact of

epitope density on enhancing the magnitude and function of novel CD8+ T cell responses is clear (273).

In this chapter, we explore the ability of radiation to improve the susceptibility of normally resistant cancer cells to control by CD8+ T cells. We hypothesized that the ability of T cells to better control cancer cells is due to upregulation of MHC-I driven by radiation and explore the mechanism by which radiation increases MHC-I expression. Finally, we describe a novel mechanism for the induction of MHC-I by radiation through the transcriptional upregulation of NLRC5 independent of STING and IFN-I signaling.

3.3 Materials and Methods

Animals and Cell Lines

Animal protocols were approved by the Earle A. Chiles Research Institute IACUC (Animal Welfare Assurance No. A3913-01). All experiments were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. 5-8 week old C57BL/6 mice (Stock #000664) and B6.129S7-Rag1^{tm1Mom}/J (Rag1^{-/-}) mice (Stock #002216) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) for use in these experiments. Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice were kindly provided by Dr. Weinburg (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Portland, OR)(281). 2C transgenic mice were kindly provided by Dr. Gajewski (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL), bred in-house and crossed with Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice. OT-1 transgenic mice were gifted by Dr. Redmond (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute). Survival experiments were performed with 6-8 mice per group.

Cell lines were cultured in RPMI-1640 (HyClone, Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Cat#10082147, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 2mM L-glutamine (Cat#SH3003401, HyClone, Fisher), 10mM HEPES (Cat#HOL06, Caisson Labs, Smithfield, UT), 100U/mL penicillin-streptomycin (Cat#PSL01, Caisson), 1X non-essential amino acids (Cat#SH3023801, Fisher), 1mM sodium pyruvate (Cat#PYL01, Caisson). The parental murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line Panc02 was kindly provided by Dr. Woo (Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY). Panc02 expressing the model antigen SIY was kindly provided by Dr. Weishelbaum (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL), as used previously(124), and expresses GFP-SIY in approximately 40% of cells. Panc02SIY100 was derived and expanded from a high GFP expressing single clone within Panc02SIY on a BD FACSAria II cell sorter (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Panc02SIY neg was similarly derived from a low GFP expressing clone sorted from Panc02SIY on a BD

FACSAria II cell sorter. PK5L1940 was generated from established spontaneous pancreatic tumors in Pdx-Cre^{+/-}Kras^{(G12D)+/-}Trp53^{(R172H)+/-}SIY⁺ as previously described(124).

Antibodies and Reagents

Viability staining was performed in PBS using Zombie Aqua Fixable Viability Kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) for 15 minutes prior to staining with fluorescentlyconjugated antibodies for flow cytometry. Monoclonal antibodies were used against: CD3 [17A2], CD4 [RM4-5], CD8α [53-6.7], IFNAR1 [MAR1-5A3], IFNγ [XMG1.2], H-2Kb [AF6-88.5.5.3], and TNFα [MP6-XT22].

For *in vitro* stimulation of cell lines, recombinant mouse IFN-beta protein (Cat#8234-MB-101/CF, RND Systems, Minneapolis, MN) at a final concentration of 1 x 10³ U/mL, recombinant mouse IFN-gamma protein (Cat#14-8311-63, Thermo Fisher) at a final concentration of 20ng/mL and mammalian 2'3'-cGAMP (Cat#tlrl-nacga23-02, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA) at a final concentration of 25µg/mL were used. Cancer cells were irradiated before plating by timed exposure to a Cs¹³⁷ source in a Gammacell Elan 3000 (MDS Nordion, Ottawa, ON, CAN).

Gene Editing of Cancer Cell Lines

Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 was derived from Panc02SIY100 cells transfected with a plasmid harboring the sequence for hNLRC5 under the constitutive promoter eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha (EF-1α) (Cat#pUNO1-hNLRC5, Invivogen, San Diego, CA). Cells with constitutively high expression of MHC-I were isolated by cell sorting using a BD FACSAria II cell sorter.

IFNAR knockout Panc02SIY100 and PK5L1940 cell lines were generated using Alt-R S.p. Cas9 Nuclease 3NLS (Cat#192528883, Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA), Alt-R CRISPR-Cas9 tracrRNA ATTO 550 (Cat#129528884, IDT), Opti-MEM I Reduced Serum Medium (Cat#31985062, Thermo Fisher), Lipofectamine CRISPRMAX Cas9 Transfection Reagent (Cat#CMAX00015, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and predesigned Alt-R CRISPR-Cas9 crRNA guide RNAs (IFNAR1 sequence: 5'-TCAGTTACACCATACGAATC-3'). Three gRNAs were tested for each target and pure populations were isolated from single cells (Panc02SIY100) or five cells (PK5L1940) based on ability to upregulate MHC-I in response to cytokine stimulation using a BD FACSAria II cell sorter.

Immunotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Tumors

Tumors were inoculated at a dose of 5×10^6 for Panc02SIY tumors, 10×10^6 for Panc02SIY100 and 10×10^6 for Panc02SIY100-IFNAR tumors. Tumor size was determined via caliper measurements of the longest length x the longest perpendicular width. Survival endpoint was defined as tumor size greater than or equal to 150mm² or when the mouse appeared moribund.

For *in vivo* experiments, 12 Gy of CT-guided radiation was administered to tumor isocenters using a Small Animal Research Radiation Platform (SARRP) (Xstrahl, Suwanee, GA) and Murislice software (Xstrahl), 14 days after tumor implantation. 250µg per dose αPD-L1 checkpoint blockade (Cat#BE101, BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH) was administered intraperitoneally at day 7, 14 and 21 post tumor implantation.

For adoptive T cell transfer, naïve CD8+ T cells were harvested as splenocytes from naïve 2C or OT-I mice and activated *in vitro* with α CD3 ϵ (Cat#BE0001-1, BioXCell) and α CD28 (Cat#BE0015-1) at a final concentration of 10µg/mL each. After 48 hours, cells were rinsed with 10% complete RPMI supplemented with β -mercaptoethanol (β ME) (Cat#21985023, Gibco, Thermo Fisher) and plated with 60IU/mL human recombinant IL-

2 (Chiron) for three days. Prior to retro-orbital intravenous injection, CD8+ T cells were purified from splenocytes using a CD8 α + T cell negative isolation kit (Cat#130-104-075, Miltenyi), rinsed in sterile PBS and diluted to 1e6 cells per 100µl injection volume.

In vitro T Cell Coculture Assays

Prior to coculture with cancer cells, CD8+ T cells were harvested as splenocytes from naïve animals and activated *in vitro* with α CD3 ϵ (Cat#BE0001-1, BioXCell) and α CD28 (Cat#BE0015-1) at a final concentration of 10µg/mL each. After 48 hours, cells were rinsed with 10% complete RPMI supplemented with β -mercaptoethanol (β ME) (Cat#21985023, Gibco, Thermo Fisher) and plated with 60IU/mL human recombinant IL-2 (Chiron) for three days. Prior to coculture, CD8+ T cells were purified from splenocytes using a CD8 α + T cell negative isolation kit (Cat#130-104-075, Miltenyi).

Cancer cell growth was monitored using an Incucyte (Sartorius, Goettingen, Germany) and Zoom software (Incucyte, Sartorius). Briefly, cancer cells were plated in the presence of cytokines or following *in vitro* irradiation. After 24 hours, adherent cells were rinsed twice in 10% complete RPMI supplemented with βME. Purified CD8+ T cells were added to cancer cell cultures at a 5:1 effector:target ratio. Non-adherent cells were allowed to settle for 15 minutes at room temperature prior to hourly tracking in the Incucyte, housed at 36.5°C/5%CO₂, until untreated cells reached confluence. In order to isolate cancer cells from T cells for analysis, endogenous green fluorescence was used as a proxy for cell confluence.

Cytokine production by T cells during coculture was determined after four-hour incubation with brefeldin A (Cat#B7450, Thermo Fisher). Non-adherent cells were harvested, surface stained and permeablized using BD cytofix/cytoperm fixation and permeabilization solution (Cat#554655, Becton Dickinson), then frozen at -80°C

overnight. The next day, cells were thawed and rinsed twice with perm/wash buffer (Cat#554723, Becton Dickinson) and stained for intracellular cytokines.

Immunoblotting

Briefly, cells from pancreatic cell lines were washed twice with PBS and lysed in Pierce RIPA Buffer (Cat#8990, Thermo) supplemented with Halt Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail 100X (Cat#78440, Thermo). Protein concentrations were quantified using Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Cat#23225, Thermo). Samples were denatured at 95°C in XT Sample Buffer 4X (Cat#1610791, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) and loaded onto 4-12% Criterion XT Bis-Tris Protein Gels (Cat#345-0124, Bio-Rad). Proteins were transferred onto PVDF Transfer Membrane (Cat#88518, Thermo) and probed for STING (Cat#13647S, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), IRF3 (Cat#4302S, Cell Signaling) and GAPDH (Cat#2118S, Cell Signaling). HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Cat#31460, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was used as a secondary antibody. Proteins were visualized using SuperSignal West Pico PLUS Chemiluminescent Substrate (Cat#34580, Thermo).

Statistics

Data was analyzed and graphed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR) and Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Individual data sets were compared using Welch's T tests. Growth curves and analysis across multiple groups were analyzed using ANOVA (two-way and one-way, respectively).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Radiation improves the susceptibility of cancer to control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells

In order to determine whether tumor irradiation improves the ability of antigenspecific CD8+ T cells to control tumor growth, mice bearing dual flank Panc02SIY100 tumors were adoptively transferred with in vitro activated CD8+ T cells from antigen matched (SIYRYYGL-reactive, 2C) or control (SIINFEKL-reactive, OT-I) TCR transgenic mice and treated with 12 Gy radiation to one flank tumor (Fig. 3-1Ai). Unirradiated tumors in both 2C- and OT-I-bearing mice grew at the same rate, indicating that Panc02SIY100 tumors in vivo are resistant to killing by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells (Fig. 3-1Aii), in agreement with experiments with Listeria monocytogenes vaccines discussed in Chapter 2. Conversely, irradiated tumors were controlled significantly better by antigen-specific T cells than by control T cells (Fig. 3-1Aii), suggesting that radiation improved the ability of CD8+ T cells to react to cognate antigen-expressing tumors in vivo. In order to determine whether radiation improved the intrinsic susceptibility of cancer cells to control by T cells irradiated cancer cells were cocultured with in vitro activated CD8+ T cells derived from 2C or OT-I mice and the growth of the cancer cells was tracked with an Incucyte (Sartorius). While unirradiated cancer cells were similarly controlled by both antigen-specific and control T cells, irradiated cancer cells were significantly better controlled by the antigen-specific 2C cells (Fig. 3-1B). These results demonstrate that radiation augments the susceptibility of irradiated cancer cells to killing by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells.



Fig. 3-1 Radiation enhances the ability of CD8+ T cells to control Panc02SIY100. A) Treatment schematic. Rag1^{-/-} mice were implanted with dual flank Panc02SIY100 tumors followed by adoptive transfer of *in vitro* activated 2C or OT-I CD8+ T cells. One day after adoptive transfer tumors were irradiated with 12 Gy on one flank. B) Tumor growth curves for animals treated as in A. Lines represent average tumor area of each tumor group, n=4. Blue lines represent tumors areas in mice bearing 2C T cells and red lines represent tumor areas in mice bearing OT-I T cells. C) Panc02SIY100 growth curves measured with an Incucyte using GFP as a proxy for confluence. Cancer cells were irradiated or pretreated with IFNy and plated 24 hours prior to coculture with *in vitro* activated CD8+ T cells derived from 2C or OT-I mice. Key: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ****p<0.0001; ns = not significant.

3.4.2 Radiation increases cancer cell expression of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I)

Previous studies have examined how radiation alters the phenotype of cancer cells to improve control by immune cells, as discussed in Chapter 1. Among these potential alterations, upregulation of major histocompatibility class I (MHC-I) by cancer cells was of significant interest due to the essential role of MHC-I in permitting recognition of target cells by CD8+ T cells. The murine pancreatic cancer cell lines Panc02SIY100 and PK5L1940 express very low levels of MHC-I at baseline but expression can be augmented by interferon-gamma (IFNγ) cytokine stimulation (Fig. 3-2Ai and 3-2Aii), demonstrating the potential for therapeutic modulation. Accordingly, we demonstrated that MHC-I expression can be enhanced by *in vitro* irradiation over 24 to 72 hours (Fig. 3-2Bi and 3-2Bii). Considering these results, we hypothesized that upregulation of MHC-I by radiation improved the susceptibility of cancer cells to control by CD8+ T cells.





3.4.3 Upregulation of MHC-I on cancer cells by radiation is independent of STING and IFNAR signaling

In order to determine whether MHC-I upregulation was necessary for radiationinduced augmentation of T cell mediated control of cancer cells, we attempted to engineer cancer cells to disrupt signaling pathways proposed to drive MHC-I upregulation by radiation. Studies have demonstrated that the cGAS-STING pathway plays an essential role in radiation-induced tumor clearance by T cells (125, 215) and it has been proposed that the production of type I interferons (IFN-I) downstream of STING signaling leads to upregulation of MHC-I downstream of the type I interferon receptor (IFNAR) (201, 275). While attempting to engineer STING knockout cancer cells, however, we observed that several pancreatic cell lines, including Panc02SIY100, have very low expression of STING protein (Fig. 3-3A) and are insensitive to upregulation of MHC-I by exogenous application of the endogenous STING ligand 2'3'-cGAMP (Fig. 3-3B). These results concur with work suggesting that STING is not uniformly expressed in cancer cells and that deregulation of STING signaling can correlate with immune evasion and cancer progression (304-306). Notably, however, cell lines which have low expression of STING and are insensitive to STING ligand are still able to upregulation MHC-I in response to radiation. These results suggest that upregulation of MHC-I is not dependent on the STING pathway.

In order to determine whether MHC-I upregulation is dependent on IFN-I signaling, activated through other nucleic acid sensors, we engineered murine pancreatic cancer cell lines to disrupt expression of IFNAR1, an essential component of the IFNAR heterodimer. We demonstrated that IFNAR1^{ko} cell lines have significantly reduced capacity for upregulation of MHC-I by interferon-beta (IFNβ) (Fig 3-4A). Importantly, however, cancer cells which cannot respond to IFN-I still upregulate MHC-I

equivalently to control cells (Fig. 3-4B). These results demonstrate that IFNAR signaling is not necessary for the upregulation of MHC-I by radiation in these cancer cells. To determine whether the loss of IFN-I signaling in cancer cells affects the therapeutic response to radiotherapy, we treated mice bearing Panc02SIY100-IFNAR1^{ko} tumors with radiation and PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. *In vivo*, IFNAR1^{ko} tumors grow faster than controls but are cured by single-agent radiotherapy at similar rates and synergy between radiotherapy and αPD-L1 is similarly observed (Fig. 3-4C); it is unclear whether the reduction in survival for IFNAR^{ko} tumor bearing mice treated with combination radiation and αPD-L1 blockade is due to the increased growth rate of tumors outpacing therapy or if these cells produce tumors which are intrinsically more resistant to the combination therapy. Taken together, these experiments demonstrate that cGAS-STING/IFNAR signaling is not necessary for the upregulation of MHC-I in our pancreatic cancer cell lines and that IFN-I signaling through cancer cells is not necessary for tumor cure by radiotherapy with PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade.



Fig. 3-3 Pancreatic cancer cell lines unable to respond to exogenous STING ligand are able to upregulate MHC-I in response to radiation. A) Pancreatic cancer cell lines processed for protein and immunoblotted against STING, IRF3 and GAPDH. B) MHC-I (H2K^b) mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of pancreatic cancer cell lines 72 hours following irradiation or culture in the presence of 2'3'-cGAMP, measured by flow cytometry. Key: p<0.05; *p<0.01; ****p<0.001; ns = not significant.





3.4.4 NLRC5 expression correlates with MHC-I expression in murine pancreatic cancer cell lines

As discussed in Chapter 1, a key genetic driver of MHC-I expression is the MHC Class I Transactivator (CITA, or NLRC5) (250, 259), a reported target of immune evasion in human cancers (265). We observed that NLRC5 expression by pancreatic cancer cells correlated with basal MHC-I expression (Fig. 3-5A) in accordance with previous studies (307), and questioned whether modulation of NLRC5 expression might play a role in MHC-I induction by radiotherapy. In order to determine if radiation altered expression of NLRC5, cancer cells were treated with radiation in vitro and mRNA transcripts were quantified by qRT-PCR. Radiation significantly upregulated expression of NLRC5 along with genes associated with antigen presentation, B2M and TAP1, which can be regulated by the NLRC5 transactivation complex (Fig. 3-5B). Notably, radiation was similarly able to upregulate NLRC5 and B2M in Panc02SIY100-IFNAR1^{ko} cells (Fig. 3-5C), but did not upregulate NLRC5 in Panc02 cells (Fig. 3-5D), which have high basal expression of the gene (Fig. 3-5Ai). These results suggest that radiation can augment antigen presentation through genetic regulation of MHC-I associated genes, including by upregulation of NLRC5, in an IFNAR-independent manner. These results also suggest that NLRC5 upregulation is not responsible for augmentation of MHC-I expression in cells with high basal expression of NLRC5.

In order to determine if induction of NLRC5 is sufficient to augment expression of MHC-I in cancer cells, we engineered Panc02SIY100 cells to express NLRC5 under the constitutive eukaryotic promoter, EF-1α (Fig. 3-5Ei), generating a new cell line, Panc02SIY100-NLRC5. Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 expressed constitutively high levels of MHC-I, demonstrating that augmenting NLRC5 expression is sufficient to increase expression of MHC-I in these cancer cells.



Fig. 3-5 NLRC5 expression correlates with MHC-I expression in murine pancreatic cancer cell lines. A) i) qRT-PCR analysis of basal NLRC5 transcription of pancreatic cancer cell lines. ii) Representative flow cytometry histograms of basal MHC-I (H2K^b) expression by pancreatic cancer cell lines. B) qRT-PCR analysis of radiation-induced transcription of NLRC5, B2M, and TAP1 normalized to untreated Panc02SIY100 cells. Cancer cells were analyzed 72 hours following irradiation *in vitro*. C) qRT-PCR analysis of radiation-induced transcription of NLRC5 and B2M normalized to untreated Panc02SIY100-IFNAR1^{ko} cells. Cancer cells were analyzed 72 hours following irradiation *in vitro*. D) qRT-PCR analysis of radiation-induced transcription of NLRC5 normalized to untreated Panc02 cells. Cancer cells were analyzed 72 hours following irradiation *in vitro*. E) i) Panc02SIY100 cells were transfected with NLRC5 under a constitutive EF-1α promoter. ii) Representative flow cytometry histograms of basal MHC- I (H2K^b) expression by pancreatic cancer cell lines including cells transfected to express basal NLRC5, Panc02SIY100-NLRC5. Key: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; ***p<0.001; ****p<0.0001; ns = not significant.

3.4.5 Cancer cell expression of NLRC5 is sufficient to enhance MHC-I expression and control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells

Reduction of MHC-I expression by cancer is a well-established immune evasion strategy which is thought to reduce ability of CD8+ T cells to recognize tumor targets (308). I hypothesized that NLRC5 expression would therefore increase CD8+ T cell recognition of tumor antigen by upregulating MHC-I. To determine if constitutive expression of NLRC5 increased the ability of CD8+ T cells to recognize cognate antigen, I cocultured cancer cells with naïve T cells from 2C TCR transgenic mice crossed with Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice, which express GFP when the T cell receptor (TCR) engages with cognate pMHC. Interestingly, recognition of cancer cells was very high by 2C cells cocultured with control Panc02SIY100 cancer cells expressing low basal MHC-I and, accordingly, enhanced NLRC5 expression did not improve this level of recognition (Fig. 3-6A), indicating that recognition of antigen was intact despite low levels of MHC-I expression. In order to test whether enhanced NLRC5 expression improved the functional responses of T cells to antigen, we examined cytokine secretion by 2C cells cocultured with Panc02SIY100 and Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 and determined that NLRC5 expression was sufficient to enhance the ability of T cells to secrete effector cytokines (IFNy and TNF α) (Fig. 3-6B), suggesting that there are different thresholds for recognition of antigen via the TCR, indicated by Nur77-GFP expression, and exertion of effector function by CD8+ T cells.

In order to confirm that enhanced expression of NLRC5 is sufficient to enhance control of cancer cells by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells, Panc02SIY100 and Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 were cocultured with *in vitro* activated 2C and OT-I control CD8+ T cells. While Panc02SIY100 cells were resistant to control by 2C cells as before, Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 were significantly more susceptible to control by antigen-specific

CD8+ T cells. These results indicate that expression of NLRC5 is sufficient to permit control of antigen-matched cancer cells by CD8+ T cells through enhanced effector functions.




3.5 Discussion

Downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules on cancer cells represents a major immune evasion tactic of murine and human cancers (309-312) and, accordingly, increasing MHC-I expression has been identified as a key target for effective immunotherapy (271, 308, 313). In the present study we have demonstrated that radiation increases MHC-I expression on cancer cell surfaces, enhances susceptibility of normally resistant cancer cells to control by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells and identified a novel mechanism of MHC-I regulation by induction of NLRC5 gene expression.

Differential responses of CD8+ T cells to varying pMHC (peptide-MHC complex) concentration have been observed previously, wherein increased epitope density corresponds with greater responsiveness to IL-2, enhanced proliferation and increased cytotoxic function including cytokine production (273, 314, 315). This phenomenon is better understood in naïve T cells, where high levels of antigen presentation in combination with costimulation and integrin stabilization are required to generate a stable immunological synapse and to cross an activation threshold of T cell receptor (TCR) signaling (273, 316). In activated T cells, pMHC:TCR interactions at the kinapse are much shorter: a single pMHC complex can serially engage with rapidly internalizing TCRs and a CD8+ T cell can exert cytotoxic functions after engaging with as few as 1-3 pMHC complexes per target cell (317, 318). It is clear that higher concentrations of pMHC can engage more TCRs and it has been proposed that serial engagement of the TCR allows increased stability and enhanced signaling within the TCR/pMHC-I/CD8 molecular complex (315). Functionally, downregulation of MHC-I induced by viral infection can significantly attenuate the ability of CD8+ T cells to kill infected targets (319). Interestingly, expression of the early activation marker CD69 appears to be independent of epitope density (320), corresponding with the data presented here

demonstrating equivalent expression of Nur77 by naïve T cells cultured with MHC-I^b Panc02SIY100 versus MHC-I^{hi} Panc02SIY100-NLRC5. However, we observed improved IFNγ and TNFα production by activated CD8+ T cells cultured with MHC-I^{hi} Panc02SIY100-NLRC5 cells in line with previous observations that increased epitope density is associated with increased T cell functional activation. Cumulatively, these data suggest that different densities of pMHC can activate different thresholds in T cells for expression of early activation markers, cytolytic degranulation and cytotoxic cytokine release (321). These experiments support the hypothesis that increased engagement of T cell receptors of effector CD8+ T cells enhances cytotoxic effector functions over those with minimally engaged TCRs. This work agrees with findings that tumor downregulation of antigen presentation via MHC-I correlates with checkpoint blockade resistance in human patients (271, 313) and highlights that total loss of MHC-I is not necessary for resistance to T cells.

In this study, we propose a novel mechanism for increasing MHC-I density on cancer cell surfaces induced by radiation. Previous studies of MHC-I regulation by radiation have primarily focused on two distinct mechanisms for induction. One mechanism has highlighted tumor-derived type I interferon (IFN-I) signaling following irradiation as a mechanism of MHC-I induction (201). IFN-I secretion has been observed following cancer cell irradiation downstream of activation of cGAS/STING signaling (194), but we found that MHC-I expression on cancer cells following irradiation was not attenuated by knockdown of the IFN-I receptor (IFNAR). Additionally, we observed very little expression of STING in pancreatic cell lines that upregulated MHC-I in response to radiation. Together, these data suggest that in these models MHC-I upregulation is not dependent on IFN-I or STING signaling. Alternatively, another mechanism has proposed that RT-induced protein damage and enhanced mTOR signaling, as a means to facilitate damage repair responses, leads to increased abundance of intracellular peptide pools

and enhanced MHC-I loading to the cell surface (229). We found that genes involved in antigen presentation on MHC-I, including the MHC-I transactivator NLRC5, were upregulated following treatment, but surprisingly that this was not mediated via STING-mediated innate sensing leading to type I IFN signaling. To our knowledge this represents a novel mechanism of MHC-I induction on cancer cells by radiation. Together with data showing increased cytokine release by CD8+ T cells cultured with NLRC5-expressing Panc02SIY100, these data support our proposal that induction of NLRC5 by radiation enhances the ability of T cells to functionally respond to cancer cells expressing cognate antigen allowing for tumor regression and clearance. Further experiments are required, however, to determine whether induction of NLRC5 is necessary for the induction of MHC-I by radiation or increased susceptibility of cancer cells to control by CD8+ T cells.

Chapter 4: Concluding Remarks

4.1 Summary and Conclusions

The traditional role of radiotherapy in cancer treatment is to maximize direct killing of cancer cells while preserving normal tissue function; however, in part due to restrictions in radiation regimes due to normal tissue toxicity, tumor irradiation can leave behind viable cancer cells capable of leading to disease recurrence. In this manuscript, we have aimed to explore the way that sublethal radiation, that is radiation which does not entirely ablate the tumor on its own, can enhance CD8+ T cell responses to clear residual disease.

We first aimed to establish whether vaccination by radiotherapy, also called *in situ* vaccination, was sufficient to explain immune-mediated tumor clearance by radiation. Previous reports by our lab demonstrated that T cell-mediated regression of tumors by radiation requires pre-existing CD8+ T cell immunity (124), suggesting that radiotherapy functioned poorly to prime/initiate novel T cell responses. This study, however, did not address whether T cell boosting, or reactivation and expansion of T cells, by radiation was sufficient to explain therapeutic efficacy. In order to model T cell boosting, we administered an exogenous vaccine capable of generating an order of magnitude higher tumor-specific CD8+ T cell in circulation and demonstrated that these cells had cytotoxic capacity, trafficked to tumors, and recognized antigen within tumors. Despite treatment-induced influx of T cells, however, tumors were refractory to vaccination alone or in combination with PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade therapy. Taken together, these results suggest that vaccination effects are not sufficient to explain the enhanced responses of CD8+ T cells driven by radiation, and raise questions

about whether radiotherapy might otherwise modulate the susceptibility of tumors to control by T cells.

Sublethal doses of radiation can alter cancer cell expression of proteins in a number of ways, but for these studies we were primarily interested in the role of augmentation of MHC-I expression (229) due to the integral role of antigen presentation in CD8+ T cell reactivity. In order to determine the role of radiation-mediated upregulation of MHC-I in enhancing CD8+ T cell responses, we examined candidate pathways which might play a role in cytokine-driven regulation of antigen presentation initiated by cancer cell irradiation, STING and type I interferon (IFN-I) (125, 201). We found, however, that our cancer cell lines express very low levels of STING protein and are insensitive to MHC-I induction by administration of exogenous STING ligands, suggesting that MHC-I upregulation occurs independently of the STING pathway. In order to determine whether, through means of alternate signaling, radiation induced the production of IFN-I and triggered MHC-I presentation through IFNAR, we used CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene editing to disrupt IFNAR and render cancer cells insensitive to IFN-I signaling. Here, however, we determined that radiation-mediated upregulation of MHC-I and that therapeutic efficacy of radiation do not require cancer cell signaling through IFNAR. These results suggest that radiotherapy augments antigen presentation on MHC-I through activation of alternate pathways not yet elucidated.

In order to address the question of whether upregulation of MHC-I was sufficient to enhance the ability of CD8+ T cells to control, we genetically engineered cancer cells to express the MHC-I class I transactivator, NLRC5. We found that radiotherapy was sufficient to induce upregulation of NLRC5 in MHC-I^{lo} cancer cells and found that expression of NLRC5 was sufficient to increase expression of NLRC5. These findings suggest that induction of NLRC5 expression may represent a novel mechanism of

upregulation of MHC-I in response to radiotherapy. We found that enhancement of NLRC5 expression by cancer cells did not improve recognition by CD8+ T cells, but was able to enhance the ability of T cells to control cancer cells *in vitro* and produce cytokines in response to cancer cells in culture. These results suggest that different amounts or densities of pMHC presentation on target cells, controlled in part by NLRC5 expression, can trigger different thresholds of activation in effector CD8+ T cells and prompt different therapeutic outcomes.

Taken together, the data presented here support a model in which radiotherapy augments MHC-I expression by cancer cells and the resulting increase in antigen presentation can enhance the ability of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells to control these cells (Fig. 4-1). In this model, radiotherapy functions primarily to potentiate pre-existing immune responses by altering the phenotype of target cancer cells, rather than by enhancing systemic immunity, in tumor models which are resistant to control by CD8+ T cells at baseline. Significantly for this work, studies have demonstrated that the gene for NLRC5 in human cancers is frequently epigenetically suppressed rather than genetically disrupted (263, 265), suggesting that NLRC5 expression can be therapeutically induced, possibly by radiotherapy, in these tumors. Taken together, the experiments presented here expand our understanding of how radiotherapy can be used to control local disease but suggest, unfortunately, that radiation of a primary tumor is unlikely to aid in the control of tumors at distal sites. Accordingly, the research presented here has, in part, provided justification for a clinical trial examining the efficacy of neoadjuvant immunoradiotherapy with PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC) in downstaging tumors prior to surgical resection (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03247712).



MHC-I Density on Cancer Cells

Fig. 4-1 Radiation-mediated induction of NLRC5 in cancer cells as a mechanism to enhance control by CD8+ T cells. The data presented in this manuscript support a model where effector CD8+ T cells differentially respond to target cells depending on expression of MHC-I on the cell surface, with different thresholds of activation for recognition (measured by Nur77 expression), cytokine production, and control/killing of target cells.

4.2 Future Directions

In this thesis, we have presented evidence to support a model where radiotherapy can upregulate antigen presentation on MHC-I on cancer cells by induction of NLRC5. These data add complexity to our previous understanding of MHC-I regulation by radiation, wherein augmentation of MHC-I expression might occur either downstream of mTOR activation and without modulation of gene transcription (229) or mediated by cancer cell intrinsic secretion of IFN-I and ligation of IFNAR, triggering transcription of interferon-stimulated genes and genetic upregulation of MHC-I (201, 275). Here we have shown that radiation can increase transcription of genes related to antigen presentation on MHC-I including NLRC5 in the absence of IFNAR signaling, demonstrating that alternative signaling pathways can play a role in MHC-I induction by cellular irradiation. While these insights aid in our understanding of how radiation can modulate cancer cell phenotypes to enhance anti-tumor immunity, significant gaps remain in our understanding of how the damage initiated by radiation triggers transcription of relevant genes in the absence of IFN-I as a cytokine mediator.

It is clear, based on the work presented here and elsewhere (229, 322, 323), that gene transcription and protein expression are altered following cellular irradiation, but it is unclear what cellular machinery and pathways facilitate these changes. Due to the wide-ranging roles of DNA repair apical kinases, which are activated downstream of radiation, in regulating chromatin structure, cell cycle, and gene expression (discussed in Chapter 1), we question whether activation of these protein kinases might mediate the transition of cancer cells from an immunologically silent phenotype to one which is capable of stimulating CD8+ T cells (e.g. through upregulation of antigen presentation). To our knowledge, a potential linkage between these two phenomena has not yet been elucidated and has the potential to directly tie the sensing of DNA damage within cancer

cells to enhancement of immunogenicity potentially selected for due to the potential for generation of neoantigens following incorporation of mutations by radiation-induced DNA damage. The question of whether ATR, ATM, or other members of DNA damage sensing pathways are essential to immune modulation of cancer may additionally be therapeutically relevant, considering that agents designed to sensitize tumors to radiotherapy by inhibition of DNA repair kinases including ATR and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) are being tested (324-328) and that therapeutically effective radiation regimes can require CD8+ T cells to control residual disease (20, 21). Thus, disruption of critical pathways required to allow CD8+ T cell sensing of cancer cells may increase susceptibility of patients treated with radiotherapy and DNA repair kinase inhibitors to disease recurrence.

While little is known about the link between DNA damage sensing and upregulation of MHC-I/NLRC5, studies indicate that ATR/ATM may be involved in regulation of expression of the immune inhibitory receptor PD-L1⁵ (329-331). The gene encoding PD-L1, CD274, is located on human chromosome 9p.24.1 and is frequently upregulated by copy number expansion in human disease (332-335). Expression of PD-L1 in human cancers appears to be regulated by a variety of factors including STAT3, HIF1, MYC, AP-1, and NF-kB (335-339). Cursory studies using shRNA or pharmaceutical inhibitors of ATR suggest that expression of PD-L1 in cancer cells can additionally be regulated by phosphorylated ATR via Chk1 and IRF1 (329, 340), although the precise signaling cascade is yet to be elucidated. Similar work with pharmaceutical inhibition of ATM demonstrated that blocking signaling through this pathway decreased PD-L1 expression by cancer cells following irradiation (329),

⁵ We and others have demonstrated that upregulation of PD-L1 and MHC-I are correlated following cancer cell irradiation or stimulation with interferon-gamma, suggesting that expression of these molecules are similarly regulated.

suggesting activated ATM kinase may also play a role in PD-L1 regulation. Together, this work suggests that expression of immune modulatory proteins such as PD-L1 and potentially MHC-I can be mediated by ATM/ATR/Chk1 kinases downstream of DNA damage induced by radiation.

It is important to note that the current paradigm regarding how radiation stimulates anti-tumor immunity is heavily focused on the role of cGAS/STING/IFNAR signaling and it is unclear to what degree this pathway mediates upregulation of PD-L1 downstream of radiotherapy. In the studies presented in this thesis, we disrupted IFNAR signaling and found MHC-I upregulation by radiation remained the same, but ATM/ATR signaling has been observed to enhance immunogenic signaling in cancer cells and antitumor immunity though cGAS/STING/IFNAR (275, 325, 329, 341). Interestingly, these effects are not necessarily dependent on induced damage by radiation and may be a result of chromosomal instability within cancer cells (342, 343). Due to the variable expression of STING pathway members in cancer models and human cancers (304, 306, 344, 345), it is of interest to determine the degree to which STING signaling is necessary for radiation-induced control of tumors by immune cells.

There are significant practical challenges to studying the role of DNA repair kinases in protein expression modulation following cellular irradiation. ATM, ATR, and Chk1 have integral roles in mediating DNA double-strand break (DSB) repair during mitosis (discussed in Chapter 1) and inhibition of these pathways results in significant sensitization of cancer cells to radiation-induced cell death. Accordingly, ATM/ATR deficiencies in cancer cells, which are commonly found in certain types human cancers and are associated with genomic instability, can are associated with greater sensitivity to radiation (346-350). While expression of ATM is important, it appears to be largely redundant in the presence of ATR, while a lack of functional ATR appears to be crucial

for dividing cells and ATR^{-/-} mice demonstrate early embryonic lethality (351). It is unclear to what degree enhancing cancer cell death signaling may affect the results of studies aimed to elucidate the significance of pathways controlled by these kinases in phenotype modulation.

Once potential solution to alleviate some of the impact of enhanced sensitization of cancer cells to radiation-induced cell death may be to replace the randomized and catastrophic DNA damage triggered by cellular irradiation with induction of genetic damage in known and non-essential segments of DNA. Experimental methods have been developed to generate controlled DSBs through genetic engineering of cell lines to express Cas9 or restriction enzymes, triggering chromatin remodeling and activation of DNA repair pathways (322, 352). These methods can activate ATM/ATR signaling in the absence of radiation and may be useful in determining the phenotypic consequences of activating these pathways while avoiding significant activation of cell death pathway signaling. Notably, it is unclear to what extent the genetic damage initiated by these methods replicates radiation-induced damage and it would be necessary to quantify and compare the extent to which they activate relevant signaling.

In this thesis, we have focused on a model where radiation acts on cancer cells predominantly through the induction of DSBs in genomic DNA, it should not be ignored that radiation can cause significant damage to cancer cells through additional means and it is unclear to what extent these other types of damage, including single-stranded breaks (SSBs) and oxidative damage by ROS generation, play in modulation of cancer cell inflammatory phenotypes. *Roux et al* suggest that oxidative damage, as is initiated by cellular irradiation, can trigger PD-L1 expression by initiating NF-κB signaling (338); it is unclear whether NF-κB signaling downstream of oxidative damage can similarly augment expression of MHC-I and whether this signaling may occur in parallel with

NLRC5-mediated MHC-I upregulation (251). It may be of interest to determine which aspects of radiation-initiated damage signaling, including those stimulated by oxidative damage, are responsible for immune phenotype modulation of cancer cells. This may have additional implications for immune modulation by a wide range of chemotherapeutic agents, some of which have been shown to enhance anti-tumor immunity (201, 353, 354).

Taken together, the findings presented in this thesis complement existing work demonstrating that cellular irradiation can lead to transcriptional alterations within and suggest that these previously underappreciated alterations might have significant impact on the interactions between treated cancer cells and immune cells. It will be important to elucidate the signaling pathways involved in order to better target treatments to enhance therapeutic benefits and avoid deleterious effects. The studies proposed here provide a jumping-off point from which basic biological pathways linking radiation-induced cellular damage to inflammatory cancer cell phenotypes, but it will additionally be important to better understand how these treatments affect immune cell function in *in vivo* settings.

Appendix A: Radiation and Vaccine Combination Therapy

The ability of radiotherapy to modulate anti-tumor CD8+ T cell responses was well-established prior to the beginning of this thesis (26, 123, 126, 229, 298, 303), but we questioned whether radiation responses were limited by a lack of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells able to respond to the newly altered tumor environment. Studies have demonstrated that radiotherapy can synergize with *Listeria* vaccines generating tumor model antigen-reactive T cell populations to control B16 melanoma and TRAMPC1 prostate tumors (355-357), suggesting that radiation can permit or enhance the activity of activated tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells in circulation.

In order to test whether radiation and *Listeria* vaccine synergized in our tumor models, we implanted mice with SCCVII-EGFRvIII tumors and treated the tumors with radiation and live-attenuated *Listeria monocytogenes* vaccines expressing a peptide antigen derived from EGFRvIII, EEKKGNYV (*LmEGFRvIII*) or a expressing an unrelated peptide (*LmOva*) (Fig. A-1A). In this model, radiation significantly extended the survival of mice inoculated with tumors but this effect was not enhanced by vaccination. In order to determine whether vaccination could improve the ability of radiation to control tumors in a model where radiation was poorly effective as a single therapy, we implanted mice with Panc02SIY tumors, which express the model antigen SIYRYYGL (SIY), and treated tumors similarly with radiation and *Listeria* vaccines expressing the model antigen peptide SIY (*LmSIY*) or an unrelated control (*LmOva*) (Fig. A-1B). In this case, none of the given therapies or combinations improved the responses of mice bearing Panc02SIY tumors.

In published reports where radiation and *Listeria* combinations were effective (355-357), the vaccine was given after radiation as in the experiments described in Figures A-1A and A-1B. We questioned whether establishing a large population of tumor-reactive, activated CD8+ T cells prior to tumor irradiation might improve the ability of radiotherapy to mediate T cell control. In order to determine if vaccination prior to radiation might improve therapeutic control, we inoculated mice with Panc02SIY tumors and administered *LmSIY* or control *LmOva* 14 days (Fig. A-1Ci) or 3 days (Fig. A-1Cii) prior to tumor irradiation. However, these tumors were similarly unaffected by single agent or combination therapies.

These studies suggest that our tumor models are intrinsically resistant to control by vaccination as by radiation or exogenous agents, unlike the B16 and TRAMPC1 models previously published. In at least two of reports where vaccination with *Listeria* improved radiation responses, survival of tumor bearing mice was improved by antigen-specific vaccination alone (355, 357), suggesting that the tumors were already susceptible to T cell mediated control and that radiation enhanced these effects through unknown mechanisms. In tumor models where single agent *Listeria* vaccination did not improve survival, such as SCCVII-EGFRvIII and Panc02SIY, radiation was not able to alleviate tumor suppression of vaccine-induced T cells. These studies emphasize that certain tumor types are more resistant to control by T cells and further studies are required to determine the mechanisms of model-specific T cell suppression.



Fig. A-1 Radiation efficacy does not improve when combined with antigenmatched *Listeria* **vaccination.** A) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice implanted with SCCVII cancer cells expressing EGFRvIII and treated 6 Gy radiation 14 days later and/or with *Listeria-EGFRvIII (LmEGFRvIII)* or *Listeria-Ova (LmOva)* 17 days after tumor inoculation. B) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice implanted with Panc02SIY cancer cells and treated with 12 Gy radiation 20 days later and/or with *Listeria-SIY (LmSIY)* or *Listeria-Ova (LmOva)* 23 days after tumor inoculation. C) i) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice implanted with Panc02SIY cancer cells and treated with *LmSIY* or *LmOva* 6 days later and/or radiation 20 days after tumor inoculation ii) Kaplan-Meier survival plot of mice implanted with Panc02SIY cancer cells and treated with *LmSIY* or *LmOva* 17 days later and/or radiation 20 days after tumor inoculation. Key: *p<0.05; **p<0.01.

Materials and Methods

Animals and Cell Lines

Animal protocols were approved by the Earle A. Chiles Research Institute IACUC (Animal Welfare Assurance No. A3913-01). All experiments were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. 5-8 week old C3H/HeJ mice (Stock #00659) and 5-8 week old C57BL/6 mice (Stock #000664) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) for use in these experiments. Survival experiments were performed with 5-6 mice per group.

Cell lines were cultured in RPMI-1640 (HyClone, Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Cat#10082147, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 2mM L-glutamine (Cat#SH3003401, HyClone, Fisher), 10mM HEPES (Cat#HOL06, Caisson Labs, Smithfield, UT), 100U/mL penicillin-streptomycin (Cat#PSL01, Caisson), 1X non-essential amino acids (Cat#SH3023801, Fisher), 1mM sodium pyruvate (Cat#PYL01, Caisson).

The parental squamous cell carcinoma line SCCVII was kindly provided by Walter T. Lee (Duke Cancer Center Institute, Durham, NC). To generate SCCVII cells expressing EGFRvIII, cancer cells were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 Transfection Reagent (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) with MSCV-loxp-dsRed-loxp-eGFP-Puro-WPRE (Addgene plasmid #32702, gifted from Hans Clevers) and MSCV-XZ066-EGFRvIII (Addgene plasmid #20737, gifted from Alonzo Ross) and sorted on a BD FACSAria II cell sorter (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) for high expression of GFP (SCCVII-EGFRvIII) (280). The parental murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line Panc02 was kindly provided by Dr. Woo (Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY). Panc02 expressing the model antigen SIY was kindly provided by Dr. Weishelbaum (University

of Chicago, Chicago, IL), as used previously(124), and expresses GFP-SIY in approximately 40% of cells. Panc02SIY100 was derived and expanded from a high GFP expressing single clone within Panc02SIY on a BD FACSAria II cell sorter.

Immunotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Tumors

Tumors were inoculated at a dose of 2×10^6 for SCCVII-EGFRvIII tumors, 5×10^6 for Panc02SIY tumors and 10×10^6 for Panc02SIY100. Tumor size was determined via caliper measurements of the longest length x the longest perpendicular width. Survival endpoint was defined as tumor size greater than or equal to 150mm² or when the mouse appeared moribund.

For *in vivo* irradiation, a Small Animal Research Radiation Platform (SARRP) (Xstrahl, Suwanee, GA) and Murislice software (Xstrahl) were used. For treatment, 6 Gy radiation was administered to SCCVII-EGFRvIII isocenters 14 days following tumor inoculation and 12 Gy of radiation was administered to Panc02-derived tumor isocenters 20 days following tumor inoculation.

ActA deleted (Δ actA) Listeria monocytogenes (Lm) strains used for vaccination were engineered to express the EGFRvIII peptide EEKKGNYV (LmEGFRvIII) as described previously (280), the ovalbumin peptide SIINFEKL (LmOva), or SIYRYYGL peptide (LmSIY) cloned in-frame with the actA N-terminal fragment. Bacteria were grown in brain-heart infusion broth, washed twice in PBS and administered by retro-orbital injection at a dose of 1 x 10⁵ (C3H mice) or 1 x 10⁷ (C57BL/6 mice) CFU in 100µL total volume. Effective vaccination was confirmed seven days later by MHC-multimer binding of peripheral blood.

Statistics

Data was analyzed and graphed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR) and Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Kaplan Meier survival curves were compared using log-rank tests.

Appendix B: Enhancement of T Cell Trafficking by Tumor Irradiation

Lack of infiltration of T cells into tumors represents a significant barrier to the efficacy of immunotherapies including checkpoint inhibitors, and strategies to enhance T cell trafficking, turning "cold" tumors into "hot" tumors, are of keen interest to researchers and clinicians (358). Studies have suggested that radiotherapy can trigger the production of intratumoral T cell chemoattractants including CXCL9 (MIG), CXCL10 (IP-10) and CXCL16 (127, 128, 359), and can increase the expression of cellular adhesion molecules on tumor vasculature required for T cell migration from the blood into tumors (26, 126, 359). These studies led us to question whether radiation might function in our model to enhance T cell trafficking.

In order to determine whether radiation improved T cell trafficking into tumors, we irradiated Panc02SIY tumors implanted subcutaneously in mice and harvested tumors a week later. By immunohistochemistry, we observed significantly higher numbers of CD3+ cells within the tumors (Fig. B-1Ai and B-1Aii), suggesting an increase in T cell trafficking, in agreement with previous studies (20, 126). Previous studies have demonstrated that radiotherapy can increase representation of CD4+ regulatory T cells within tumors (360), but further characterization of infiltrating T cell subsets is required to determine whether this is the case here. In order to determine whether the infiltrating T cells were CD8+ T cells, we similarly treated tumors with radiation harvested the tumors for analysis by flow cytometry (Fig. B-1Bi). We observed that while radiation did not increase the proportion of CD8+ T cells of total live cells within tumors (Fig. B-1Bii), there was a significant increase in the proportion of T cells expressing CD8 (Fig. B-1Biii).

radiation can increase CD8+ T cell infiltration into tumors. In Chapter 2, we discussed whether increased numbers of T cells in tumors are sufficient to cause regression of tumors in this model.

Recruitment of T cells to inflamed tissue by chemokines is not antigen-specific; however, following activation of CD8+ T cells within the tissue, expansion of T cells can be observed. Previously we had observed no significant expansion in endogenous model antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in tumors treated by radiotherapy compared to untreated controls (Fig. 2-4Biii), but did not determine whether antigen-specific CD8+ T cells were preferentially retained or expanded intratumorally after radiotherapy. In order to determine whether tumor irradiation favored enrichment of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells over a fixed number of control T cells, we adoptively transferred *in vitro* activated 2C T cells with equivalent numbers of control OT-I T cells into Rag1^{-/-} animals bearing dual flank Panc02SIY100 tumors and irradiated the tumor on one flank (Fig. B-1C). Seven days following radiation, irradiated tumors were significantly smaller than controls (Fig. B-1Ci), but there was equivalent enrichment of antigen-specific 2C cells in both tumors (Fig. B-1Ciii), suggesting that antigen-specific T cell trafficking or retention was not enhanced by radiotherapy.

Taken together, these studies suggest that in our model, radiotherapy does not significantly alter antigen-specific or bulk CD8+ T cell numbers to improve therapeutic outcomes, and support our hypothesis that here, other immune modulatory functions are responsible for enhanced CD8+ T cell responses driven by tumor irradiation.



Fig. B-1 Radiation does not improve antigen-specific CD8+ T cell trafficking into SIYRYYGL-expressing tumors. A) i) Representative immunohistochemistry images from paraffin-embedded zinc-fixed Panc02SIY tumors harvested from mice treated with 12 Gy radiation (RT) or given no treatment (NT). Tumors were harvested at 27 days following tumor challenge. 5μM tissue sections were stained with CD3-DAB (brown) and counterstained with hematoxylin and eosin ii) Quantification of images represented in i) where each dot represents a representative section from an individual animal. B) i) Treatment schematic. C57BI/6 mice were implanted with Panc02SIY tumors and irradiated (12Gy). Tumors were harvested and processed for flow cytometry ii) Proportion of tumor-infiltrating CD3+CD8+ T cells out of total live cells and iii) Proportion of CD3+CD8+ of total CD3+ cells. Each point represents one mouse. C) Rag1^{-/-} mice implanted with dual flank Panc02SIY100 tumors and were adoptively transferred with *in vitro* activated OT-I or 2C T cells 13 days following tumor challenge. At day 14, 12 Gy radiation was administered to tumors on one flank. Tumors and peripheral blood were harvested at day 1, day 3, and day 7 following irradiation. i) Mass of tumors not treated (NT) or giving radiotherapy (RT) harvested at indicated timepoints. Each point represents an individual tumor. ii) MHC-multimer (SIINFEKL-tetramer (tOva) or SIYRYYGL-pentamer (pSIY)) binding CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood at indicated timepoints. iii) pSIY-binding CD8+ T cells normalized to tOva-binding T cells in tumors receiving indicated treatments and harvested at indicated timepoints determined by flow cytometry. Each point represents an individual tumor. Key: *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001.

Materials and Methods

Animals and Cell Lines

Animal protocols were approved by the Earle A. Chiles Research Institute IACUC (Animal Welfare Assurance No. A3913-01). All experiments were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. 5-8 week old C57BL/6 mice (Stock #000664) and B6.129S7-Rag1^{tm1Mom}/J (Rag1^{-/-}) mice (Stock #002216) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) for use in these experiments. Nur77^{GFP} reporter mice were kindly provided by Dr. Weinberg (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, Portland, OR)(281). 2C transgenic mice were kindly provided by Dr. Gajewski (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL). OT-I transgenic mice were gifted by Dr. Redmond (Earle A. Chiles Research Institute).

Immunotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Tumors

Tumors were inoculated at a dose of 5×10^6 for Panc02SIY tumors and 10×10^6 for Panc02SIY100 tumors. Tumor size was determined via caliper measurements of the longest length x the longest perpendicular width. Survival endpoint was defined as tumor size greater than or equal to 150 mm^2 or when the mouse appeared moribund.

For *in vivo* experiments, 12 Gy of CT-guided radiation was administered to tumor isocenters using a Small Animal Research Radiation Platform (SARRP) (Xstrahl, Suwanee, GA) and Murislice software (Xstrahl), 14 days after tumor implantation. 250µg per dose αPD-L1 checkpoint blockade (Cat#BE101, BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH) was administered intraperitoneally at day 7, 14 and 21 post tumor implantation.

For adoptive T cell transfer, naïve CD8+ T cells were harvested as splenocytes from naïve 2C or OT-I mice and activated *in vitro* with α CD3 ϵ (Cat#BE0001-1, BioXCell) and α CD28 (Cat#BE0015-1) at a final concentration of 10µg/mL each. After 48 hours, cells

were rinsed with 10% complete RPMI supplemented with β -mercaptoethanol (β ME) (Cat#21985023, Gibco, Thermo Fisher) and plated with 60IU/mL human recombinant IL-2 (Chiron) for three days. Prior to retro-orbital intravenous injection, CD8+ T cells were purified from splenocytes using a CD8 α + T cell negative isolation kit (Cat#130-104-075, Miltenyi), rinsed in sterile PBS and diluted to 1e6 cells per 100µl injection volume.

Tumor analysis

For flow cytometric analysis of tumor-infiltrating cells, tumors harvested seven days after treatment were chopped into small fragments and dissociated in a solution of 250 U/mL collagenase IV (Worthington Biochemical Corporation, Lakewood, NJ) and 30 U/mL DNase (Millipore Sigma, St Louis, MO) using a GentleMACS tissue dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). After 30 minutes incubation at 37°C, the digest was quenched in RPMI-1640 (Cat#SH30027LS, Fisher) supplemented with 10% FBS (Cat#16000069, Thermo Fisher) and 2mM EDTA (Cat#324504, Millipore Sigma) and strained through 100µM and 40µM cell strainers. Filtered cells were rinsed in cold PBS twice prior to counting and staining for analysis on a BD LSR II flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson).

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on Zinc-fixed tumors embedded in paraffin preserved as described previously (282). Five micron sections were stained with primary αCD3 (SP7, Cat#ab16669, Abcam, Burlingame, CA) diluted in blocking buffer, secondary goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to HRP (Cat #AP1879, EMD Millipore, Burlingame, MA), and ImmPACT DAB Peroxidase (HRP) Substrate (Cat#SK-4105, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin 7211 (Cat#S7439-1, Cardinal Health, Dublin, OH). CD3 infiltration was quantified using Aperio ImageScope (Aperio, Sausalito, CA).

Antibodies and Reagents

Viability staining was performed in PBS using Zombie Aqua Fixable Viability Kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) for 15 minutes prior to staining with fluorescentlyconjugated antibodies for flow cytometry. Monoclonal antibodies were used against: CD3 [17A2], CD4 [RM4-5], and CD8α [53-6.7]. Fluorescently-conjugated MHC-multimer complexes were used as follows: tetramer-SIINFEKL (tOva, NIH Tetramer Core, Atlanta, CA), and pentamer-SIYRYYGL (pSIY, ProImmune, Sarasota, FL).

Statistics

Data was analyzed and graphed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR) and Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Individual data sets were compared using Welch's T tests. Growth curves and analysis across multiple groups were analyzed using ANOVA (two-way and one-way, respectively).

Appendix C: NLRC5 Correlates in Human Pancreatic Tumors

In Chapter 3, we discussed the role of NLRC5 in regulating expression of genes related to antigen processing and presentation on MHC-I complexes (250, 361) and proposed a novel role for NLRC5 in augmenting MHC-I expression on cancer cells following radiotherapy. The role of NLRC5 in therapeutic responses in human cancer patients is currently under investigation (264, 265, 313), as well as mechanisms of tumor suppression of NLRC5 expression (263), with the hope of gaining insight into how to turn cancer cells into better targets for T cell killing (362). The potential role of radiotherapy in enhancing expression of NLRC5 in MHC-I^{Io} tumors is therefore of significant scientific and clinical interest.

Accordingly, we questioned whether NLRC5 expression in human pancreatic tumors could predict therapeutic outcomes. Using the open source resource cBioPortal, we obtained RNAseq data from surgical samples from the TCGA human pancreatic adenocarcinoma cohort. In order to determine if NLRC5 might play a role in enhancing antigen processing and presentation on MHC-I in accordance with previous studies, we plotted and identified positive correlations between gene expression values of NLRC5 and components of this antigen presentation pathway, including classical MHC-I subunits (HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-C, and B2M), TAP1, and PSMB8 (gene for the immunoproteasome component LMP2) (Fig. C-1). Interestingly, we also identified positive correlation between NLRC5 and CIITA, the MHC Class II Transactivator, suggesting that these pathways might be similarly regulated.

In order to determine whether NLRC5 expression in pancreatic tumors correlated with prognosis, we divided patients into NLRC5-hi and NLRC5-lo cohorts and plotted survival. In this cohort, we found no significant differences in overall survival (Fig. C-2A)

or progression free survival (Fig. C-2B) between NLRC5-hi and NLRC5-lo expressing tumors. We questioned whether NLRC5 expression within the tumor could predict therapeutic responses to radiotherapy, but also found no significant difference in overall survival based on NLRC5 status (Fig. C-2C).

In the model presented in this document (Fig. 4-1), we proposed that radiotherapy could act on NLRC5^{lo} expressing tumors to enhance antigen presentation. The findings here demonstrate that low NLRC5 expression within tumors correlates with low expression of antigen presentation machinery (Fig. C-1), but the lack of predictive value of NLRC5 status in radiotherapy responses (Fig. C-2C) suggest that our simplistic model tells an incomplete story. In our murine model, radiotherapy requires alleviation of tumor immune suppression with α PD-L1 checkpoint inhibitors (Fig. 2-3) in order to efficiently clear tumors, suggesting there could be a role for immune suppressive signaling through known checkpoints within the tumor microenvironment. However, human pancreatic cancers are largely resistant to systemic therapies including checkpoint blockade (363), in part due the tendency of pancreatic cancer cells to encapsulate in desmoplastic stroma, composed largely of fibroblasts, extracellular matrix proteins, immune cells such as macrophages, and pancreatic stellate cells. This dense microenvironment is largely considered immune suppressive and additionally reduces perfusion of systemic drug therapies within the tumor (364, 365). Therefore, without addressing the differences in tumor microenvironment between subcutaneous murine models and human pancreatic tumors, NLRC5 status might still be poorly predictive of survival in patients even with the inclusion of checkpoint blockade therapy in treatment regimes.

Additionally, while we have focused in this thesis on the potential of radiation to induce anti-tumor immunity mediated by CD8+ T cells, it is well-established that radiation

can also have immune suppressive effects. In Chapter 4 we discussed the ability of radiation to upregulate PD-L1 expression by tumor cells, which is capable of dampening the ability of T cells and NK cells to response to disease (329, 339, 366). Additionally, radiation can trigger apoptosis in sensitive cell populations such as lymphocytes, including CD8+ T cells, at relatively low doses (129, 367, 368). Typical radiotherapy regimes, in which tumors are irradiated daily for several weeks, can thus dampen antitumor immunity (20, 117). Significantly, fractionated radiation is also linked to increased immunosuppressive macrophage infiltration into tumors, further dampening the ability of the adaptive immune system to respond to and control cancer cells (10, 20, 369). These tumor-associated suppressive phenotype macrophages are associated with poor prognosis in human pancreatic cancer (370). Together, these phenomena suggest that *in vivo* treatment of pancreatic cancer with radiation may have opposing effects in initiating anti-tumor immunity and further study is required to determine how the scales might be tipped in favor of tumor eradication.



Fig. C-1 Correlation of NLRC5 gene expression with antigen presentation machinery in human pancreatic tumors. Correlation between NLRC5 gene expression and expression of genes related to antigen processing and presentation. RNAseq data obtained from TCGA PanCancer Atlas cohort for pancreatic adenocarcinomas. Pearson correlation coefficients and P values are given.





Materials and Methods

RNAseq of Human Pancreatic Tumors

RNAseq data from primary human pancreatic adenocarcinoma tumors (TCGA, PanCancer Atlas) for the TCGA dataset were downloaded from cBioPortal as previously described (371, 372). Of 184 patients in the cohort (35-88 years of age at diagnosis), RNAseq data was provided for 177 of which 167 included data about treatment with radiotherapy (43 received radiation, 123 did not). Patients did not receive neoadjuvant therapy prior to surgery. NLRC5-hi and NLRC5-lo groups were segmented by expression above or below the median expression for the cohort.

Statistics

Data was analyzed and graphed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR) and Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Correlation was determined by linear regression analysis. Kaplan Meier survival curves were compared using log-rank tests.

References

- Martincorena I, Raine KM, Gerstung M, Dawson KJ, Haase K, Van Loo P, Davies H, Stratton MR, Campbell PJ. 2017. Universal Patterns of Selection in Cancer and Somatic Tissues. *Cell* 171: 1029-41 e21
- 2. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100: 57-70
- 3. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144: 646-74
- 4. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 2004. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. *Immunity* 21: 137-48
- 5. Thomas L. 1959. Cellular and humoral aspects of the hypersensitive states. Cellular and humoral aspects of the hypersensitive states; a symposium held at the New York Academy of Medicine: 529-32
- 6. Burnet FM. 1957. Cancer; biological approach. Br Med J: 779-86
- 7. Burnet FM. 1970. The concept of immunological surveillance. *Prog Exp Tumor Res* 13: 1-27
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 2001. IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* 410: 1107-11
- 9. Garrido F, Algarra I. 2001. MHC antigens and tumor escape from immune surveillance. pp. 117-58
- Crittenden MR, Baird J, Friedman D, Savage T, Uhde L, Alice A, Cottam B, Young K, Newell P, Nguyen C, Bambina S, Kramer G, Akporiaye E, Malecka A, Jackson A, Gough MJ. 2016. Mertk on tumor macrophages is a therapeutic target to prevent tumor recurrence following radiation therapy. *Oncotarget* 7: 78653-66
- 11. Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. 2018. Natural Killer Cells: Development, Maturation, and Clinical Utilization. *Front Immunol* 9: 1869
- 12. Paul WE. 2013. *Fundamental immunology*. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. xviii, 1283 p. pp.
- 13. Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 2002. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat Immunol* 3: 991-8
- 14. Ikehara S, Paĥwa RN, Fernandes G, Hansen CT, Good RA. 1984. Functional T cells in athymic nude mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 81: 886-8
- 15. Dighe AS, Richards E, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 1994. Enhanced in vivo growth and resistance to rejection of tumor cells expressing dominant negative IFNγ receptors. *Immunity* 1: 447-56
- 16. Kaplan DH, Shankaran V, Dighe AS, Stockert E, Aguet M, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 1998. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95: 7556-61
- van den Broek ME, Kagi D, Ossendorp F, Toes R, Vamvakas S, Lutz WK, Melief CJ, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1996. Decreased tumor surveillance in perforin-deficient mice. J Exp Med 184: 1781-90
- 18. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. 2004. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. *Annu Rev Immunol* 22: 329-60
- 19. Zhang N, Bevan MJ. 2011. CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. *Immunity* 35: 161-8
- 20. Filatenkov A, Baker J, Mueller AM, Kenkel J, Ahn GO, Dutt S, Zhang N, Kohrt H, Jensen K, Dejbakhsh-Jones S, Shizuru JA, Negrin RN, Engleman EG, Strober S. 2015. Ablative Tumor Radiation Can Change the Tumor Immune Cell

Microenvironment to Induce Durable Complete Remissions. *Clin Cancer Res* 21: 3727-39

- 21. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, Beckett M, Sharma R, Chin R, Tu T, Weichselbaum RR, Fu YX. 2009. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. *Blood* 114: 589-95
- 22. Janeway C. 2012. Janeway's Immunobiology. New York: Garland Science
- 23. La Gruta NL, Gras S, Daley SR, Thomas PG, Rossjohn J. 2018. Understanding the drivers of MHC restriction of T cell receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* 18: 467-78
- 24. Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. 1974. Restriction of in vitro T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. *Nature* 248: 701-2
- 25. Artyomov MN, Lis M, Devadas S, Davis MM, Chakraborty AK. 2010. CD4 and CD8 binding to MHC molecules primarily acts to enhance Lck delivery. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 16916-21
- 26. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Camphausen K, Liu K, Scott T, Coleman CN, Hodge JW. 2003. Irradiation of tumor cells up-regulates Fas and enhances CTL lytic activity and CTL adoptive immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 170: 6338-47
- 27. Lugade AA, Sorensen EW, Gerber SA, Moran JP, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. 2008. Radiation-induced IFN-gamma production within the tumor microenvironment influences antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* 180: 3132-9
- 28. Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. 2001. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* 2: 1032-9
- 29. Spits H. 2002. Development of alphabeta T cells in the human thymus. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2: 760-72
- Kumar R, Ferez M, Swamy M, Arechaga I, Rejas MT, Valpuesta JM, Schamel WW, Alarcon B, van Santen HM. 2011. Increased sensitivity of antigenexperienced T cells through the enrichment of oligomeric T cell receptor complexes. *Immunity* 35: 375-87
- 31. Zimmermann C, Prevost-Blondel A, Blaser C, Pircher H. 1999. Kinetics of the response of naive and memory CD8 T cells to antigen: similarities and differences. *Eur J Immunol* 29: 284-90
- Veiga-Fernandes H, Walter U, Bourgeois C, McLean A, Rocha B. 2000. Response of naive and memory CD8+ T cells to antigen stimulation in vivo. Nat Immunol 1: 47-53
- Kersh EN, Kaech SM, Onami TM, Moran M, Wherry EJ, Miceli MC, Ahmed R.
 2003. TCR signal transduction in antigen-specific memory CD8 T cells. J Immunol 170: 5455-63
- 34. Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T, Wu S, Vuthoori S, Ko K, Zavala F, Pamer EG, Littman DR, Lang RA. 2002. In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity* 17: 211-20
- 35. Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. 2012. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 12: 557-69
- 36. Savina A, Amigorena S. 2007. Phagocytosis and antigen presentation in dendritic cells. *Immunol Rev* 219: 143-56
- 37. Alloatti A, Kotsias F, Pauwels AM, Carpier JM, Jouve M, Timmerman E, Pace L, Vargas P, Maurin M, Gehrmann U, Joannas L, Vivar OI, Lennon-Dumenil AM, Savina A, Gevaert K, Beyaert R, Hoffmann E, Amigorena S. 2015. Toll-like

Receptor 4 Engagement on Dendritic Cells Restrains Phago-Lysosome Fusion and Promotes Cross-Presentation of Antigens. *Immunity* 43: 1087-100

- 38. Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Rock KL. 1995. A phagosome-to-cytosol pathway for exogenous antigens presented on MHC class I molecules. *Science* 267: 243-6
- Forster R, Schubel A, Breitfeld D, Kremmer E, Renner-Muller I, Wolf E, Lipp M. 1999. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* 99: 23-33
- 40. MartIn-Fontecha A, Sebastiani S, Hopken UE, Uguccioni M, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. 2003. Regulation of dendritic cell migration to the draining lymph node: impact on T lymphocyte traffic and priming. *J Exp Med* 198: 615-21
- 41. Ridge JP, Di Rosa F, Matzinger P. 1998. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. *Nature* 393: 474-8
- Bennett SR, Carbone FR, Karamalis F, Flavell RA, Miller JF, Heath WR. 1998. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. *Nature* 393: 478-80
- 43. Schoenberger SP, Toes RE, van der Voort EI, Offringa R, Melief CJ. 1998. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. *Nature* 393: 480-3
- 44. Larsen CP, Ritchie SC, Pearson TC, Linsley PS, Lowry RP. 1992. Functional expression of the costimulatory molecule, B7/BB1, on murine dendritic cell populations. *J Exp Med* 176: 1215-20
- 45. Wu Y, Liu Y. 1994. Viral induction of co-stimulatory activity on antigen-presenting cells bypasses the need for CD4+ T-cell help in CD8+ T-cell responses. *Curr Biol* 4: 499-505
- 46. Smith CM, Wilson NS, Waithman J, Villadangos JA, Carbone FR, Heath WR, Belz GT. 2004. Cognate CD4(+) T cell licensing of dendritic cells in CD8(+) T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* 5: 1143-8
- 47. von Herrath MG, Yokoyama M, Dockter J, Oldstone MB, Whitton JL. 1996. CD4deficient mice have reduced levels of memory cytotoxic T lymphocytes after immunization and show diminished resistance to subsequent virus challenge. *Journal of Virology* 70: 1072-9
- 48. Shedlock DJ, Shen H. 2003. Requirement for CD4 T cell help in generating functional CD8 T cell memory. *Science* 300: 337-9
- 49. Sun JC, Bevan MJ. 2003. Defective CD8 T cell memory following acute infection without CD4 T cell help. *Science* 300: 339-42
- 50. Hasegawa H, Matsumoto T. 2018. Mechanisms of Tolerance Induction by Dendritic Cells In Vivo. *Front Immunol* 9: 350
- 51. Smith KA. 1987. The two-chain structure of high-affinity IL-2 receptors. *Immunol Today* 8: 11-3
- 52. Smith KA, Cantrell DA. 1985. Interleukin 2 regulates its own receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82: 864-8
- 53. Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. 2010. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 22: 333-40
- 54. Curtsinger JM, Valenzuela JO, Agarwal P, Lins D, Mescher MF. 2005. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. *J Immunol* 174: 4465-9
- 55. Valenzuela J, Schmidt C, Mescher M. 2002. The roles of IL-12 in providing a third signal for clonal expansion of naive CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 169: 6842-9

- 56. Pages F, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH. 2010. Immune infiltration in human tumors: a prognostic factor that should not be ignored. *Oncogene* 29: 1093-102
- 57. Nelson BH. 2008. The impact of T-cell immunity on ovarian cancer outcomes. *Immunol Rev* 222: 101-16
- 58. Herr HW, Morales A. 2008. History of bacillus Calmette-Guerin and bladder cancer: an immunotherapy success story. *J Urol* 179: 53-6
- 59. Old LJ, Clarke DA, Benacerraf B. 1959. Effect of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin infection on transplanted tumours in the mouse. *Nature* 184(Suppl 5): 291-2
- 60. Coley WB. 1893. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculation so erysipelas: with a report of ten original cases. *Am J Med Sci* 105
- 61. Guo C, Manjili MH, Subjeck JR, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang XY. 2013. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present, and future. *Adv Cancer Res* 119: 421-75
- 62. Chang MH, Chen DS. 2015. Prevention of hepatitis B. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 5: a021493
- 63. De Vincenzo R, Conte C, Ricci C, Scambia G, Capelli G. 2014. Long-term efficacy and safety of human papillomavirus vaccination. *Int J Womens Health* 6: 999-1010
- 64. Yang A, Farmer E, Lin J, Wu TC, Hung CF. 2017. The current state of therapeutic and T cell-based vaccines against human papillomaviruses. *Virus Res* 231: 148-65
- 65. Durgeau A, Virk Y, Corgnac S, Mami-Chouaib F. 2018. Recent Advances in Targeting CD8 T-Cell Immunity for More Effective Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* 9: 14
- 66. Spranger S, Gajewski TF. 2018. Mechanisms of Tumor Cell–Intrinsic Immune Evasion. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology* 2: 213-28
- 67. Scharping NE, Menk AV, Whetstone RD, Zeng X, Delgoffe GM. 2017. Efficacy of PD-1 Blockade Is Potentiated by Metformin-Induced Reduction of Tumor Hypoxia. *Cancer Immunol Res* 5: 9-16
- 68. Juneja VR, McGuire KA, Manguso RT, LaFleur MW, Collins N, Haining WN, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. 2017. PD-L1 on tumor cells is sufficient for immune evasion in immunogenic tumors and inhibits CD8 T cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med* 214: 895-904
- 69. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Hassel JC, Akerley W, van den Eertwegh AJ, Lutzky J, Lorigan P, Vaubel JM, Linette GP, Hogg D, Ottensmeier CH, Lebbe C, Peschel C, Quirt I, Clark JI, Wolchok JD, Weber JS, Tian J, Yellin MJ, Nichol GM, Hoos A, Urba WJ. 2010. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* 363: 711-23
- 70. Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, Lebbe C, Baurain JF, Testori A, Grob JJ, Davidson N, Richards J, Maio M, Hauschild A, Miller WH, Jr., Gascon P, Lotem M, Harmankaya K, Ibrahim R, Francis S, Chen TT, Humphrey R, Hoos A, Wolchok JD. 2011. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* 364: 2517-26
- 71. Brunet. 1987. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily—CTLA-4. *Nature* 328: 267-70
- 72. Allison JP, Krummel MF. 1995. The Yin and Yang of T cell costimulation. *Science* 270: 932-3

- 73. Gross JA, St John T, Allison JP. 1990. The murine homologue of the T lymphocyte antigen CD28. Molecular cloning and cell surface expression. *J Immunol* 144: 3201-10
- 74. Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. 1991. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. *J Exp Med* 174: 561-9
- 75. Krummel MF, Allison JP. 1995. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. *J Exp Med* 182: 459-65
- 76. Chambers CA, Sullivan TJ, Allison JP. 1997. Lymphoproliferation in CTLA-4– Deficient Mice Is Mediated by Costimulation-Dependent Activation of CD4 + T Cells. *Immunity* 7: 885-95
- 77. Khattri R, Auger J, Griffin M, Sharpe A, Bluestone J. 1999. Lymphoproliferative Disorder in CTLA-4 Knockout Mice Is Characterized by CD28-Regulated Activation of Th2 Responses. *J Immunol* 162: 5784-91
- van der Merwe PA, Bodian DL, Daenke S, Linsley P, Davis SJ. 1997. CD80 (B7-1) binds both CD28 and CTLA-4 with a low affinity and very fast kinetics. *J Exp Med* 185: 393-403
- 79. Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, Bajorath J, Ledbetter JA, Peach R. 1994. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. *Immunity* 1: 793-801
- 80. Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. 1996. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science* 271: 1734-6
- 81. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, Roddie C, Henry JY, Yagita H, Wolchok JD, Peggs KS, Ravetch JV, Allison JP, Quezada SA. 2013. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med* 210: 1695-710
- 82. Sharma A, Subudhi SK, Blando J, Scutti J, Vence L, Wargo J, Allison JP, Ribas A, Sharma P. 2019. Anti-CTLA-4 Immunotherapy Does Not Deplete FOXP3(+) Regulatory T Cells (Tregs) in Human Cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* 25: 1233-8
- 83. Arce Vargas F, Furness AJS, Litchfield K, Joshi K, Rosenthal R, Ghorani E, Solomon I, Lesko MH, Ruef N, Roddie C, Henry JY, Spain L, Ben Aissa A, Georgiou A, Wong YNS, Smith M, Strauss D, Hayes A, Nicol D, O'Brien T, Martensson L, Ljungars A, Teige I, Frendeus B, Melanoma TR, Renal TR, consortia TRL, Pule M, Marafioti T, Gore M, Larkin J, Turajlic S, Swanton C, Peggs KS, Quezada SA. 2018. Fc Effector Function Contributes to the Activity of Human Anti-CTLA-4 Antibodies. *Cancer Cell* 33: 649-63 e4
- 84. Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. 1992. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death.
- 85. Okazaki T, Honjo T. 2007. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. *Int Immunol* 19: 813-24
- 86. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. 1999. Development of Lupuslike Autoimmune Diseases by Disruption of the PD-1 Gene Encoding an ITIM Motif-Carrying Immunoreceptor. *Immunity* 11: 141-51
- 87. Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ, Ahmed R. 2006. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature* 439: 682-7
- 88. Jiang Y, Li Y, Zhu B. 2015. T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Death Dis* 6: e1792
- 89. Kim HR, Ha SJ, Hong MH, Heo SJ, Koh YW, Choi EC, Kim EK, Pyo KH, Jung I, Seo D, Choi J, Cho BC, Yoon SO. 2016. PD-L1 expression on immune cells, but not on tumor cells, is a favorable prognostic factor for head and neck cancer patients. *Sci Rep* 6: 36956
- 90. Noguchi T, Ward JP, Gubin MM, Arthur CD, Lee SH, Hundal J, Selby MJ, Graziano RF, Mardis ER, Korman AJ, Schreiber RD. 2017. Temporally Distinct PD-L1 Expression by Tumor and Host Cells Contributes to Immune Escape. *Cancer Immunol Res* 5: 106-17
- 91. Tang H, Liang Y, Anders RA, Taube JM, Qiu X, Mulgaonkar A, Liu X, Harrington SM, Guo J, Xin Y, Xiong Y, Nham K, Silvers W, Hao G, Sun X, Chen M, Hannan R, Qiao J, Dong H, Peng H, Fu YX. 2018. PD-L1 on host cells is essential for PD-L1 blockade-mediated tumor regression. *J Clin Invest* 128: 580-8
- 92. Tang F, Zheng P. 2018. Tumor cells versus host immune cells: whose PD-L1 contributes to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade mediated cancer immunotherapy? *Cell Biosci* 8: 34
- 93. Hui E, Cheung J, Zhu J, Su X, Taylor MJ, Wallweber HA, Sasmal DK, Huang J, Kim JM, Mellman I, Vale RD. 2017. T cell costimulatory receptor CD28 is a primary target for PD-1-mediated inhibition. *Science* 355: 1428-33
- 94. Kamphorst AO, Wieland A, Nasti T, Yang S, Zhang R, Barber DL, Konieczny BT, Daugherty CZ, Koenig L, Yu K, Sica GL, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ, Blazar BR, Turka LA, Owonikoko TK, Pillai RN, Ramalingam SS, Araki K, Ahmed R. 2017. Rescue of exhausted CD8 T cells by PD-1-targeted therapies is CD28-dependent. Science 355: 1423-7
- 95. Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, Higuchi T, Yagi H, Takakura K, Minato N, Honjo T, Fujii S. 2007. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104: 3360-5
- 96. Yamamoto R, Nishikori M, Kitawaki T, Sakai T, Hishizawa M, Tashima M, Kondo T, Ohmori K, Kurata M, Hayashi T, Uchiyama T. 2008. PD-1-PD-1 ligand interaction contributes to immunosuppressive microenvironment of Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* 111: 3220-4
- 97. Won Kim D, Uemura M, Diab A. 2017. Comprehensive Review of PD1/L1 Inhibition in Metastatic Solid Tumors: Safety, fficacy and Resistance. *Journal of Biomedical Sciencies* 06
- 98. Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, Wagstaff J, Schadendorf D, Ferrucci PF, Smylie M, Dummer R, Hill A, Hogg D, Haanen J, Carlino MS, Bechter O, Maio M, Marquez-Rodas I, Guidoboni M, McArthur G, Lebbe C, Ascierto PA, Long GV, Cebon J, Sosman J, Postow MA, Callahan MK, Walker D, Rollin L, Bhore R, Hodi FS, Larkin J. 2017. Overall Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med 377: 1345-56
- 99. Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. 2016. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: Coinhibitory Receptors with Specialized Functions in Immune Regulation. *Immunity* 44: 989-1004
- Moran AE, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Weinberg AD. 2013. The TNFRs OX40, 4-1BB, and CD40 as targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* 25: 230-7
- 101. Oweida A, Hararah MK, Phan A, Binder D, Bhatia S, Lennon S, Bukkapatnam S, Van Court B, Uyanga N, Darragh L, Kim HM, Raben D, Tan AC, Heasley L, Clambey E, Nemenoff R, Karam SD. 2018. Resistance to Radiotherapy and PD-

L1 Blockade Is Mediated by TIM-3 Upregulation and Regulatory T-Cell Infiltration. *Clin Cancer Res* 24: 5368-80

- 102. Niknam S, Barsoumian HB, Schoenhals JE, Jackson HL, Yanamandra N, Caetano MS, Li A, Younes AI, Cadena A, Cushman TR, Chang JY, Nguyen QN, Gomez DR, Diab A, Heymach JV, Hwu P, Cortez MA, Welsh JW. 2018. Radiation Followed by OX40 Stimulation Drives Local and Abscopal Antitumor Effects in an Anti-PD1-Resistant Lung Tumor Model. *Clin Cancer Res* 24: 5735-43
- Redmond WL, Linch SN, Kasiewicz MJ. 2014. Combined targeting of costimulatory (OX40) and coinhibitory (CTLA-4) pathways elicits potent effector T cells capable of driving robust antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Res* 2: 142-53
- Rudqvist NP, Pilones KA, Lhuillier C, Wennerberg E, Sidhom JW, Emerson RO, Robins HS, Schneck J, Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2018. Radiotherapy and CTLA-4 Blockade Shape the TCR Repertoire of Tumor-Infiltrating T Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* 6: 139-50
- 105. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Allison JP, Formenti SC. 2005. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 11: 728-34
- Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, Fu YX. 2014. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest 124: 687-95
- 107. Herter-Sprie GS, Koyama S, Korideck H, Hai J, Deng J, Li YY, Buczkowski KA, Grant AK, Ullas S, Rhee K, Cavanaugh JD, Neupane NP, Christensen CL, Herter JM, Makrigiorgos GM, Hodi FS, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, Hammerman PS, Kimmelman AC, Wong KK. 2016. Synergy of radiotherapy and PD-1 blockade in Kras-mutant lung cancer. JCI Insight 1: e87415
- 108. Wilkins A, McDonald F, Harrington K, Melcher A. 2019. Radiotherapy enhances responses of lung cancer to CTLA-4 blockade. *J Immunother Cancer* 7: 64
- 109. Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, Chachoua A, Formenti SC. 2013. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* 1: 365-72
- 110. Ko EC, Raben D, Formenti SC. 2018. The Integration of Radiotherapy with Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 24: 5792-806
- 111. Barker CA, Postow MA. 2014. Combinations of radiation therapy and immunotherapy for melanoma: a review of clinical outcomes. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 88: 986-97
- 112. Xia L, Wu H, Qian W. 2018. Irradiation enhanced the effects of PD-1 blockade in brain metastatic osteosarcoma. *J Bone Oncol* 12: 61-4
- 113. Dovedi SJ, Adlard AL, Lipowska-Bhalla G, McKenna C, Jones S, Cheadle EJ, Stratford IJ, Poon E, Morrow M, Stewart R, Jones H, Wilkinson RW, Honeychurch J, Illidge TM. 2014. Acquired resistance to fractionated radiotherapy can be overcome by concurrent PD-L1 blockade. *Cancer Res* 74: 5458-68
- 114. Durante M, Loeffler JS. 2010. Charged particles in radiation oncology. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 7: 37-43
- 115. Barnett GC, West CM, Dunning AM, Elliott RM, Coles CE, Pharoah PD, Burnet NG. 2009. Normal tissue reactions to radiotherapy: towards tailoring treatment dose by genotype. *Nat Rev Cancer* 9: 134-42

- 116. Withers RH. 1975. The four R's of radiotherapy. In *Advances in radiation biology*, ed. JT Lett, H Adler, pp. 241-71. New York: Academic Press
- 117. Crocenzi T, Cottam B, Newell P, Wolf RF, Hansen PD, Hammill C, Solhjem MC, To YY, Greathouse A, Tormoen G, Jutric Z, Young K, Bahjat KS, Gough MJ, Crittenden MR. 2016. A hypofractionated radiation regimen avoids the lymphopenia associated with neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy of borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer* 4: 45
- 118. von Reibnitz D, Shaikh F, Wu AJ, Treharne GC, Dick-Godfrey R, Foster A, Woo KM, Shi W, Zhang Z, Din SU, Gelblum DY, Yorke ED, Rosenzweig KE, Rimner A. 2018. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) improves local control and overall survival compared to conventionally fractionated radiation for stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Acta Oncol 57: 1567-73
- 119. Whelan TJ, Pignol JP, Levine MN, Julian JA, MacKenzie R, Parpia S, Shelley W, Grimard L, Bowen J, Lukka H, Perera F, Fyles A, Schneider K, Gulavita S, Freeman C. 2010. Long-term results of hypofractionated radiation therapy for breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 362: 513-20
- 120. Nedzi LA. 2008. The implementation of ablative hypofractionated radiotherapy for stereotactic treatments in the brain and body: observations on efficacy and toxicity in clinical practice. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 18: 265-72
- 121. Ko EC, Benjamin KT, Formenti SC. 2018. Generating antitumor immunity by targeted radiation therapy: Role of dose and fractionation. *Adv Radiat Oncol* 3: 486-93
- 122. Stewart FW. 1933. Radiosensitivity of Tumors. Archives of Surgery 27: 979-1064
- 123. North RJ. 1986. Radiation-induced, immunologically mediated regression of an established tumor as an example of successful therapeutic immunomanipulation. Preferential elimination of suppressor T cells allows sustained production of effector T cells. J Exp Med 164: 1652-66
- 124. Crittenden MR, Zebertavage L, Kramer G, Bambina S, Friedman D, Troesch V, Blair T, Baird JR, Alice A, Gough MJ. 2018. Tumor cure by radiation therapy and checkpoint inhibitors depends on pre-existing immunity. *Sci Rep* 8: 7012
- 125. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, Li XD, Mauceri H, Beckett M, Darga T, Huang X, Gajewski TF, Chen ZJ, Fu YX, Weichselbaum RR. 2014. STING-Dependent Cytosolic DNA Sensing Promotes Radiation-Induced Type I Interferon-Dependent Antitumor Immunity in Immunogenic Tumors. *Immunity* 41: 843-52
- 126. Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, Rose RC, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. 2005. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. *J Immunol* 174: 7516-23
- 127. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, Braunstein S, Badura M, Cameron TO, Babb JS, Schneider RJ, Formenti SC, Dustin ML, Demaria S. 2008. Radiationinduced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol 181: 3099-107
- 128. Lim JY, Gerber SA, Murphy SP, Lord EM. 2014. Type I interferons induced by radiation therapy mediate recruitment and effector function of CD8(+) T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 63: 259-71
- 129. Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. 2012. *Radiobiology for the radiologist.* Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- 130. Breimer LH. 1988. Ionizing radiation-induced mutagenesis. *Br J Cancer* 57: 6-18

- 131. Sevilla MD, Becker D, Kumar A, Adhikary A. 2016. Gamma and Ion-Beam Irradiation of DNA: Free Radical Mechanisms, Electron Effects, and Radiation Chemical Track Structure. *Radiat Phys Chem Oxf Engl 1993* 128: 60-74
- 132. Guo Z, Kozlov S, Lavin MF, Person MD, Paull TT. 2010. ATM activation by oxidative stress. *Science* 330: 517-21
- 133. Aiken CT, Kaake RM, Wang X, Huang L. 2011. Oxidative stress-mediated regulation of proteasome complexes. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 10: R110 006924
- 134. Thompson LH. 2012. Recognition, signaling, and repair of DNA double-strand breaks produced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells: the molecular choreography. *Mutat Res* 751: 158-246
- Mahaney BL, Meek K, Lees-Miller SP. 2009. Repair of ionizing radiation-induced DNA double-strand breaks by non-homologous end-joining. *Biochem J* 417: 639-50
- 136. Yang G, Liu C, Chen SH, Kassab MA, Hoff JD, Walter NG, Yu X. 2018. Superresolution imaging identifies PARP1 and the Ku complex acting as DNA doublestrand break sensors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 46: 3446-57
- 137. Lieber MR, Lu H, Gu J, Schwarz K. 2008. Flexibility in the order of action and in the enzymology of the nuclease, polymerases, and ligase of vertebrate non-homologous DNA end joining: relevance to cancer, aging, and the immune system. *Cell Res* 18: 125-33
- 138. Davis AJ, Chen BP, Chen DJ. 2014. DNA-PK: a dynamic enzyme in a versatile DSB repair pathway. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 17: 21-9
- 139. Rothkamm K, Kruger I, Thompson LH, Lobrich M. 2003. Pathways of DNA double-strand break repair during the mammalian cell cycle. *Mol Cell Biol* 23: 5706-15
- 140. Fattah F, Lee EH, Weisensel N, Wang Y, Lichter N, Hendrickson EA. 2010. Ku regulates the non-homologous end joining pathway choice of DNA double-strand break repair in human somatic cells. *PLoS Genet* 6: e1000855
- 141. Arlander SJ, Greene BT, Innes CL, Paules RS. 2008. DNA protein kinasedependent G2 checkpoint revealed following knockdown of ataxia-telangiectasia mutated in human mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer Res* 68: 89-97
- 142. Lee KJ, Lin YF, Chou HY, Yajima H, Fattah KR, Lee SC, Chen BP. 2011. Involvement of DNA-dependent protein kinase in normal cell cycle progression through mitosis. *J Biol Chem* 286: 12796-802
- 143. Blackford AN, Jackson SP. 2017. ATM, ATR, and DNA-PK: The Trinity at the Heart of the DNA Damage Response. *Mol Cell* 66: 801-17
- 144. Isono M, Niimi A, Oike T, Hagiwara Y, Sato H, Sekine R, Yoshida Y, Isobe SY, Obuse C, Nishi R, Petricci E, Nakada S, Nakano T, Shibata A. 2017. BRCA1 Directs the Repair Pathway to Homologous Recombination by Promoting 53BP1 Dephosphorylation. *Cell Rep* 18: 520-32
- 145. Panier S, Boulton SJ. 2014. Double-strand break repair: 53BP1 comes into focus. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 15: 7-18
- 146. Wu J, Lu LY, Yu X. 2010. The role of BRCA1 in DNA damage response. *Protein Cell* 1: 117-23
- 147. Myler LR, Gallardo IF, Soniat MM, Deshpande RA, Gonzalez XB, Kim Y, Paull TT, Finkelstein IJ. 2017. Single-Molecule Imaging Reveals How Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 Initiates DNA Break Repair. *Mol Cell* 67: 891-8 e4
- 148. Syed A, Tainer JA. 2018. The MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 Complex Conducts the Orchestration of Damage Signaling and Outcomes to Stress in DNA Replication and Repair. *Annu Rev Biochem* 87: 263-94

- 149. Bakkenist CJ, Kastan MB. 2003. DNA damage activates ATM through intermolecular autophosphorylation and dimer dissociation. *Nature* 421: 499-506
- 150. San Filippo J, Sung P, Klein H. 2008. Mechanism of eukaryotic homologous recombination. *Annu Rev Biochem* 77: 229-57
- 151. Zhou Y, Lee JH, Jiang W, Crowe JL, Zha S, Paull TT. 2017. Regulation of the DNA Damage Response by DNA-PKcs Inhibitory Phosphorylation of ATM. *Mol Cell* 65: 91-104
- 152. Pollard JM, Gatti RA. 2009. Clinical radiation sensitivity with DNA repair disorders: an overview. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 74: 1323-31
- 153. Flynn RL, Zou L. 2011. ATR: a master conductor of cellular responses to DNA replication stress. *Trends Biochem Sci* 36: 133-40
- 154. Cortez D, Guntuku S, Qin J, Elledge SJ. 2001. ATR and ATRIP: partners in checkpoint signaling. *Science* 294: 1713-6
- 155. Kumagai A, Lee J, Yoo HY, Dunphy WG. 2006. TopBP1 activates the ATR-ATRIP complex. *Cell* 124: 943-55
- 156. Mladenov E, Fan X, Dueva R, Soni A, Iliakis G. 2019. Radiation-dose-dependent functional synergisms between ATM, ATR and DNA-PKcs in checkpoint control and resection in G2-phase. *Sci Rep* 9: 8255
- Matsuoka S, Ballif BA, Smogorzewska A, McDonald ER, 3rd, Hurov KE, Luo J, Bakalarski CE, Zhao Z, Solimini N, Lerenthal Y, Shiloh Y, Gygi SP, Elledge SJ. 2007. ATM and ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. *Science* 316: 1160-6
- 158. Bower JJ, Vance LD, Psioda M, Smith-Roe SL, Simpson DA, Ibrahim JG, Hoadley KA, Perou CM, Kaufmann WK. 2017. Patterns of cell cycle checkpoint deregulation associated with intrinsic molecular subtypes of human breast cancer cells. NPJ Breast Cancer 3: 9
- 159. Xu B, Kim ST, Lim DS, Kastan MB. 2002. Two molecularly distinct G(2)/M checkpoints are induced by ionizing irradiation. *Mol Cell Biol* 22: 1049-59
- 160. Gannon HS, Woda BA, Jones SN. 2012. ATM phosphorylation of Mdm2 Ser394 regulates the amplitude and duration of the DNA damage response in mice. *Cancer Cell* 21: 668-79
- 161. Baugh EH, Ke H, Levine AJ, Bonneau RA, Chan CS. 2018. Why are there hotspot mutations in the TP53 gene in human cancers? *Cell Death Differ* 25: 154-60
- 162. Harms K, Nozell S, Chen X. 2004. The common and distinct target genes of the p53 family transcription factors. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 61: 822-42
- 163. Helton ES, Chen X. 2007. p53 modulation of the DNA damage response. *J Cell Biochem* 100: 883-96
- 164. Das S, Boswell SA, Aaronson SA, Lee SW. 2008. P53 promoter selection: choosing between life and death. *Cell Cycle* 7: 154-7
- 165. Aylon Y, Oren M. 2007. Living with p53, dying of p53. *Cell* 130: 597-600
- 166. Lowe SW, Schmitt EM, Smith SW, Osborne BA, Jacks T. 1993. p53 is required for radiation-induced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature* 362: 847-9
- Clarke AR, Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Morris RG, Bird CC, Hooper ML, Wyllie AH. 1993. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature* 362: 849-52
- 168. Eriksson D, Stigbrand T. 2010. Radiation-induced cell death mechanisms. *Tumour Biol* 31: 363-72
- 169. Elmore S. 2007. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* 35: 495-516

- 170. Gudkov AV, Komarova EA. 2003. The role of p53 in determining sensitivity to radiotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 3: 117-29
- 171. Fenech M, Kirsch-Volders M, Natarajan AT, Surralles J, Crott JW, Parry J, Norppa H, Eastmond DA, Tucker JD, Thomas P. 2011. Molecular mechanisms of micronucleus, nucleoplasmic bridge and nuclear bud formation in mammalian and human cells. *Mutagenesis* 26: 125-32
- 172. Roninson IB, Broude EV, Chang BD. 2001. If not apoptosis, then what? Treatment-induced senescence and mitotic catastrophe in tumor cells. *Drug Resist Updat* 4: 303-13
- 173. Rieder CL, Maiato H. 2004. Stuck in Division or Passing through. *Developmental Cell* 7: 637-51
- 174. Zierhut C, Yamaguchi N, Paredes M, Luo JD, Carroll T, Funabiki H. 2019. The Cytoplasmic DNA Sensor cGAS Promotes Mitotic Cell Death. *Cell* 178: 302-15 e23
- 175. Timmerman RD. 2008. An overview of hypofractionation and introduction to this issue of seminars in radiation oncology. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 18: 215-22
- 176. Ng WL, Huang Q, Liu X, Zimmerman M, Li F, Li CY. 2013. Molecular mechanisms involved in tumor repopulation after radiotherapy. *Transl Cancer Res* 2: 442-8
- 177. Regato JA. 1950. In memoriam Henri Coutard, M.D. 1876-1950. *Radiology* 54: 758-9
- 178. Regato JA. 1993. *Radiological Oncologists: the Unfolding of a Medical Specialty*. Reston, VA: Radiology Centennial
- 179. Vogin G, Foray N. 2013. The law of Bergonie and Tribondeau: a nice formula for a first approximation. *Int J Radiat Biol* 89: 2-8
- 180. Horsman MR, Overgaard J. 2016. The impact of hypoxia and its modification of the outcome of radiotherapy. *J Radiat Res* 57 Suppl 1: i90-i8
- 181. Brown JM, Wilson WR. 2004. Exploiting tumour hypoxia in cancer treatment. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4: 437-47
- 182. Hong BJ, Kim J, Jeong H, Bok S, Kim YE, Ahn GO. 2016. Tumor hypoxia and reoxygenation: the yin and yang for radiotherapy. *Radiat Oncol J* 34: 239-49
- 183. Thames HD, Peters LT, Withers HR, Fletcher GH. 1983. Accelerated fractionation vs hyperfractionation: Rationales for several treatments per day. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics* 9: 127-38
- 184. Connell PP, Hellman S. 2009. Advances in radiotherapy and implications for the next century: a historical perspective. *Cancer Res* 69: 383-92
- 185. Steel GG, McMillan TJ, Peacock JH. 1989. The 5Rs of radiobiology. *Int J Radiat Biol* 56: 1045-8
- 186. McMahon SJ. 2018. The linear quadratic model: usage, interpretation and challenges. *Phys Med Biol* 64: 01TR
- 187. Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Young KH. 2015. Comparing equals when evaluating immunotherapy with different doses and fractions of radiation therapy. *Immunotherapy* 7: 847-9
- 188. Boustani J, Grapin M, Laurent PA, Apetoh L, Mirjolet C. 2019. The 6th R of Radiobiology: Reactivation of Anti-Tumor Immune Response. *Cancers (Basel)* 11
- 189. Dovedi SJ, Lipowska-Bhalla G, Beers SA, Cheadle EJ, Mu L, Glennie MJ, Illidge TM, Honeychurch J. 2016. Antitumor Efficacy of Radiation plus Immunotherapy Depends upon Dendritic Cell Activation of Effector CD8+ T Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* 4: 621-30

- 190. Gupta A, Probst HC, Vuong V, Landshammer A, Muth S, Yagita H, Schwendener R, Pruschy M, Knuth A, van den Broek M. 2012. Radiotherapy promotes tumorspecific effector CD8+ T cells via dendritic cell activation. *J Immunol* 189: 558-66
- 191. Gerber SA, Sedlacek AL, Cron KR, Murphy SP, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. 2013. IFN-gamma mediates the antitumor effects of radiation therapy in a murine colon tumor. *Am J Pathol* 182: 2345-54
- 192. Ranoa DR, Parekh AD, Pitroda SP, Huang X, Darga T, Wong AC, Huang L, Andrade J, Staley JP, Satoh T, Akira S, Weichselbaum RR, Khodarev NN. 2016. Cancer therapies activate RIG-I-like receptor pathway through endogenous noncoding RNAs. *Oncotarget* 7: 26496-515
- 193. Xia P, Wang S, Xiong Ž, Zhu X, Ye B, Du Y, Meng S, Qu Y, Liu J, Gao G, Tian Y, Fan Z. 2018. The ER membrane adaptor ERAdP senses the bacterial second messenger c-di-AMP and initiates anti-bacterial immunity. *Nat Immunol* 19: 141-50
- 194. Harding SM, Benci JL, Irianto J, Discher DE, Minn AJ, Greenberg RA. 2017. Mitotic progression following DNA damage enables pattern recognition within micronuclei. *Nature* 548: 466-70
- 195. Mackenzie KJ, Carroll P, Martin CA, Murina O, Fluteau A, Simpson DJ, Olova N, Sutcliffe H, Rainger JK, Leitch A, Osborn RT, Wheeler AP, Nowotny M, Gilbert N, Chandra T, Reijns MAM, Jackson AP. 2017. cGAS surveillance of micronuclei links genome instability to innate immunity. *Nature* 548: 461-5
- 196. Ishikawa H, Ma Z, Barber GN. 2009. STING regulates intracellular DNAmediated, type I interferon-dependent innate immunity. *Nature* 461: 788-92
- 197. Diner EJ, Burdette DL, Wilson SC, Monroe KM, Kellenberger CA, Hyodo M, Hayakawa Y, Hammond MC, Vance RE. 2013. The innate immune DNA sensor cGAS produces a noncanonical cyclic dinucleotide that activates human STING. *Cell Rep* 3: 1355-61
- 198. Shi H, Wu J, Chen ZJ, Chen C. 2015. Molecular basis for the specific recognition of the metazoan cyclic GMP-AMP by the innate immune adaptor protein STING. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112: 8947-52
- 199. Tanaka Y, Chen ZJ. 2012. STING specifies IRF3 phosphorylation by TBK1 in the cytosolic DNA signaling pathway. *Sci Signal* 5: ra20
- Sun L, Wu J, Du F, Chen X, Chen ZJ. 2013. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. *Science* 339: 786-91
- 201. Wan S, Pestka S, Jubin RG, Lyu YL, Tsai YC, Liu LF. 2012. Chemotherapeutics and radiation stimulate MHC class I expression through elevated interferon-beta signaling in breast cancer cells. *PLoS One* 7: e32542
- 202. Guo X, Liu T, Shi H, Wang J, Ji P, Wang H, Hou Y, Tan RX, Li E. 2015. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection Upregulates NLRC5 and Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Expression through RIG-I Induction in Airway Epithelial Cells. *J Virol* 89: 7636-45
- 203. Keskinen P, Ronni T, Matikainen S, Lehtonen A, Julkunen I. 1997. Regulation of HLA class I and II expression by interferons and influenza A virus in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Immunology* 91: 421-9
- 204. Heise R, Amann PM, Ensslen S, Marquardt Y, Czaja K, Joussen S, Beer D, Abele R, Plewnia G, Tampe R, Merk HF, Hermanns HM, Baron JM. 2016. Interferon Alpha Signalling and Its Relevance for the Upregulatory Effect of Transporter Proteins Associated with Antigen Processing (TAP) in Patients with Malignant Melanoma. *PLoS One* 11: e0146325

- 205. Montoya M, Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Borrow P, Tough DF. 2002. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood* 99: 3263-71
- 206. Ito T, Amakawa R, Inaba M, Ikehara S, Inaba K, Fukuhara S. 2001. Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs. *J Immunol* 166: 2961-9
- 207. Hervas-Stubbs S, Perez-Gracia JL, Rouzaut A, Sanmamed MF, Le Bon A, Melero I. 2011. Direct effects of type I interferons on cells of the immune system. *Clin Cancer Res* 17: 2619-27
- 208. Verhelst J, Parthoens E, Schepens B, Fiers W, Saelens X. 2012. Interferoninducible protein Mx1 inhibits influenza virus by interfering with functional viral ribonucleoprotein complex assembly. *J Virol* 86: 13445-55
- Crawford MA, Zhu Y, Green CS, Burdick MD, Sanz P, Alem F, O'Brien AD, Mehrad B, Strieter RM, Hughes MA. 2009. Antimicrobial effects of interferoninducible CXC chemokines against Bacillus anthracis spores and bacilli. *Infect Immun* 77: 1664-78
- 210. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, Benci JL, Xu B, Dada H, Odorizzi PM, Herati RS, Mansfield KD, Patsch D, Amaravadi RK, Schuchter LM, Ishwaran H, Mick R, Pryma DA, Xu X, Feldman MD, Gangadhar TC, Hahn SM, Wherry EJ, Vonderheide RH, Minn AJ. 2015. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. *Nature* 520: 373-7
- 211. Dovedi SJ, Cheadle EJ, Popple AL, Poon E, Morrow M, Stewart R, Yusko EC, Sanders CM, Vignali M, Emerson RO, Robins HS, Wilkinson RW, Honeychurch J, Illidge TM. 2017. Fractionated Radiation Therapy Stimulates Antitumor Immunity Mediated by Both Resident and Infiltrating Polyclonal T-cell Populations when Combined with PD-1 Blockade. *Clin Cancer Res* 23: 5514-26
- 212. Hatch EM, Fischer AH, Deerinck TJ, Hetzer MW. 2013. Catastrophic nuclear envelope collapse in cancer cell micronuclei. *Cell* 154: 47-60
- 213. Woo SR, Fuertes MB, Corrales L, Spranger S, Furdyna MJ, Leung MY, Duggan R, Wang Y, Barber GN, Fitzgerald KA, Alegre ML, Gajewski TF. 2014. STINGdependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. *Immunity* 41: 830-42
- 214. Diamond JM, Vanpouille-Box C, Spada S, Rudqvist NP, Chapman JR, Ueberheide BM, Pilones KA, Sarfraz Y, Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2018. Exosomes Shuttle TREX1-Sensitive IFN-Stimulatory dsDNA from Irradiated Cancer Cells to DCs. *Cancer Immunol Res* 6: 910-20
- 215. Vanpouille-Box C, Alard A, Aryankalayil MJ, Sarfraz Y, Diamond JM, Schneider RJ, Inghirami G, Coleman CN, Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2017. DNA exonuclease Trex1 regulates radiotherapy-induced tumour immunogenicity. *Nat Commun* 8: 15618
- 216. Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, Fu YX, Auh SL. 2011. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type i interferon-dependent innate and adaptive immunity. *Cancer Res* 71: 2488-96
- 217. Abuodeh Y, Venkat P, Kim S. 2016. Systematic review of case reports on the abscopal effect. *Curr Probl Cancer* 40: 25-37
- 218. Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. 2012. Abscopal but desirable: The contribution of immune responses to the efficacy of radiotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* 1: 407-8
- 219. Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2012. Radiation therapy to convert the tumor into an in situ vaccine. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 84: 879-80

- 220. Vanpouille-Box C, Pilones KA, Wennerberg E, Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2015. In situ vaccination by radiotherapy to improve responses to anti-CTLA-4 treatment. *Vaccine* 33: 7415-22
- 221. Gameiro SR, Jammeh ML, Wattenberg MM, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, Hodge JW. 2014. Radiation-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor enhances antigen processing and calreticulin exposure, resulting in enhanced T-cell killing. Oncotarget 5: 403-16
- 222. Gameiro SR, Ardiani A, Kwilas A, Hodge JW. 2014. Radiation-induced survival responses promote immunogenic modulation to enhance immunotherapy in combinatorial regimens. *Oncoimmunology* 3: e28643
- 223. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, Andre F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. 2007. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* 13: 1050-9
- 224. Kulzer L, Rubner Y, Deloch L, Allgauer A, Frey B, Fietkau R, Dorrie J, Schaft N, Gaipl US. 2014. Norm- and hypo-fractionated radiotherapy is capable of activating human dendritic cells. *J Immunotoxicol* 11: 328-36
- 225. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, Vermaelen K, Panaretakis T, Mignot G, Ullrich E, Perfettini JL, Schlemmer F, Tasdemir E, Uhl M, Genin P, Civas A, Ryffel B, Kanellopoulos J, Tschopp J, Andre F, Lidereau R, McLaughlin NM, Haynes NM, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. 2009. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* 15: 1170-8
- 226. Persa E, Szatmari T, Safrany G, Lumniczky K. 2018. In Vivo Irradiation of Mice Induces Activation of Dendritic Cells. *Int J Mol Sci* 19
- 227. Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, Nirschl TR, Francica BJ, Velarde E, Deweese TL, Drake CG. 2015. Stereotactic Radiation Therapy Augments Antigen-Specific PD-1-Mediated Antitumor Immune Responses via Cross-Presentation of Tumor Antigen. *Cancer Immunol Res* 3: 345-55
- 228. Formenti SC, Demaria S. 2009. Systemic effects of local radiotherapy. *Lancet Oncol* 10: 718-26
- 229. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, Camphausen K, Luiten RM, de Ru AH, Neijssen J, Griekspoor A, Mesman E, Verreck FA, Spits H, Schlom J, van Veelen P, Neefjes JJ. 2006. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. *J Exp Med* 203: 1259-71
- Hauser SH, Calorini L, Wazer DE, Gattoni-Celli S. 1993. Radiation-enhanced expression of major histocompatibility complex class I antigen H-2Db in B16 melanoma cells. *Cancer Res* 53: 1952-5
- 231. Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. 1975. H-2 compatability requirement for T-cellmediated lysis of target cells infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. Different cytotoxic T-cell specificities are associated with structures coded for in H-2K or H-2D. J Exp Med 141: 1427-36
- 232. Thorsby E. 2009. A short history of HLA. *Tissue Antigens* 74: 101-16
- 233. Harris MR, Yu YY, Kindle CS, Hansen TH, Solheim JC. 1998. Calreticulin and calnexin interact with different protein and glycan determinants during the assembly of MHC class I. *J Immunol* 160: 5404-9
- 234. Tanaka K. 2009. The proteasome: overview of structure and functions. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci* 85: 12-36

- 235. Murata S, Takahama Y, Kasahara M, Tanaka K. 2018. The immunoproteasome and thymoproteasome: functions, evolution and human disease. *Nat Immunol* 19: 923-31
- 236. Kisselev AF, Akopian TN, Woo KM, Goldberg AL. 1999. The sizes of peptides generated from protein by mammalian 26 and 20 S proteasomes. Implications for understanding the degradative mechanism and antigen presentation. *J Biol Chem* 274: 3363-71
- 237. Finley D. 2009. Recognition and processing of ubiquitin-protein conjugates by the proteasome. *Annu Rev Biochem* 78: 477-513
- 238. Hallermalm K, Seki K, Wei C, Castelli C, Rivoltini L, Kiessling R, Levitskaya J. 2001. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces coordinated changes in major histocompatibility class I presentation pathway, resulting in increased stability of class I complexes at the cell surface. *Blood* 98: 1108-15
- 239. de Graaf N, van Helden MJ, Textoris-Taube K, Chiba T, Topham DJ, Kloetzel PM, Zaiss DM, Sijts AJ. 2011. PA28 and the proteasome immunosubunits play a central and independent role in the production of MHC class I-binding peptides in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* 41: 926-35
- 240. Herget M, Baldauf C, Scholz C, Parcej D, Wiesmuller KH, Tampe R, Abele R, Bordignon E. 2011. Conformation of peptides bound to the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 1349-54
- 241. Garcia KC, Adams JJ, Feng D, Ely LK. 2009. The molecular basis of TCR germline bias for MHC is surprisingly simple. *Nat Immunol* 10: 143-7
- 242. Gros M, Amigorena S. 2019. Regulation of Antigen Export to the Cytosol During Cross-Presentation. *Front Immunol* 10: 41
- 243. Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, Calderon B, Schraml BU, Unanue ER, Diamond MS, Schreiber RD, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. 2008. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* 322: 1097-100
- 244. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 18: 767-811
- 245. Albert ML, Jegathesan M, Darnell RB. 2001. Dendritic cell maturation is required for the cross-tolerization of CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* 2: 1010-7
- 246. Adiko AC, Babdor J, Gutierrez-Martinez E, Guermonprez P, Saveanu L. 2015. Intracellular Transport Routes for MHC I and Their Relevance for Antigen Cross-Presentation. *Front Immunol* 6: 335
- 247. van den Elsen PJ. 2011. Expression regulation of major histocompatibility complex class I and class II encoding genes. *Front Immunol* 2: 48
- 248. Logeat F, Israel N, Ten R, Blank V, Le Bail O, Kourilsky P, Israel A. 1991. Inhibition of transcription factors belonging to the rel/NF-kappa B family by a transdominant negative mutant. *EMBO J* 10: 1827-32
- 249. Gobin SJ, Keijsers V, van Zutphen M, van den Elsen PJ. 1998. The Role of Enhancer A in the Locus-Specific Transactivation of Classical and Nonclassical HLA Class I Genes by Nuclear Factor κB. *J Immunol* 161: 2276-83
- 250. Ludigs K, Seguin-Estevez Q, Lemeille S, Ferrero I, Rota G, Chelbi S, Mattmann C, MacDonald HR, Reith W, Guarda G. 2015. NLRC5 exclusively transactivates MHC class I and related genes through a distinctive SXY module. *PLoS Genet* 11: e1005088

- 251. Meissner TB, Liu YJ, Lee KH, Li A, Biswas A, van Eggermond MC, van den Elsen PJ, Kobayashi KS. 2012. NLRC5 cooperates with the RFX transcription factor complex to induce MHC class I gene expression. *J Immunol* 188: 4951-8
- 252. Platnich JM, Muruve DA. 2019. NOD-like receptors and inflammasomes: A review of their canonical and non-canonical signaling pathways. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 670: 4-14
- 253. Gobin SJP, Peijnenburg A, Keijsers V, van den Elsen PJ. 1997. Site α Is Crucial for Two Routes of IFNγ-Induced MHC Class I Transactivation: The ISRE-Mediated Route and a Novel Pathway Involving CIITA. *Immunity* 6: 601-11
- 254. Steimle V, Siegrist CA, Mottet A, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B. 1994. Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. *Science* 265: 106-9
- 255. Klein C, Lisowska-Grospierre B, LeDeist F, Fischer A, Griscelli C. 1993. Major histocompatibility complex class II deficiency: Clinical manifestations, immunologic features, and outcome. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 123: 921-8
- 256. Reith W, Mach B. 2001. The Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome and the Regulation of Mhc Expression. *Annual Review of Immunology* 19: 331-73
- 257. Gobin SJP, Peijnenburg A, van Eggermond M, van Zutphen M, van den Berg R, van den Elsen PJ. 1998. The RFX Complex Is Crucial for the Constitutive and CIITA-Mediated Transactivation of MHC Class I and β2-Microglobulin Genes. Immunity 9: 531-41
- 258. Biswas A, Meissner TB, Kawai T, Kobayashi KS. 2012. Cutting edge: impaired MHC class I expression in mice deficient for NIrc5/class I transactivator. *J Immunol* 189: 516-20
- 259. Meissner TB, Li A, Biswas A, Lee KH, Liu YJ, Bayir E, Iliopoulos D, van den Elsen PJ, Kobayashi KS. 2010. NLR family member NLRC5 is a transcriptional regulator of MHC class I genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 13794-9
- 260. Staehli F, Ludigs K, Heinz LX, Seguin-Estevez Q, Ferrero I, Braun M, Schroder K, Rebsamen M, Tardivel A, Mattmann C, MacDonald HR, Romero P, Reith W, Guarda G, Tschopp J. 2012. NLRC5 deficiency selectively impairs MHC class I-dependent lymphocyte killing by cytotoxic T cells. *J Immunol* 188: 3820-8
- 261. Neerincx A, Castro W, Guarda G, Kufer TA. 2013. NLRC5, at the Heart of Antigen Presentation. *Frontiers in Immunology* 4
- 262. Garrido F, Cabrera T, Concha A, Glew S, Ruiz-Cabello F, Stern PL. 1993. Natural history of HLA expression during tumour development. *Immunol Today* 14: 491-9
- 263. Burr ML, Sparbier CE, Chan KL, Chan YC, Kersbergen A, Lam EYN, Azidis-Yates E, Vassiliadis D, Bell CC, Gilan O, Jackson S, Tan L, Wong SQ, Hollizeck S, Michalak EM, Siddle HV, McCabe MT, Prinjha RK, Guerra GR, Solomon BJ, Sandhu S, Dawson SJ, Beavis PA, Tothill RW, Cullinane C, Lehner PJ, Sutherland KD, Dawson MA. 2019. An Evolutionarily Conserved Function of Polycomb Silences the MHC Class I Antigen Presentation Pathway and Enables Immune Evasion in Cancer. *Cancer Cell* 36: 385-401 e8
- 264. Yoshihama S, Vijayan S, Sidiq T, Kobayashi KS. 2017. NLRC5/CITA: A Key Player in Cancer Immune Surveillance. *Trends Cancer* 3: 28-38
- 265. Yoshihama S, Roszik J, Downs I, Meissner TB, Vijayan S, Chapuy B, Sidiq T, Shipp MA, Lizee GA, Kobayashi KS. 2016. NLRC5/MHC class I transactivator is a target for immune evasion in cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 113: 5999-6004
- 266. Ling A, Lofgren-Burstrom A, Larsson P, Li X, Wikberg ML, Oberg A, Stenling R, Edin S, Palmqvist R. 2017. TAP1 down-regulation elicits immune escape and poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Oncoimmunology* 6: e1356143

- Henle AM, Nassar A, Puglisi-Knutson D, Youssef B, Knutson KL. 2017. Downregulation of TAP1 and TAP2 in early stage breast cancer. *PLoS One* 12: e0187323
- 268. Yang T, McNally BA, Ferrone S, Liu Y, Zheng P. 2003. A single-nucleotide deletion leads to rapid degradation of TAP-1 mRNA in a melanoma cell line. J Biol Chem 278: 15291-6
- 269. Grasso CS, Giannakis M, Wells DK, Hamada T, Mu XJ, Quist M, Nowak JA, Nishihara R, Qian ZR, Inamura K, Morikawa T, Nosho K, Abril-Rodriguez G, Connolly C, Escuin-Ordinas H, Geybels MS, Grady WM, Hsu L, Hu-Lieskovan S, Huyghe JR, Kim YJ, Krystofinski P, Leiserson MDM, Montoya DJ, Nadel BB, Pellegrini M, Pritchard CC, Puig-Saus C, Quist EH, Raphael BJ, Salipante SJ, Shin DS, Shinbrot E, Shirts B, Shukla S, Stanford JL, Sun W, Tsoi J, Upfill-Brown A, Wheeler DA, Wu CJ, Yu M, Zaidi SH, Zaretsky JM, Gabriel SB, Lander ES, Garraway LA, Hudson TJ, Fuchs CS, Ribas A, Ogino S, Peters U. 2018. Genetic Mechanisms of Immune Evasion in Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Discov* 8: 730-49
- 270. Jenkins RW, Barbie DA, Flaherty KT. 2018. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Br J Cancer* 118: 9-16
- 271. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, Torrejon DY, Abril-Rodriguez G, Sandoval S, Barthly L, Saco J, Homet Moreno B, Mezzadra R, Chmielowski B, Ruchalski K, Shintaku IP, Sanchez PJ, Puig-Saus C, Cherry G, Seja E, Kong X, Pang J, Berent-Maoz B, Comin-Anduix B, Graeber TG, Tumeh PC, Schumacher TN, Lo RS, Ribas A. 2016. Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. N Engl J Med 375: 819-29
- 272. Shin DS, Zaretsky JM, Escuin-Ordinas H, Garcia-Diaz A, Hu-Lieskovan S, Kalbasi A, Grasso CS, Hugo W, Sandoval S, Torrejon DY, Palaskas N, Rodriguez GA, Parisi G, Azhdam A, Chmielowski B, Cherry G, Seja E, Berent-Maoz B, Shintaku IP, Le DT, Pardoll DM, Diaz LA, Jr., Tumeh PC, Graeber TG, Lo RS, Comin-Anduix B, Ribas A. 2017. Primary Resistance to PD-1 Blockade Mediated by JAK1/2 Mutations. *Cancer Discov* 7: 188-201
- 273. Cosma GL, Eisenlohr LC. 2019. Impact of epitope density on CD8(+) T cell development and function. *Mol Immunol* 113: 120-5
- 274. Kuchtey J, Chefalo PJ, Gray RC, Ramachandra L, Harding CV. 2005. Enhancement of dendritic cell antigen cross-presentation by CpG DNA involves type I IFN and stabilization of class I MHC mRNA. *J Immunol* 175: 2244-51
- 275. Zhang Q, Green MD, Lang X, Lazarus J, Parsels JD, Wei S, Parsels LA, Shi J, Ramnath N, Wahl DR, Pasca di Magliano M, Frankel TL, Kryczek I, Lei YL, Lawrence TS, Zou W, Morgan MA. 2019. Inhibition of ATM Increases Interferon Signaling and Sensitizes Pancreatic Cancer to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy. *Cancer Res* 79: 3940-51
- Zhang S, Kohli K, Black RG, Yao L, Spadinger SM, He Q, Pillarisetty VG, Cranmer LD, Van Tine BA, Yee C, Pierce RH, Riddell SR, Jones RL, Pollack SM. 2019. Systemic Interferon-gamma Increases MHC Class I Expression and T-cell Infiltration in Cold Tumors: Results of a Phase 0 Clinical Trial. *Cancer Immunol Res* 7: 1237-43
- 277. Chapuis AG, Afanasiev OK, Iyer JG, Paulson KG, Parvathaneni U, Hwang JH, Lai I, Roberts IM, Sloan HL, Bhatia S, Shibuya KC, Gooley T, Desmarais C, Koelle DM, Yee C, Nghiem P. 2014. Regression of metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma following transfer of polyomavirus-specific T cells and therapies capable of re-inducing HLA class-I. *Cancer Immunol Res* 2: 27-36

- 278. Nathan MJ, Yin D, Eichwald EJ, Bishop DK. 2002. The immunobiology of inductive anti-CD40L therapy in transplantation: allograft acceptance is not dependent upon the deletion of graft-reactive T cells. *Am J Transplant* 2: 323-32
- 279. Pinschewer DD, Ochsenbein AF, Odermatt B, Brinkmann V, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 2000. FTY720 immunosuppression impairs effector T cell peripheral homing without affecting induction, expansion, and memory. J Immunol 164: 5761-70
- 280. Zebertavage L, Bambina S, Shugart J, Alice A, Zens KD, Lauer P, Hanson B, Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Bahjat KS. 2019. A microbial-based cancer vaccine for induction of EGFRvIII-specific CD8+ T cells and anti-tumor immunity. *PLoS One* 14: e0209153
- 281. Moran AE, Holzapfel KL, Xing Y, Cunningham NR, Maltzman JS, Punt J, Hogquist KA. 2011. T cell receptor signal strength in Treg and iNKT cell development demonstrated by a novel fluorescent reporter mouse. *J Exp Med* 208: 1279-89
- 282. Feng Z, Jensen SM, Messenheimer DJ, Farhad M, Neuberger M, Bifulco CB, Fox BA. 2016. Multispectral Imaging of T and B Cells in Murine Spleen and Tumor. *J Immunol* 196: 3943-50
- 283. Durward M, Harms J, Splitter G. 2010. Antigen specific killing assay using CFSE labeled target cells. *J Vis Exp*
- 284. Ma Y, Kepp O, Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Aymeric L, Locher C, Tesniere A, Martins I, Ly A, Haynes NM, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. 2010. Chemotherapy and radiotherapy: cryptic anticancer vaccines. *Semin Immunol* 22: 113-24
- 285. Khurana D, Martin EA, Kasperbauer JL, O'Malley BW, Jr., Salomao DR, Chen L, Strome SE. 2001. Characterization of a spontaneously arising murine squamous cell carcinoma (SCC VII) as a prerequisite for head and neck cancer immunotherapy. *Head Neck* 23: 899-906
- 286. Khattri A, Zuo Z, Bragelmann J, Keck MK, El Dinali M, Brown CD, Stricker T, Munagala A, Cohen EE, Lingen MW, White KP, Vokes EE, Seiwert TY. 2015. Rare occurrence of EGFRvIII deletion in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 51: 53-8
- Wheeler SE, Egloff AM, Wang L, James CD, Hammerman PS, Grandis JR. 2015. Challenges in EGFRvIII detection in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 10: e0117781
- 288. Corbett TH, Roberts BJ, Leopold WR, Peckham JC, Wilkoff LJ, Griswold DP, Jr., Schabel FM, Jr. 1984. Induction and chemotherapeutic response of two transplantable ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas in C57BL/6 mice. *Cancer Res* 44: 717-26
- 289. Yu Z, Restifo NP. 2002. Cancer vaccines: progress reveals new complexities. *J Clin Invest* 110: 289-94
- 290. Ricupito A, Grioni M, Calcinotto A, Bellone M. 2013. Boosting anticancer vaccines: Too much of a good thing? *Oncoimmunology* 2: e25032
- 291. Berinstein NL. 2007. Enhancing cancer vaccines with immunomodulators. *Vaccine* 25 Suppl 2: B72-88
- 292. Klebanoff CA, Acquavella N, Yu Z, Restifo NP. 2011. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: are we there yet? *Immunol Rev* 239: 27-44
- 293. Lawman MJP, Lawman PD. 2014. *Cancer Vaccines*. Hatfield, Hertfordshire, UK: Springer
- 294. Schaue D, Kachikwu EL, McBride WH. 2012. Cytokines in radiobiological responses: a review. *Radiat Res* 178: 505-23

- 295. North RJ, Bursuker I. 1984. Generation and decay of the immune response to a progressive fibrosarcoma. I. Ly-1+2- suppressor T cells down-regulate the generation of Ly-1-2+ effector T cells. *J Exp Med* 159: 1295-311
- 296. Bursuker I, North RJ. 1984. Generation and decay of the immune response to a progressive fibrosarcoma. II. Failure to demonstrate postexcision immunity after the onset of T cell-mediated suppression of immunity. *J Exp Med* 159: 1312-21
- 297. Zheng W, Skowron KB, Namm JP, Burnette B, Fernandez C, Arina A, Liang H, Spiotto MT, Posner MC, Fu YX, Weichselbaum RR. 2016. Combination of radiotherapy and vaccination overcomes checkpoint blockade resistance. *Oncotarget* 7: 43039-51
- 298. Garnett CT, Palena C, Chakraborty M, Tsang KY, Schlom J, Hodge JW. 2004. Sublethal irradiation of human tumor cells modulates phenotype resulting in enhanced killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Cancer Res* 64: 7985-94
- 299. Tian T, Li X, Zhang J. 2019. mTOR Signaling in Cancer and mTOR Inhibitors in Solid Tumor Targeting Therapy. *Int J Mol Sci* 20
- 300. Hua H, Kong Q, Zhang H, Wang J, Luo T, Jiang Y. 2019. Targeting mTOR for cancer therapy. *J Hematol Oncol* 12: 71
- 301. Pollizzi KN, Powell JD. 2015. Regulation of T cells by mTOR: the known knowns and the known unknowns. *Trends Immunol* 36: 13-20
- 302. Mizuno R, Sugiura D, Shimizu K, Maruhashi T, Watada M, Okazaki IM, Okazaki T. 2019. PD-1 Primarily Targets TCR Signal in the Inhibition of Functional T Cell Activation. *Front Immunol* 10: 630
- Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Coleman CN, Camphausen K, Schlom J, Hodge JW.
 2004. External beam radiation of tumors alters phenotype of tumor cells to render them susceptible to vaccine-mediated T-cell killing. *Cancer Res* 64: 4328-37
- 304. Xia T, Konno H, Ahn J, Barber GN. 2016. Deregulation of STING Signaling in Colorectal Carcinoma Constrains DNA Damage Responses and Correlates With Tumorigenesis. *Cell Rep* 14: 282-97
- 305. Baird JR, Feng Z, Xiao HD, Friedman D, Cottam B, Fox BA, Kramer G, Leidner RS, Bell RB, Young KH, Crittenden MR, Gough MJ. 2017. STING expression and response to treatment with STING ligands in premalignant and malignant disease. *PLoS One* 12: e0187532
- 306. Falahat R, Perez-Villarroel P, Mailloux AW, Zhu G, Pilon-Thomas S, Barber GN, Mule JJ. 2019. STING Signaling in Melanoma Cells Shapes Antigenicity and Can Promote Antitumor T-cell Activity. *Cancer Immunol Res* 7: 1837-48
- 307. Neerincx A, Rodriguez GM, Steimle V, Kufer TA. 2012. NLRC5 controls basal MHC class I gene expression in an MHC enhanceosome-dependent manner. J Immunol 188: 4940-50
- 308. Garrido F, Aptsiauri N, Doorduijn EM, Garcia Lora AM, van Hall T. 2016. The urgent need to recover MHC class I in cancers for effective immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* 39: 44-51
- 309. Garrido F, Cabrera T, Aptsiauri N. 2010. "Hard" and "soft" lesions underlying the HLA class I alterations in cancer cells: implications for immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer* 127: 249-56
- 310. Vertuani S, Triulzi C, Roos AK, Charo J, Norell H, Lemonnier F, Pisa P, Seliger B, Kiessling R. 2009. HER-2/neu mediated down-regulation of MHC class I antigen processing prevents CTL-mediated tumor recognition upon DNA vaccination in HLA-A2 transgenic mice. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 58: 653-64
- 311. Watson NF, Ramage JM, Madjd Z, Spendlove I, Ellis IO, Scholefield JH, Durrant LG. 2006. Immunosurveillance is active in colorectal cancer as downregulation

but not complete loss of MHC class I expression correlates with a poor prognosis. *Int J Cancer* 118: 6-10

- 312. So T, Takenoyama M, Mizukami M, Ichiki Y, Sugaya M, Hanagiri T, Sugio K, Yasumoto K. 2005. Haplotype loss of HLA class I antigen as an escape mechanism from immune attack in lung cancer. *Cancer Res* 65: 5945-52
- 313. Rodig SJ, Gusenleitner D, Jackson DG, Gjini E, Giobbie-Hurder A, Jin C, Chang H, Lovitch SB, Horak C, Weber JS, Weirather JL, Wolchok JD, Postow MA, Pavlick AC, Chesney J, Hodi FS. 2018. MHC proteins confer differential sensitivity to CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade in untreated metastatic melanoma. *Sci Transl Med* 10
- 314. Valitutti S, Muller S, Dessing M, Lanzavecchia A. 1996. Different responses are elicited in cytotoxic T lymphocytes by different levels of T cell receptor occupancy. *J Exp Med* 183: 1917-21
- 315. Anikeeva N, Gakamsky D, Scholler J, Sykulev Y. 2012. Evidence that the density of self peptide-MHC ligands regulates T-cell receptor signaling. *PLoS One* 7: e41466
- 316. Curtsinger JM, Lins DC, Mescher MF. 1998. CD8+ memory T cells (CD44high, Ly-6C+) are more sensitive than naive cells to (CD44low, Ly-6C-) to TCR/CD8 signaling in response to antigen. *J Immunol* 160: 3236-43
- 317. Sykulev Y, Joo M, Vturina I, Tsomides TJ, Eisen HN. 1996. Evidence that a Single Peptide–MHC Complex on a Target Cell Can Elicit a Cytolytic T Cell Response. *Immunity* 4: 565-71
- 318. Dustin ML. 2008. T-cell activation through immunological synapses and kinapses. *Immunol Rev* 221: 77-89
- 319. Halle S, Keyser KA, Stahl FR, Busche A, Marquardt A, Zheng X, Galla M, Heissmeyer V, Heller K, Boelter J, Wagner K, Bischoff Y, Martens R, Braun A, Werth K, Uvarovskii A, Kempf H, Meyer-Hermann M, Arens R, Kremer M, Sutter G, Messerle M, Forster R. 2016. In Vivo Killing Capacity of Cytotoxic T Cells Is Limited and Involves Dynamic Interactions and T Cell Cooperativity. *Immunity* 44: 233-45
- 320. Balyan R, Gund R, Ebenezer C, Khalsa JK, Verghese DA, Krishnamurthy T, George A, Bal V, Rath S, Chaudhry A. 2017. Modulation of Naive CD8 T Cell Response Features by Ligand Density, Affinity, and Continued Signaling via Internalized TCRs. J Immunol 198: 1823-37
- 321. Betts MR, Price DA, Brenchley JM, Lore K, Guenaga FJ, Smed-Sorensen A, Ambrozak DR, Migueles SA, Connors M, Roederer M, Douek DC, Koup RA. 2004. The functional profile of primary human antiviral CD8+ T cell effector activity is dictated by cognate peptide concentration. *J Immunol* 172: 6407-17
- 322. Harding SM, Boiarsky JA, Greenberg RA. 2015. ATM Dependent Silencing Links Nucleolar Chromatin Reorganization to DNA Damage Recognition. *Cell Rep* 13: 251-9
- 323. Chaudhry MA. 2008. Analysis of gene expression in normal and cancer cells exposed to gamma-radiation. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2008: 541678
- 324. Vendetti FP, Karukonda P, Clump DA, Teo T, Lalonde R, Nugent K, Ballew M, Kiesel BF, Beumer JH, Sarkar SN, Conrads TP, O'Connor MJ, Ferris RL, Tran PT, Delgoffe GM, Bakkenist CJ. 2018. ATR kinase inhibitor AZD6738 potentiates CD8+ T cell-dependent antitumor activity following radiation. J Clin Invest 128: 3926-40
- 325. Dillon MT, Bergerhoff KF, Pedersen M, Whittock H, Crespo-Rodriguez E, Patin EC, Pearson A, Smith HG, Paget JTE, Patel RR, Foo S, Bozhanova G, Ragulan C, Fontana E, Desai K, Wilkins AC, Sadanandam A, Melcher A, McLaughlin M,

Harrington KJ. 2019. ATR Inhibition Potentiates the Radiation-induced Inflammatory Tumor Microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* 25: 3392-403

- 326. Pantelidou C, Sonzogni O, De Oliveria Taveira M, Mehta AK, Kothari A, Wang D, Visal T, Li MK, Pinto J, Castrillon JA, Cheney EM, Bouwman P, Jonkers J, Rottenberg S, Guerriero JL, Wulf GM, Shapiro GI. 2019. PARP Inhibitor Efficacy Depends on CD8(+) T-cell Recruitment via Intratumoral STING Pathway Activation in BRCA-Deficient Models of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cancer Discov 9: 722-37
- 327. de Haan R, van Werkhoven E, van den Heuvel MM, Peulen HMU, Sonke GS, Elkhuizen P, van den Brekel MWM, Tesselaar MET, Vens C, Schellens JHM, van Triest B, Verheij M. 2019. Study protocols of three parallel phase 1 trials combining radical radiotherapy with the PARP inhibitor olaparib. *BMC Cancer* 19: 901
- 328. Sizemore ST, Mohammad R, Sizemore GM, Nowsheen S, Yu H, Ostrowski MC, Chakravarti A, Xia F. 2018. Synthetic Lethality of PARP Inhibition and Ionizing Radiation is p53-dependent. *Mol Cancer Res* 16: 1092-102
- 329. Sato H, Niimi A, Yasuhara T, Permata TBM, Hagiwara Y, Isono M, Nuryadi E, Sekine R, Oike T, Kakoti S, Yoshimoto Y, Held KD, Suzuki Y, Kono K, Miyagawa K, Nakano T, Shibata A. 2017. DNA double-strand break repair pathway regulates PD-L1 expression in cancer cells. *Nat Commun* 8: 1751
- 330. Mouw KW, Konstantinopoulos PA. 2018. From checkpoint to checkpoint: DNA damage ATR/Chk1 checkpoint signalling elicits PD-L1 immune checkpoint activation. *Br J Cancer* 118: 933-5
- 331. Sun LL, Yang RY, Li CW, Chen MK, Shao B, Hsu JM, Chan LC, Yang Y, Hsu JL, Lai YJ, Hung MC. 2018. Inhibition of ATR downregulates PD-L1 and sensitizes tumor cells to T cell-mediated killing. *Am J Cancer Res* 8: 1307-16
- 332. Ikeda S, Okamoto T, Okano S, Umemoto Y, Tagawa T, Morodomi Y, Kohno M, Shimamatsu S, Kitahara H, Suzuki Y, Fujishita T, Maehara Y. 2016. PD-L1 Is Upregulated by Simultaneous Amplification of the PD-L1 and JAK2 Genes in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 11: 62-71
- 333. Green MR, Monti S, Rodig SJ, Juszczynski P, Currie T, O'Donnell E, Chapuy B, Takeyama K, Neuberg D, Golub TR, Kutok JL, Shipp MA. 2010. Integrative analysis reveals selective 9p24.1 amplification, increased PD-1 ligand expression, and further induction via JAK2 in nodular sclerosing Hodgkin lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 116: 3268-77
- 334. Budczies J, Bockmayr M, Denkert C, Klauschen F, Groschel S, Darb-Esfahani S, Pfarr N, Leichsenring J, Onozato ML, Lennerz JK, Dietel M, Frohling S, Schirmacher P, Iafrate AJ, Weichert W, Stenzinger A. 2016. Pan-cancer analysis of copy number changes in programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1, CD274) associations with gene expression, mutational load, and survival. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 55: 626-39
- 335. Zerdes I, Matikas A, Bergh J, Rassidakis GZ, Foukakis T. 2018. Genetic, transcriptional and post-translational regulation of the programmed death protein ligand 1 in cancer: biology and clinical correlations. *Oncogene* 37: 4639-61
- 336. Prestipino A, Zeiser R. 2019. Clinical implications of tumor-intrinsic mechanisms regulating PD-L1. *Sci Transl Med* 11
- 337. Shen X, Zhang L, Li J, Li Y, Wang Y, Xu ZX. 2019. Recent Findings in the Regulation of Programmed Death Ligand 1 Expression. *Front Immunol* 10: 1337
- 338. Roux C, Jafari SM, Shinde R, Duncan G, Cescon DW, Silvester J, Chu MF, Hodgson K, Berger T, Wakeham A, Palomero L, Garcia-Valero M, Pujana MA, Mak TW, McGaha TL, Cappello P, Gorrini C. 2019. Reactive oxygen species

modulate macrophage immunosuppressive phenotype through the up-regulation of PD-L1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 116: 4326-35

- 339. Wang W, Chapman NM, Zhang B, Li M, Fan M, Laribee RN, Zaidi MR, Pfeffer LM, Chi H, Wu ZH. 2019. Upregulation of PD-L1 via HMGB1-Activated IRF3 and NF-kappaB Contributes to UV Radiation-Induced Immune Suppression. *Cancer Res* 79: 2909-22
- 340. Permata TBM, Hagiwara Y, Sato H, Yasuhara T, Oike T, Gondhowiardjo S, Held KD, Nakano T, Shibata A. 2019. Base excision repair regulates PD-L1 expression in cancer cells. *Oncogene* 38: 4452-66
- 341. Sen T, Rodriguez BL, Chen L, Corte CMD, Morikawa N, Fujimoto J, Cristea S, Nguyen T, Diao L, Li L, Fan Y, Yang Y, Wang J, Glisson BS, Wistuba, II, Sage J, Heymach JV, Gibbons DL, Byers LA. 2019. Targeting DNA Damage Response Promotes Antitumor Immunity through STING-Mediated T-cell Activation in Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Discov* 9: 646-61
- 342. Bakhoum SF, Ngo B, Laughney AM, Cavallo JA, Murphy CJ, Ly P, Shah P, Sriram RK, Watkins TBK, Taunk NK, Duran M, Pauli C, Shaw C, Chadalavada K, Rajasekhar VK, Genovese G, Venkatesan S, Birkbak NJ, McGranahan N, Lundquist M, LaPlant Q, Healey JH, Elemento O, Chung CH, Lee NY, Imielenski M, Nanjangud G, Pe'er D, Cleveland DW, Powell SN, Lammerding J, Swanton C, Cantley LC. 2018. Chromosomal instability drives metastasis through a cytosolic DNA response. *Nature* 553: 467-72
- 343. Bakhoum SF, Cantley LC. 2018. The Multifaceted Role of Chromosomal Instability in Cancer and Its Microenvironment. *Cell* 174: 1347-60
- 344. Zhong G, Peng C, Chen Y, Li J, Yang R, Wu M, Lu P. 2018. Expression of STING and PD-L1 in colorectal cancer and their correlation with clinical prognosis. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* 11: 1256-64
- Xia T, Konno H, Barber GN. 2016. Recurrent Loss of STING Signaling in Melanoma Correlates with Susceptibility to Viral Oncolysis. *Cancer Res* 76: 6747-59
- 346. Chen CF, Ruiz-Vega R, Vasudeva P, Espitia F, Krasieva TB, de Feraudy S, Tromberg BJ, Huang S, Garner CP, Wu J, Hoon DS, Ganesan AK. 2017. ATR Mutations Promote the Growth of Melanoma Tumors by Modulating the Immune Microenvironment. *Cell Rep* 18: 2331-42
- 347. Vassileva V, Millar A, Briollais L, Chapman W, Bapat B. 2002. Genes involved in DNA repair are mutational targets in endometrial cancers with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res* 62: 4095-9
- 348. Menoyo A, Alazzouzi H, Espin E, Armengol M, Yamamoto H, Schwartz S, Jr. 2001. Somatic mutations in the DNA damage-response genes ATR and CHK1 in sporadic stomach tumors with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res* 61: 7727-30
- 349. Armstrong SA, Schultz CW, Azimi-Sadjadi A, Brody JR, Pishvaian MJ. 2019. ATM Dysfunction in Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma and Associated Therapeutic Implications. *Mol Cancer Ther* 18: 1899-908
- 350. Drosos Y, Escobar D, Chiang MY, Roys K, Valentine V, Valentine MB, Rehg JE, Sahai V, Begley LA, Ye J, Paul L, McKinnon PJ, Sosa-Pineda B. 2017. ATMdeficiency increases genomic instability and metastatic potential in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Sci Rep* 7: 11144
- 351. O'Driscoll M. 2009. Mouse models for ATR deficiency. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 8: 1333-7
- 352. van den Berg J, A GM, Kielbassa K, Feringa FM, Freire R, Medema RH. 2018. A limited number of double-strand DNA breaks is sufficient to delay cell cycle progression. *Nucleic Acids Res* 46: 10132-44

- 353. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, Vitale I, Goubar A, Baracco EE, Remedios C, Fend L, Hannani D, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Niso-Santano M, Kepp O, Schultze JL, Tuting T, Belardelli F, Bracci L, La Sorsa V, Ziccheddu G, Sestili P, Urbani F, Delorenzi M, Lacroix-Triki M, Quidville V, Conforti R, Spano JP, Pusztai L, Poirier-Colame V, Delaloge S, Penault-Llorca F, Ladoire S, Arnould L, Cyrta J, Dessoliers MC, Eggermont A, Bianchi ME, Pittet M, Engblom C, Pfirschke C, Preville X, Uze G, Schreiber RD, Chow MT, Smyth MJ, Proietti E, Andre F, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. 2014. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* 20: 1301-9
- 354. Duffy AG, Greten TF. 2014. Immunological off-target effects of standard treatments in gastrointestinal cancers. *Ann Oncol* 25: 24-32
- 355. Lim JY, Brockstedt DG, Lord EM, Gerber SA. 2014. Radiation therapy combined with Listeria monocytogenes-based cancer vaccine synergize to enhance tumor control in the B16 melanoma model. *Oncoimmunology* 3: e29028
- 356. Jackson CM, Kochel CM, Nirschl CJ, Durham NM, Ruzevick J, Alme A, Francica BJ, Elias J, Daniels A, Dubensky TW, Jr., Lauer P, Brockstedt DG, Baxi EG, Calabresi PA, Taube JM, Pardo CA, Brem H, Pardoll DM, Lim M, Drake CG. 2016. Systemic Tolerance Mediated by Melanoma Brain Tumors Is Reversible by Radiotherapy and Vaccination. *Clin Cancer Res* 22: 1161-72
- 357. Hannan R, Zhang H, Wallecha A, Singh R, Liu L, Cohen P, Alfieri A, Rothman J, Guha C. 2012. Combined immunotherapy with Listeria monocytogenes-based PSA vaccine and radiation therapy leads to a therapeutic response in a murine model of prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 61: 2227-38
- 358. Bonaventura P, Shekarian T, Alcazer V, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Amigorena S, Caux C, Depil S. 2019. Cold Tumors: A Therapeutic Challenge for Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* 10: 168
- 359. Ganss R, Ryschich E, Klar E, Arnold B, Hammerling GJ. 2002. Combination of Tcell therapy and trigger of inflammation induces remodeling of the vasculature and tumor eradication. *Cancer Res* 62: 1462-70
- 360. Kachikwu EL, Iwamoto KS, Liao YP, DeMarco JJ, Agazaryan N, Economou JS, McBride WH, Schaue D. 2011. Radiation enhances regulatory T cell representation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 81: 1128-35
- 361. Vijayan S, Sidiq T, Yousuf S, van den Elsen PJ, Kobayashi KS. 2019. Class I transactivator, NLRC5: a central player in the MHC class I pathway and cancer immune surveillance. *Immunogenetics* 71: 273-82
- 362. Rodriguez GM, Bobbala D, Serrano D, Mayhue M, Champagne A, Saucier C, Steimle V, Kufer TA, Menendez A, Ramanathan S, Ilangumaran S. 2016. NLRC5 elicits antitumor immunity by enhancing processing and presentation of tumor antigens to CD8(+) T lymphocytes. *Oncoimmunology* 5: e1151593
- 363. Torphy RJ, Zhu Y, Schulick RD. 2018. Immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer: Barriers and breakthroughs. *Ann Gastroenterol Surg* 2: 274-81
- 364. Neesse A, Algul H, Tuveson DA, Gress TM. 2015. Stromal biology and therapy in pancreatic cancer: a changing paradigm. *Gut* 64: 1476-84
- 365. Pothula SP, Pirola RC, Wilson JS, Apte MV. 2020. Pancreatic stellate cells: Aiding and abetting pancreatic cancer progression. *Pancreatology* 20: 409-18
- 366. Skinner HD, Giri U, Yang LP, Kumar M, Liu Y, Story MD, Pickering CR, Byers LA, Williams MD, Wang J, Shen L, Yoo SY, Fan YH, Molkentine DP, Beadle BM, Meyn RE, Myers JN, Heymach JV. 2017. Integrative Analysis Identifies a Novel AXL-PI3 Kinase-PD-L1 Signaling Axis Associated with Radiation Resistance in Head and Neck Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 23: 2713-22

- 367. Stewart CC, Perez CA. 1976. Effect of irradiation on immune responses. *Radiology* 118: 201-10
- 368. Hale LP, Rajam G, Carlone GM, Jiang C, Owzar K, Dugan G, Caudell D, Chao N, Cline JM, Register TC, Sempowski GD. 2019. Late effects of total body irradiation on hematopoietic recovery and immune function in rhesus macaques. *PLoS One* 14: e0210663
- 369. Gough MJ, Young K, Crittenden M. 2013. The impact of the myeloid response to radiation therapy. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2013: 281958
- 370. Kurahara H, Shinchi H, Mataki Y, Maemura K, Noma H, Kubo F, Sakoda M, Ueno S, Natsugoe S, Takao S. 2011. Significance of M2-polarized tumorassociated macrophage in pancreatic cancer. *J Surg Res* 167: e211-9
- 371. Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, Sun Y, Jacobsen A, Sinha R, Larsson E, Cerami E, Sander C, Schultz N. 2013. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal* 6: pl1
- 372. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, Jacobsen A, Byrne CJ, Heuer ML, Larsson E, Antipin Y, Reva B, Goldberg AP, Sander C, Schultz N. 2012. The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discov* 2: 401-4